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Mission
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Killam Apartment Real Estate Investment Trust (“Killam”, or
“Killam Apartment REIT”) is a growth-oriented investment
trust owning, operating, and developing apartments and
manufactured home communities (“MHCs”). Killam owns a
$2.3 billion real estate portfolio, located in Atlantic Canada,
Ontario, and Alberta.

To have caring staff deliver clean, safe, quality housing to
tenants who are proud to call our properties home.

Emily Anne &
Family
Calling Killam
Home Since
2016

2

K I L L A M A PA R T M E N T R E I T | 2 0 1 7

Killam’s strategy to maximize value and long‐term
profitability is focused on three priorities:
• Increasing the earnings from its existing portfolio;
• Expanding the portfolio and diversifying
geographically through accretive acquisitions, with
an emphasis on newer properties; and
• Developing high‐quality properties in its core markets.

Home. For all.
Killam launched its Home. For all. advertising
campaign in October 2017. This program provides
a window into the lives of Killam’s residents,
demonstrating just how much “home” matters to the
diverse group of people who live in Killam’s properties.
This campaign features several residents – young
loves and vintage loves, supermoms and superheroes,
teenagers and couples who have been together since
their teens, showcasing the rich diversity of Killam’s
communities.

2017
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Debt to Total Assets

48.7%
Tenant Satisfaction
Survey Results

90%
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Letter to Unitholders
Dear Unitholders,
I am pleased to report that 2017 was a very successful year
for Killam. We executed on our three strategic priorities
for growth and generated FFO of $0.90 per unit, up 4.7%
from 2016. Our units delivered a total return of 24% over
the past year, and Killam achieved a significant milestone
when we were added to the S&P/TSX Composite Index
in December 2017. This achievement will expand our
investor base and increase liquidity for all unitholders.
With our strong results and expectations of continued
growth, our Board of Trustees approved a 3.2% increase to
Killam’s distribution in February 2018.

Candice & Jake
Calling Killam
Home Since
2016
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Our portfolio performed very well in 2017, achieving its
highest occupancy level in the past five years and rental
rate increases in all of our major markets. Results were
particularly strong in the three Maritime provinces. Overall,
same property revenues increased 2.6%, leading to a
3.6% increase in same property net operating income.
These results reflect the commitment and dedication of
our employees, who work diligently every day to provide
Killam tenants with exceptional service and ensure that all
of our properties look their best.

Killam’s balance sheet improved significantly in 2017. We
raised $77 million of equity in March and used $46 million
of the proceeds to redeem our last tranche of convertible
debentures. In late November, we issued a further $77
million of equity to fund acquisitions and developments.
With these transactions, we reduced debt as a percentage
of total assets to 48.7%, 480 basis points lower than on
December 31, 2016. We also expanded our acquisition line
of credit from $30 million to $70 million. This larger credit
facility enhances our ability to react quickly to investment
opportunities.

Killam invested $200
million in acquisitions in
the past year, making
2017 the most active
year of acquisitions
since 2005.

Killam invested $200 million in acquisitions in the past
year, making 2017 the most active year of acquisitions
since 2005. Approximately 75% of the properties
purchased were in Ontario and Alberta, aligned with our
focus on geographic diversification. Ontario acquisitions
included the final two buildings in a five-building, 739unit complex in Ottawa, and 106 units adjacent to existing
Killam properties in London. In Alberta, we purchased our
first properties in Edmonton, with the acquisition of 296
units in Sherwood Park, and added 66 units in Calgary. We
also added to our market-leading presence in Halifax with
the purchase of 245 units.
Killam generated 23% of its NOI outside Atlantic Canada
in 2017 and more than one-quarter of 2018 NOI is forecast
to come from Ontario and Alberta. We are on our way
to achieving our target of generating 30% of earnings
outside Atlantic Canada by 2020. Our strong operating
platform can support a larger portfolio and expanding in
Ontario and Alberta gives us access to more of Canada’s
largest rental markets.
I am very excited about our development program. What
sets us apart from many other developers is our desire to
embrace new technologies and environmentally friendly
features. I believe the future of the multi-family real
estate business is to build new buildings with geothermal
heating, solar photovoltaic panels with battery storage
capacity, and individually metered water. Killam has three
development projects underway with a total budget of
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2017 Performance Summary
2017 Target

2017
Performance

2018 Target

Longer-term
Target

Growth in Same
Property NOI

Same property NOI Target exceeded.
growth of 1% to 3%. Same property NOI
grew by 3.6%.

Expanded
Portfolio
through
Accretive
Acquisitions

A minimum of
$75 million of
acquisitions.

Target exceeded.
Killam completed
$200 million of
acquisitions.

A minimum of
$125 million of
acquisitions.

Grow the portfolio
to more than $2.8
billion by 2020.

Geographic
Diversification

At least 75% of
acquisitions made
outside Atlantic
Canada and to have
over 23% of 2017
NOI earned outside
Atlantic Canada.

Target achieved.
75% of capital
invested in
properties outside
Atlantic Canada.
23% of NOI
generated by
properties in Alberta
and Ontario.

At least 75% of
acquisitions made
outside Atlantic
Canada and at
least 26% of NOI
generated outside
Atlantic Canada.

More than 30%
of NOI generated
outside Atlantic
Canada by 2020.

Development
of High-Quality
Properties

Remain on schedule
to complete the
240-unit Alexander
development by
Q1-2018 and the
93-unit Saginaw
development by
Q2-2018.

Target partially
achieved.
The Saginaw
development
remains on schedule
and The Alexander
development has
been delayed 3-6
months.

Complete the
Alexander
and Saginaw
developments,
and break ground
on one additional
development
project.

Create a minimum
of $20 million
of value from
developments
through 2020.

Strengthened
Balance Sheet

Further reduce debt Target achieved.
Maintain debt as a
Reduce debt as a
as a percentage of
percentage
of
assets
percentage of assets
Debt as a
total assets.
ratio
below
52%.
to below 50%.
percentage of total
assets was 48.7% at
December 31, 2017,
compared to 53.5%
at December 31,
2016.
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Same Property NOI Same Property NOI
growth of 1% to 2%. growth averaging
more than 2%.

We enter 2018 with
significant momentum
and are well positioned
for growth. I am optimistic
and excited for the
year ahead.
$135 million: Saginaw Park in Cambridge, The Alexander
in Halifax and Frontier in Ottawa. We are on track to
complete the $26 million Saginaw Park and the $77
million Alexander in 2018. Last April, Killam partnered with
RioCan REIT to develop a four-phase, 840-unit project in
Ottawa. The first building, Frontier, is well underway and
is scheduled for occupancy by mid-2019. Construction of
the second building is planned for next year. Killam has an
experienced development team that oversees all of our
projects and is creating value for unitholders.
In October, we launched the Home. For all. marketing
campaign. Our properties are home to more than 30,000
residents and we are pleased to share images from
the marketing campaign throughout this year’s annual
report. We contribute positively to society by satisfying
the basic need of shelter, and by doing so with care. We
also promote, encourage, and organize events for our
residents. This is an example of our core value, Build
Community.

We enter 2018 with significant momentum and are
well positioned for growth. I am optimistic and excited
for the year ahead. Earnings from our existing portfolio
are expected to increase as our leasing and property
management teams build on 2017’s solid foundation.
Economic fundamentals are strong in Atlantic Canada
and the Federal Government’s recent announcement of
the Ocean Supercluster funding program will increase
investment in the region over time. The Ontario markets
show no signs of slowing down and conditions are
starting to stabilize in Alberta.
Thank you for your interest and investment in Killam.
I invite you to attend Killam’s annual meeting of
unitholders on May 10, 2018 at 9:00 AM Atlantic Time at
the Halifax Marriott Harbourfont Hotel, either in person or
via webcast. I look forward to providing updates on our
2018 progress over the coming months.
Yours truly,

Philip Fraser
President & CEO
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Financial & Operating
Highlights
Value of Investment
$2.28
Properties
($ billions)
$1.73

$1.84

$1.94

$0.86

14

15

16

17

13

14

$0.58
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Debt as a % of
Total Assets

$0.60 $0.60 $0.60

$0.62
55.8% 56.4%
53.9%
53.5%
48.7%

106%
91%

15

Distributions
per Unit

123% 124%

$0.71 $0.72

Brian & Thelma
Calling Killam
Home Since
2011
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$0.90

$0.79

$1.48

13

AFFO Payout Ratio (2)

FFO per Unit (1)
(diluted)

16

17

13

14

15

16

86%

17

13

14

15

16

17

13

14

15

16

17

Financial & Operating
Highlights
(Value in thousands, except per unit amount and portfolio information)

2017

2016

2015

Property revenue

$187,377

$175,269

$166,614

Net operating income

$115,220

$105,424

$98,390

Net income

$104,760

$71,439

$35,800

$69,873

$58,886

$49,016

$0.90

$0.86

$0.79

$55,982

$44,746

$36,257

AFFO per unit/share (diluted)

$0.72

$0.66

$0.57

Distributions declared per unit/share

$0.62

$0.60

$0.60

86%

91%

106%

Total assets

$2,311,210

$1,987,929

$1,876,276

Total liabilities

$1,343,488

$1,237,463

$1,190,948

$967,722

$750,466

$685,328

Units/shares outstanding (3)

84,428

71,736

62,863

Total debt as a percent of total assets

48.7%

53.5%

56.4%

3.13

2.70

2.34

10.70

11.00

11.87

14,983

14,105

13,681

5,165

5,165

5,165

$1,018

$973

$951

$248

$242

$236

As at and for the years ended
Operations

Funds from operations (FFO) (1)
FFO per unit/share (diluted)
Adjusted funds from operations (AFFO) (2)

AFFO payout ratio
Financial Position

Total equity

Interest coverage ratio
Debt to EBITDA
Portfolio Information

Apartment units
MHC sites
Average rent per apartment unit
Average rent per MHC site

(1) FFO, and applicable per unit amounts, are calculated by Killam as net income adjusted for depreciation
on an owner-occupied building, fair value gains (losses), interest expense related to exchangeable units,
gains (losses) on disposition, deferred tax expense (recovery), unrealized gains (losses) on derivative
liability, REIT conversion costs and non-controlling interest. A reconciliation between net income and FFO
is included on page 48 of this annual report.
(2) AFFO, and applicable per unit amounts and payout ratios, are calculated by Killam as FFO less $900 per
apartment unit (2013 to 2016–$970) and $300 per MHC site (2013 to 2016–$225) for maintenance capital
costs. A reconciliation from FFO to AFFO is included on page 50 of this annual report.
(3) Killam converted to a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) effective January 1, 2016. Units outstanding at
December 31, 2017, include 80,565,279 REIT Units and 3,863,336 Exchangeable Units (December 31, 2016
– 67,869,802 REIT Units and 3,865,836 Exchangeable Units). Shares outstanding at December 31, 2015 are
common shares.
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Growth Strategy
Existing Portfolio
Increasing earnings from
Killam’s existing portfolio is
central to unitholder value
creation. NOI growth comes from

operating costs. Killam focuses on customer service,
leasing and marketing, employee training, and
operating efficiencies to maximize performance.
Killam’s same property portfolio, representing
properties owned for more than two years, achieved

three factors: occupancy, rental rates, and

3.6% growth in net operating income in 2017.

Adel & Family
Calling Killam
Home Since
2012

Apartment
Occupancy

Operating
Margin

Same Property
Revenue Growth

Same Property
NOI Growth

2016: 95.8%

2016: 60.1%

2016: 1.8%

2016: 4.0%

96.3% 61.5%
10
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2.6% 3.6%

Same Property
Apartment Occupancy
96.5%

Same Property
Apartment Occupancy

15

16

2.6%

1.8%

95.1%

13

14

15

16

17

13

15

1.8%

17

17

4.2%

2.6%

4.0%

2.2%

95.9%
5.5%

16

Same Property
Same Property
Revenue Growth NOI Growth

96.5%

16

14

13

14

3.6%

1.8%

1.7%

15

16

17

13

14

(0.4%)
(0.9%)

15

4.0%

3

1.8%

Killam’s same property apartment
portfolio achieved 96.5% occupancy
for 2017, the highest level in five years.
13 particularly
14 15 16 17
Performance was
strong in 13
the Maritimes due to immigration and (0.4%)
demographics.

14

(0.9%)

Same Property
Revenue Growth
4.2%

3.6%

1.8%

1.7%

4.2%

4.0%

2.2%

95.9%
95.5%

95.6%

17

1.7%

Same Property
Same Property
Revenue Growth NOI Growth

96.5%

Property
ment Occupancy

15

14

2.6%

1.8%

95.1%

13

Same Property
Apartment
Occupancy
2.2%

95.9%
95.5%

95.6%

Same Property
Same Prope
Revenue Growth NOI Growth

16

17

Same property revenue increased 2.6%
compared to 2016, as a result of higher
occupancy and a 1.8% increase in the
average rental rate for the apartment
portfolio,
as well
as 3.1%
top-line growth
13 14
15 16
17
within the MHC portfolio. Over the past
five (0.4%)
years, total same property revenues
(0.9%) by an average of 2% per year.
have grown

Same Property
NOI Growth
Same property NOI was 3.6% ahead of
2016 as revenue growth and energy
savings more than offset operating
expense and property tax pressures. NOI
growth has averaged almost 4% per year
since 2015. Results from 2013 and 2014
were negatively impacted by unusually
cold weather and supply constraints
that caused natural gas prices to spike in
Atlantic Canada.
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16
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Growth Strategy
Acquisitions

Killam is expanding its portfolio
through accretive acquisitions,

with an emphasis on geographic diversification
and newer properties. Killam is acquiring welllocated buildings in urban markets, increasing its
presence in Ontario and Alberta, and adding to its
established portfolio in Atlantic Canada. Killam’s
strong operating platform can support a larger

and more geographically diverse portfolio.
Increased investment outside Atlantic Canada
will also enhance Killam’s exposure to urban
centres with higher expected population
growth. By acquiring newer properties
Killam improves the quality of its portfolio
and reduces maintenance and capital
requirements.

Mavis & Family
Calling Killam
Home Since
2011

Percentage of Apartment
NOI Earned from Properties
Built in 2000 or Later

NOI Generated Outside
Atlantic Canada

2016: 37%

2016: 21%

43%

12
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Acquisitions Completed
in 2017

23% $200M
2016: $72 million

William’s Court

Killam acquired a 50% interest in the final two buildings of the William’s Court complex in March 2017. Killam now
co-owns and manages this five-building complex, one of the most luxurious communities in Ottawa.

Innovation Drive

In July, Killam purchased two adjacent, newly-constructed concrete
buildings at 246 and 300 Innovation Drive in Halifax. These buildings
are comprised of large two and three-bedroom units, with
underground parking and condo-quality common area amenities.

Waybury Park and
Tisbury Crossing

Killam purchased its first
apartments in Edmonton, Alberta
in 2017. The four-building, 296unit complex is located in the
suburb of Sherwood Park, close
to shopping, schools, and transit.

K I L L A M A PA R T M E N T R E I T | 2 0 1 7
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Growth Strategy
Developments
Killam enhances its external
growth opportunities through
development, building high-quality
properties for people seeking the convenience
and flexibility of renting, with the quality and
amenities associated with ownership. Killam
began developing in 2010 and has completed

$136 million of developments. Over $100
million of projects are currently underway.
Killam targets yields of 5% to 6% on
development, higher than the yields available
through acquisitions, which creates value for
unitholders. With a pipeline of almost 1,500
units, developments will continue to be an
important component of growth.

Sang Muk
& Family
Calling Killam
Home Since
2016

$130

million of
projects completed
14

K I L L A M A PA R T M E N T R E I T | 2 0 1 7

$38

million invested in
developments in 2017

1,500

unit development
pipeline

The Alexander

Killam began construction of The Alexander, a 240-unit property in downtown
Halifax, during the second half of 2015. The property is integrated with Halifax’s
historic Brewery Market and will have commanding views of the city and Halifax
harbour. The project is expected to be completed in mid-2018. Killam’s 50%
ownership in the project is expected to increase to 100% in 2019.

Frontier

Our newest development, located in
Ottawa, will include four residential
towers totaling up to 840 units. Killam
has a 50% ownership in this project.
The first phase of the development is
a 217,000 square foot, 23-storey tower
containing 227 units. Occupancy is
anticipated in mid-2019 and Phase II is
expected to begin during the second
half of 2019.

Saginaw Park

Following the successful Saginaw
Gardens development in 2015, Killam
began construction of its second
development in Cambridge, Saginaw
Park, during Q3-2016. The 93-unit
development is adjacent to Saginaw
Gardens and is scheduled for
occupancy starting in Q1-2018.
K I L L A M A PA R T M E N T R E I T | 2 0 1 7

15

Asset Portfolio
Apartment Portfolio
Halifax, NS

Year Built Units
1 Oak Street
1969 146
10-214 Harlington Crescent
1978
60
125 Knightsridge Drive
1987
26
19 Plateau Crescent
1974
81
159 Radcliffe Drive
1995
25
175-211 Harlington Crescent 1978
60
21 Parkland Drive
2002
98
26 Alton Drive & 36 Kelly Street 1969
80
246 & 300 Innovation Drive
2016 134
294-300 Main Street
1969
58
3 Veronica Drive
1983
70
31 Carrington Place
1998
38
3565 Connaught Avenue
1958
19
50 Barkton Lane
1991
63
5206 Tobin Street
1993
47
57 Westgrove Place
1969
41
59 Glenforest/21 Plateau
1978 153
6 Jamieson Street
1965
24
6087 South Street
1999
9
6101 South Street
2002
30
67-141 Harlington Crescent
1978
60
75 Knightsridge Drive
1986
41
85-127 Harlington Crescent
1978
60
9 Bruce Street
1974
60
9 Sybyl Court
1975
22
95 Knightsridge Drive
1984
46
Bedford Apartments
1987
53
Brentwood Apartments
1968 240
Carlton/Hollis Street Houses
n/a
11
Chapter House
2004
41
Dillman Place
1970s
60
Garden Park Apartments
1980 246
Glenforest Apartments
1969
80
Glenbourne Gate
2000
67
Glenmoir Terrace
1972
28
Hillcrest Apartments
1980
50
Kent Street Properties
1950 135
Lakefront Apartments
1954 396
Linden Lea & Pleasant Street 1950
28
Maplehurst Apartments
1965 268
Maplehurst Houses
1965
15
Parker Street Apartments 1960/75 239
Parkridge Place
2002
76
Paxton Place
2000
67
Quinpool Court
1978 198
Quinpool Towers
1978 233
S2 			
2013
63
Shaunslieve Apartments
1978 154
Sheradon Place
1979
82
Southport Apartments
2016
75
Spring Garden Terrace
1964 201
Stoney Brook Apartments
2000 106
2017
54
The Alexander (1) (3)
The Aspen
2012
83
The James
2008 108
The Linden
2011
81
The Willow
2014
84
Victoria Gardens
1954 198
Waterview Place
1971
88
Halifax Total 		5,459
Halifax Average Rent		$1,028
16
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Fredericton, NB
Year Built Units
25 McKnight Street
2001
64
110 McKnight Street
1996
45
116 & 126 Wilsey Avenue
1975
48
120 McKnight Street
1998
45
127 & 157 Biggs Street
1985/92
46
200 Reynolds Street
2001
52
260 Wetmore Road
1978
38
270 Parkside Drive
1979
28
300 Reynolds Street
2006
52
305 Reynolds Street
2010
52
50,60 Greenfields/190 Parkside1977/86 72
75 Greenfields Drive
1980
44
969 Regent Street
1997/01
62
Carrington House
2002
41
Elroy Apartments
1973 194
Forest Hill Towers
1968/79 151
Princess Place
1968/79 141
Southgate Apartments
2003
47
The Plaza
2013 101
Venus Apartments
1965
54
Westwood Apartment
1975
45
Fredericton Total		1,422
Fredericton Average Rent		 $936
Moncton, NB

100 Archibald Street
2003
60
101 Archibald Street
1993
60
115 Kedgewick Drive
2009
25
133 Kedgewick Drive
2010
23
135 Gould Street
2011
69
155 Canaan Drive
2008
48
1111 Main Street
1957
16
276-350 Gauvin Road
1991/96
84
303 Normandie Street
1994
70
316 Acadie Avenue
1996
48
360 Acadie Avenue
1998
60
364-368 Gauvin Road
1995
80
46 & 54 Strathmore Avenue
2001
40
65 Bonaccord Street
2004
35
Gauvin Estates
2013
48
Belmar Plaza
2005
50
Buckingham Place
1998
55
Cambridge Court
1994
45
Cambridge Place
1995
63
Cameron Arms
1981
81
Cameron Street
1966/67
81
Eagles Ridge Estates
1994
59
Gordon/Bonaccord Street 1950/84
41
Hester & Church Street
1993
64
Lakeview Estates
1980/81
48
Lorentz Apartments
1969 102
Lutz & Kendra Street
1950/75
40
Pine Glen Apartments
1974
54
Suffolk Street
2000
80
Moncton Total		1,629
Moncton Average Rent		 $843

Saint John, NB
Year Built Units
20 Technology Drive
2014
59
2007
21
37 Somerset Place
53 Somerset Place
1973
16
115 Woodhaven Drive
1977
24
Blue Rock Estates
2007
60
Carleton Towers
1968
60
Cedar Glen Apartments
1977 204
Ellerdale Apartments
1975 154
Fort Howe Apartments
1970 153
Parkwood Apartments
1947 205
Rocky Hill Apartments
2004
42
Sydney Arms
1961
54
The Anchorage
2003
51
Woodward Gardens
1962
99
Saint John Total		1,202
Saint John Average Rent		 $796
St. John’s, NL

Bennett House
2013
71
Blackshire Court
1981
69
Chelsea Place
2015 102
Cornwall Manor
1976
31
Freshwater Road Apartments1972 159
Forest Manor
1978
65
Meadowland Apartments 1976 105
Mount Pleasant Manor
1976 100
Pleasantview Manor
1979
36
Rutledge Manor
1983
53
Torbay Road Apartments
1972
84
Village Manor
1978
40
St. John’s Total		 915
St. John’s Average Rent		 $971

Charlottetown, PE

198 Spring Park Road
2006
32
27 Longworth Avenue
1983
24
280 Shakespeare Drive
2010
26
319-323 Shakespeare Drive
2004
22
36 Westridge Crescent
1985
8
505-525 University Avenue
2003
35
Bridlewood Apartments
1998/99
66
Browns Court
1997
52
Brighton House
2013
47
Burns/University
2003
95
Charlotte Court
2011
49
Country Place
1998/02
39
DesBarres House
1978
51
Ducks Landing
2005/12 138
Horton Park
1987
69
Kensington Court
1990 105
Queen Street
1978
48
Charlottetown Total		 906
Charlottetown Average Rent		 $925

180 Mill Street, London, ON

Net Operating Income
by Segment

Apartments • 90%
MHCs • 8%
Commercial • 2%

Net Operating
Income by Province

Nova Scotia • 43%
New Brunswick • 21%
Ontario • 21%
Newfoundland • 7%
PEI • 6%
Alberta • 2%

Cambridge, ON
Year Built Units
100 Eagle Street
2008 119
200 Eagle Street
2004 106
Saginaw Gardens
2015 122
Cambridge Total		 347
$1,552
Cambridge Average Rent
London, ON

180 Mill Street
2011 127
1447 Trafalgar/ 298 Fairview 1960/65
40
Bellwood Terrace
1960 113
Fairview Terrace
1950s 106
Richmond Hill Apartments
2009 137
London Total		 523
London Average Rent
$1,234

Ottawa, ON

1090 Kristin Way
266 Bronson Avenue
350 Mayfield Avenue
50 Selkirk Street
621 Cummings Avenue
William’s Court I (1)
William’s Court II (1)
William’s Court III (1)
William’s Court IV (1)
Ottawa Total
Ottawa Average Rent

Toronto, ON

100 Lower Ossington Ave
1355 Silver Spear Road (1)
Toronto Total
Toronto Average Rent

Calgary, AB

Grid 5 (1)
Spruce Grove
Calgary Total
Calgary Average Rent

Edmonton, AB

Tisbury Crossing
Waybury Park
Edmonton Total
Edmonton Average Rent

1974
1968
1959
1959
1950
2012
2014
2015
2016

102
43
61
75
44
146
152
173
268
1,064
$1,450

2012
1968

179
199
378
$1,147

1965
1978

307
66
373
$1,140

2017
2016

172
124
296
$1,505

Other

Cabot House
1974
88
Edward Court
1993
96
Moxham Court
1998
51
Nevada Court
1995
48
Northgate Apartments
2006
38
Ridgeview Terrace Apartments 1975
59
Terrace Apartments
1970/90
89
Other Total
469
Other Average Rent
$874

Total Apartment Portfolio 14,983
Total Apartment Average Rent $1,018
Notes: (1) Killam has a 50% ownership interest.
(2) Seasonal resort community.
(3) 54-units of the 240-unit development
		 opened in October 2017.

MHC Portfolio
Nova Scotia

Amherst Estates
Birch Hill Estates
Birchlee Estates
Cairdeil Estates
Cowan Place
Enfield Estates
Fairview Estates
Glen Aire Estates
Greenhill Estates
Heather Estates
Kent Drive Estates
Maple Ridge Estates
Mountainview Estates
Shamrock Estates
Silver Birch Estates
Valley View Hills
Nova Scotia Total

Acres Sites
67 300
73 216
42 222
37 160
50
56
10
56
15 131
130 265
30 115
72 217
10
50
18 160
168 353
8
65
16
64
50 196
2,626

New Brunswick

Camper’s City (2)
New Brunswick Total

Newfoundland

Lakeview Court
Sunset Parkway
Newfoundland Total

Ontario

Cedardale (2)
Domaine le Village
Family Paradise (2)
Holiday Harbour (2)
Holiday Park Campground (2)
Lakewood Estates
Lynnwood Gardens
Millcreek Estates
Paradise Valley (2)
Pinehurst Estates
Pine Tree Village
Rockdale Ridge
Stanley Park
The Village at Listowel
Westhill Estates
Wood Haven Campground (2)
Ontario Total

61

224
224

13
43

86
84
170

25
36
50
15
35
13
54
35
109
16
38
96
76
53
8
50

204
70
214
143
290
60
64
73
392
82
70
69
107
87
94
126
2,145

Total MHC Portfolio

5,165

Total MHC Average Rent

$248

Commercial Portfolio
Halifax, NS

3700 Kempt Road (1)
3770 Kempt Road (1)
Benjamin Weir House
Brewery Market
Medical Arts Building
Halifax Total

Square Feet
38,000
34,000
6,000
158,000
18,000
254,000
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Environmental,
Social &
Governance
A Letter from Philip Fraser, President and CEO
As one of Canada’s largest housing providers, we take the responsibilities
of corporate citizenship seriously. Our core values of Build Community and
Do the Right Thing guide our commitment to environmental, social, and
governance (ESG) programs and investments. I am pleased and proud to
share more about our ESG initiatives in the following pages.
Our environmental efforts are focused on two priorities: improving the
efficiency of our current buildings and developing the next generation of
energy efficient apartments. We are in the second year of a five-year, $25
million energy program and our investments have already led to significant
reductions in water and electricity consumption and greenhouse gas
emissions. We have three buildings under construction which incorporate
technologies to maximize energy and water efficiencies, and include
geothermal heating and water sub-metering. Investing in energy initiatives
reduces our carbon footprint and leads to higher earnings.
As a corporate citizen, Killam is an active participant in our communities,
supporting local charities with shelter, funds, and employee time. We
strive to provide excellent customer service and maintain our status as an
employer of choice.
Killam’s Board of Trustees and governance processes are another key to
our success. Our eight non-executive trustees bring significant real estate,
corporate finance, government relations, and management expertise to
Killam. Individually, and as part of the Audit, Compensation, Governance,
Nomination, and Succession Committees, trustees are responsible for
ensuring Killam fulfils its commitments as a responsible corporate citizen.
I look forward to sharing our progress on ESG initiatives as a regular feature
in Killam’s annual report. Sustainability will continue to be a priority at
Killam. It makes good business sense, and it’s the right thing to do.
Yours truly,

Philip Fraser

William’s Court, Ottawa, ON
18
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Environmental Responsibility
Reducing energy and water
consumption is a priority for
Killam. With utility and fuel
costs representing 27% of total
operating expenses, using less
results in savings, and is the right
thing to do.
The centerpiece of Killam’s
efforts is a five-year, $25 million
program launched in 2016.
Following a comprehensive
operational review, Killam
identified 700 projects to
increase efficiency, reduce
consumption and greenhouse
gas emissions, and enhance

tenant comfort. Killam expects
to lower its energy intensity
(measured as dollars per square
foot of real estate) by 23%
over the next five years, upon
completion of the program.

MAKING ENERGY EFFICIENT

Killam is also focused on
designing and constructing
the next generation of
energy efficient apartment
buildings. Using the latest
technologies improves the
resident experience and reduces
Killam’s costs to operate.

2017 Environmental Highlights
REDUCTION OF ENERGY
CONSUMPTION BY

REDUCTION OF WATER
CONSUMPTION BY

6.8MkWh

100,000 m3

REDUCTION OF CARBON
FOOTPRINT BY

INCLUDED MORE THAN

THE SAME AS 600 HOMES

5%

WITH ENERGY PROJECTS

EQUAL TO 40 OLYMPIC
SWIMMING POOLS

50%

OF OUR TENANTS IN
CONSERVATION
PROGRAMS

INVESTED MORE THAN

$3.5M

IN EFFICIENCY PROJECTS

INSTALLED

2,500

LOW-FLOW TOILETS
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Environmental Responsibility
CASE STUDY | WILLIAM’S COURT
Killam completed an LED lighting
retrofit at William’s Court in
July 2017. Though recently
constructed, the property’s
common area lighting was a mix
of incandescent and fluorescent
fixtures. Killam replaced more
than 2,000 bulbs with LED lights
and expects to save 540,000
kilowatt hours of electricity each
year from the project, enough to
power ten homes.

CASE STUDY | FRONTIER
Killam is co-developing an
880-unit, four-building project
in Ottawa. The first building, a
23-storey tower, incorporates
geothermal heating and
cooling, sub-metered electricity
and water, LED lighting,
occupancy sensors, and e-car

CASE STUDY | PARKER STREET
Killam replaced 240 toilets with
low flow fixtures at its Parker
Street properties in Halifax in
January 2017. Since installation,
water consumption at these
buildings has fallen 41%, and

20
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water costs are 36% below 2016.
In total, Killam installed 2,500
low-flow toilets during the past
year and more than 75% of the
fixtures in our portfolio have
been upgraded.

charging stations to reduce
resource consumption. This
building is located steps from
the Blair light rail transit station
and features a walk-score of 75
and a bike-score of 100, allowing
residents to live car-free.

Social Engagement
with Our Communities
Killam’s interactions with its stakeholders
embody our core values.
Giving back is an important part of being
a corporate citizen. We strive to do what
is right and we invest in our communities
through several programs.
• Killam partners with non-profit
housing agencies, including Housing
First, The Nova Scotia Health Authority,
Shelter Nova Scotia, YWCA, and
Phoenix House, to provide subsidized
units to previously under-housed
individuals.
• Killam donates fully furnished units
to hospitals to provide comfortable
Image courtesy Giacomo Bruno, snapd Halifax
accommodation to families as they
support loved ones through treatment.
• Killam provides financial assistance to charities that provide shelter and support to tenants and families.
• Killam grants a full day of paid leave each year for employees to volunteer with a charity of their choice.
• Members of Killam’s Board of Trustees personally pledge $100,000 annually to an organization of a
Trustee’s choice. In 2017, Trustees donated to St. Michael’s Hospital Foundation in Toronto. Cumulatively,
the Trustees have donated $800,000 to organizations across Canada.

CASE STUDY | HOME AWAY FROM HOME

Home to an Olympian
Jillian Saulnier, a silver medalist
with Canada’s women’s hockey
team, resides in a Killam property
in Halifax. She recently visited
our team, including super fan
Matthew, son of Kathy Askew,
Associate Director, Accounting.

Since 2006, Killam has partnered
with hospitals in its largest
Atlantic Canadian markets to
provide temporary housing to
patients and their families. These
two-bedroom suites are fully
furnished, include wi-fi and cable,
and are stocked with linens and
toiletries. Stays range from a few
days to up to six months. These
suites act as a home base while a
loved one is in hospital, allowing
families to stay together while
receiving care.

Welcome
home,
away from
home.
This apartment has been graciously
donated by Killam Apartment REIT.
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Social Engagement
with Our Residents
Killam provides outstanding customer service and a sense of community
at its properties. Killam surveys residents to measure our success in
meeting expectations and 90% of the almost 3,000 surveyed in 2017
reported satisfaction, the third straight year we received this score.
Below are examples of programs, events and amenities that contribute
to resident engagement.
• Holiday gatherings, community barbecues, meet and greets, pizza
parties and movie nights.
• Community gardens, playgrounds, fitness rooms, recreational
facilities, and waterfront and pool upgrades at seasonal resorts.
• The corporate website, including the launch of an on-line live chat
option, and expanded communication options for existing and
prospective tenants.
• Tenant assistance program which offers temporary rent relief to
residents experiencing short-term financial hardship.

22
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Social Engagement
with Our Employees

Barry Wicklam
Foreman
Ontario
Build Community
Ed Hasselman & Kim Wright
Resident Managers
Saint John
Strong Customer Relationships
Clarence Savoy, John McAlary,
Jeff Spencer
Maintenance
Saint John
Strong Customer Relationships

TH
E

20

18

L
AI

Cathy, Dana & Mike Mulholland
Community Managers
Ontario
Build Community

BE AND

M

Chris French
Resident Manager
Saint John
Strong Customer Relationships

LO

N

E

R

LL

Employee
Recommended
Workplace

O

Killam recognizes employees who demonstrate
its core values through a quarterly awards program.

G

M

Killam’s success is due to the hard work and dedication of our people.
Our 600 employees exemplify Killam’s core values and are the key to
tenant satisfaction. In our 2017 employee survey, 97% of respondents
said they are willing to give extra effort to see Killam succeed. Killam
supports its employees at work and in their communities in many ways.
• Killam invests in employee education and coaching programs, and
provides financial assistance for learning.
• Killam’s employee unit purchase plan rewards employees with a 50%
investment match after two years of service.
• Scholarships are granted to children and grandchildren of Killam
employees who pursue post-secondary education.
• Quarterly newsletters, team summits, and senior management
property visits foster an engaged workforce.
• Killam’s Employee and Family Assistance Program provides
counseling and support for employees and their family members
experiencing depression, anxiety, stress, grief, and other common
issues.

EP
E A
U S H

2018

Linda Reardon, Glenna Brown,
Janie Malay
Resident Managers
Halifax
Build Community
Garnet Smalley
Resident Manager
Ontario
Strong Customer Relationships
Terry Weagle
Maintenance Foreman
Halifax
Do the Right Thing
Carolynn Whitfield
Community Manager
Ontario
Creative Solutions

Jeremy Jackson, Pamela Crowell,
Philip Fraser, and Colleen McCarville
receiving Canada’s Most Admired
Corporate Culture award.
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Governance
A Letter from
Robert Kay,
Chairman of the
Board
Killam’s Board of
Trustees believes
that sound
governance
practices contribute
to effective
decision-making
and create
unitholder value. Trustees are responsible for setting
and monitoring execution against Killam’s strategy,
managing risk, setting compensation, and planning
for succession. The Board is composed of eight
non-executive trustees, as well as Killam’s CEO and
Executive Vice-President. Members possess significant
experience in real estate, corporate finance, executive
management, and governance. Three committees,
described in detail below, have been formed to
provide recommendations to the Board. You can find
more details on the mandates of the Board and its
committees under the Governance section of Killam’s
website www.killamreit.com.
Killam’s Audit Committee supports the Board in
fulfilling its responsibilities for the integrity of the Trust’s
financial reporting, internal controls, risk management,
and regulatory compliance. The committee also
monitors the independence and performance
of Killam’s external auditors and administers the
whistleblower program.

Alex & Brianna
Calling Killam
Home Since
2015

24
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Killam’s Compensation Committee is responsible for
determining the compensation of Killam’s CEO and
other senior officers. In 2017, following the engagement
of Meridian Compensation Partners, the Committee
finalized a new executive remuneration program which
more closely aligns the interests of management with
unitholders. Details of the new program are described
in detail in Killam’s 2018 Management Proxy Circular.
The Governance, Nomination and Succession
Committee recommended the appointment of Aldéa
Landry to the board in October 2017. Aldéa’s legal,
government relations, and corporate governance
experience strengthens the group. In addition,
her appointment fulfills our commitment to add
another woman to our Board by the end of 2017. The
Committee maintains a list of qualified candidates and
is committed to increasing the number of women
on our Board by 2020. The Board and management
recognize the importance of diversity and 55%–or five
of nine–of Killam’s executive officers are women.
On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank Philip
Fraser and Killam’s 600 employees for their work
delivering clean, safe, quality housing to residents who
are proud to call our properties home.

Bob Kay

2017 Management’s Discussion & Analysis
Dollar amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except as noted)
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PART I
Business Overview
Killam Apartment REIT ("Killam", the "Trust", or the "REIT"), based in Halifax, Nova Scotia ("NS"), is one of Canada's largest residential
landlords, owning, operating, managing and developing a $2.3 billion portfolio of apartments and manufactured home community
("MHC") properties. Killam was founded in 2000 to create value through the consolidation of apartments in Atlantic Canada and
MHCs across Canada. Killam entered the Ontario ("ON") apartment market in 2010 and made its first investment in Alberta ("AB") in
2014. Killam broke ground on its first development in 2010 and has completed eight projects to date, with a further three projects
currently under construction.
Killam’s strategy to enhance value and profitability focuses on three priorities:
1) increase earnings from the existing portfolio;
2) expand the portfolio and diversify geographically through accretive acquisitions, targeting newer properties; and
3) develop high-quality properties in its core markets.
The apartment business is Killam’s largest segment and accounted for 90.2% of Killam’s net operating income ("NOI") for the year
ended December 31, 2017. As at December 31, 2017, Killam’s apartment portfolio consisted of 14,983 units, including 1,245 units
jointly owned with institutional partners. Killam's 189 apartment properties are located in Atlantic Canada's six largest urban centres
(Halifax, Moncton, Saint John, Fredericton, St. John’s and Charlottetown), Ontario (Ottawa, London, Toronto and Cambridge), and
Alberta (Calgary and Edmonton). Killam is Atlantic Canada’s largest residential landlord, owning a 14% share of multi-family rental units
in its core markets. Killam plans to expand its presence in Ontario and Alberta through acquisitions and developments and will continue
to invest strategically in Atlantic Canada to maintain its market presence.
In addition, Killam owns 5,165 MHC sites, also known as land-lease communities or trailer parks, in Ontario and Atlantic Canada. Killam
owns the land and infrastructure supporting these communities and leases lots to tenants who own their own homes and pay Killam
site rent. The MHC portfolio accounted for 8.1% of Killam’s NOI for 2017. Killam also owns commercial properties that accounted for
1.7% of Killam's NOI for the year ended December 31, 2017.

Basis of Presentation
The following Management's Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) has been prepared by Management and focuses on key statistics from
the consolidated financial statements and pertains to known risks and uncertainties. This MD&A should be read in conjunction with
the Trust's audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, which have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
("IASB"). These documents, along with Killam’s 2016 Annual Information Form, are available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
The discussions in this MD&A are based on information available as at February 13, 2018. This MD&A has been reviewed and approved
by Management and the REIT's Board of Trustees.

Declaration of Trust
Killam's investment guidelines and operating policies are set out in Killam's Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust ("DOT") dated
November 27, 2015, which is available on SEDAR. A summary of the guidelines and policies are as follows:
Investment Guidelines
• The Trust will acquire, hold, develop, maintain, improve, lease and manage income-producing real estate properties;
• Investments in joint ventures, partnerships (general or limited) and limited liability companies are permitted;
• Investments in land for development that will be capital property for Killam are permitted; and
• Investments that would disqualify Killam as a "mutual fund trust" or a "unit trust" as defined within the Income Tax Act (Canada) are
prohibited.
Operating Policies
• Overall indebtedness is not to exceed 70% of Gross Book Value, as defined by the DOT;
• Guarantees of indebtedness that would disqualify Killam as a "mutual fund trust" or a "unit trust" as defined within the Income Tax
Act (Canada) are prohibited; and
• Killam must maintain property insurance coverage in respect of potential liabilities of the Trust.
As at December 31, 2017, Killam was in compliance with all investment guidelines and operating policies.
26
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Forward-looking Statements
Certain statements in this MD&A constitute “forward-looking statements”. In some cases, forward-looking statements can be identified
by the use of words such as "may", "will", "should", "expect", "plan", "anticipate", "believe", "estimate”, "potential", "continue" or the
negative of these terms or other comparable terminology, and by discussions of strategies that involve risks and uncertainties. Readers
should be aware that these statements are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause
actual results to differ materially from those anticipated or implied, or those suggested by any forward-looking statements, including:
competition, national and regional economic conditions and the availability of capital to fund further investments in Killam's business.
Further information regarding these risks, uncertainties and other factors may be found under the heading "Risk Management" in this
MD&A and in Killam's most recent Annual Information Form. Given these uncertainties, readers are cautioned not to place undue
reliance on any forward-looking statements contained, or incorporated by reference, in this MD&A.
By their nature, forward-looking statements involve numerous assumptions, inherent risks and uncertainties, both general and specific,
that contribute to the possibility that the predictions, forecasts, projections and various future events may not occur. Although
Management believes that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, there can be no assurance that
future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements will occur as anticipated. Neither Killam nor any other person assumes
responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of any forward-looking statement, and no one has any obligation to update or revise
any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events, circumstances, or such other factors that affect
this information, except as required by law. The forward-looking statements in this document are provided for the limited purpose of
enabling current and potential investors to evaluate an investment in Killam. Readers are cautioned that such statements may not be
appropriate and should not be used for any other purpose.

Non-IFRS Financial Measures
Management believes these non-IFRS financial measures are relevant measures of the ability of the REIT to earn revenue and to
evaluate Killam's financial performance. The non-IFRS measures should not be construed as alternatives to net income or cash flow
from operating activities determined in accordance with IFRS, as indicators of Killam's performance, or sustainability of Killam's
distributions. These measures do not have standardized meanings under IFRS and therefore may not be comparable to similarly titled
measures presented by other publicly traded organizations.
• Funds from operations ("FFO"), and applicable per unit amounts, are calculated by Killam as net income adjusted for depreciation on
an owner-occupied building, fair value gains (losses), interest expense related to exchangeable units, gains (losses) on disposition,
deferred tax expense (recovery), unrealized gains (losses) on derivative liability, REIT conversion costs and non-controlling interest.
FFO are calculated in accordance with the REALpac definition, except for the adjustment of REIT conversion costs as noted above;
REALpac does not address this adjustment. A reconciliation between net income and FFO is included on page 24.
• Adjusted funds from operations ("AFFO"), and applicable per unit amounts and payout ratios, are calculated by Killam as FFO less
$900 (2016 - $970) per apartment unit per annum and $300 (2016 - $225) per MHC site per annum for maintenance capital
expenditures ("capex"), representing a three-year rolling historical average capital spend to maintain and sustain Killam's properties.
AFFO are calculated in accordance with the REALpac definition, most recently updated in February 2017. Management considers
AFFO an earnings metric. A reconciliation from FFO to AFFO is included on page 26, and the calculation of the maintenance capex
reserve is included on page 25.
• Adjusted cash flow from operations ("ACFO") is calculated by Killam as cash flow from operations with adjustments for changes in
working capital that are not indicative of sustainable cash available for distribution, maintenance capital expenditures, amortization of
deferred financing costs and non-controlling interest. Management considers ACFO a measure of sustainable cash flow. A
reconciliation from cash flow from operating activities to ACFO is included on page 27. ACFO is calculated in accordance with the
REALpac definition.
• Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA") is calculated by Killam as income before fair value
adjustments, gain (loss) on disposition, income taxes, interest, depreciation and amortization.
• Interest coverage is calculated by dividing EBITDA by interest expense, adjusted for interest expense related to exchangeable units.
• Debt service coverage is calculated by dividing EBITDA by interest expense, adjusted for interest expense related to exchangeable
units, and principal mortgage repayments.
• Same property results in relation to Killam are revenues and property operating expenses for stabilized properties that Killam has
owned for equivalent periods in 2017 and 2016 (93.7% of the portfolio based on the December 31, 2017 unit count).
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PART II
Key Performance Indicators
To assist Management and investors in monitoring Killam's achievement of its objectives, Killam has defined a number of key
performance indicators to measure the success of its operating and financial performance:
1)

FFO per Unit – A standard measure of earnings for real estate entities. Management is focused on growing FFO per unit.

2)

AFFO per Unit – A standard measure of earnings for real estate entities. Management is focused on growing AFFO per unit.

3)

Payout Ratio – Killam monitors its AFFO and ACFO payout ratios and targets improved payout ratios. The ACFO payout ratio is a
measure to assess the sustainability of distributions. The AFFO payout ratio is used as a supplemental metric. Although Killam
expects to continue to sustain and grow distributions, the amount of distributions will depend on debt repayments and refinancings,
capital investments, and other factors that may be beyond the control of the REIT.

4)

Rental Increases – Management expects to increase average annual rental rates and tracks average rate increases.

5)

Occupancy – Management is focused on maximizing occupancy while also managing the impact of higher rents. This measure is a
percentage based on vacancy cost divided by gross potential residential rent (in dollars).

6)

Same Property NOI – This measure considers Killam’s ability to increase the same property NOI, removing the impact of acquisitions,
dispositions, developments and other non-same property operating adjustments.

7)

Weighted Average Interest Rate of Mortgage Debt and Total Debt – Killam monitors the weighted average cost of its mortgage and
total debt.

8)

Debt to Total Assets – Killam's primary measure of its leverage is debt as a percentage of total assets. Killam's DOT operating policies
stipulate that overall indebtedness is not to exceed 70% of Gross Book Value. Debt to total assets is calculated by dividing total
interest-bearing debt by total assets.

9)

Weighted Average Years to Debt Maturity – Management monitors the average number of years to maturity on its debt.

10) Debt to Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization – A common measure of leverage used by lenders, this
measure considers Killam’s financial health and liquidity. Generally, the lower the debt to EBITDA ratio, the lower the credit risk.
11) Debt Service Coverage Ratio – A common measure of credit risk used by lenders, this measure considers Killam’s ability to pay both
interest and principal on outstanding debt. Generally, the higher the debt service coverage ratio, the lower the credit risk.
12) Interest Coverage Ratio – A common measure of credit risk used by lenders, this measure considers Killam’s ability to pay interest on
outstanding debt. Generally, the higher the interest coverage ratio, the lower the credit risk.
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Financial and Operational Highlights
The following table presents a summary of Killam’s key IFRS and non-IFRS financial and operational performance measures:
For the years ended December 31,
Operating Performance

Change (2)

2017

2016

Property revenue

$187,377

$175,269

Net operating income

$115,220

$105,424

9.3%

Net income

$104,760

$71,439

46.6%

$69,873

$58,886

18.7%

$0.90

$0.86

4.7%

$55,982

$44,746

25.1%

FFO (1)
FFO per unit - diluted (1)
AFFO

(1)

AFFO per unit - diluted

(1),(3)

Weighted average number of units outstanding - diluted (000s)
Distributions paid per unit
AFFO payout ratio - diluted(1),(3)

6.9%

$0.72

$0.66

9.1%

78,658

73,381

7.2%

$0.62

$0.60

86%

91%

3.3%
(500) bps

Portfolio Performance
Same property NOI(1)
Same property NOI margin
Same property apartment weighted average rental increase (4)

$104,595
61.4%

$100,972

3.6%

60.8%

60 bps

1.8%

1.6%

20 bps

96.5%

95.9%

60 bps

2017

2016

Change

Debt to total assets

48.7%

53.5%

Weighted average mortgage interest rate

2.91%

3.01%

Weighted average years to debt maturity

4.0

4.3

10.70x

11.00x

(2.7)%

1.51x

1.41x

7.1%

3.13x

2.70x

15.9%

Same property apartment occupancy

As at December 31,
Leverage Ratios and Metrics

Debt to EBITDA (1)
Debt service coverage (1)
Interest coverage

(1)

(480) bps
(10) bps
(0.3) years

(1) FFO, AFFO, AFFO payout ratio, debt to EBITDA, debt service coverage ratio, interest coverage ratio, and same property NOI are not defined by IFRS, do not have standard
meanings and may not be comparable with other industries or companies (see "Non-IFRS Financial Measures").
(2) Change expressed as a percentage or basis point ("bps").
(3) AFFO calculation was revised in 2017 based on the issuance of the February 2017 REALpac white paper on AFFO. Prior period balances have been restated to conform to
the current period calculation. Refer to Part VI of the MD&A for additional disclosure.
(4) Year-over-year, as at December 31.
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Summary of 2017 Results and Operations
FFO per Unit Growth of 4.7%
Killam generated FFO per unit of $0.90 in 2017, 4.7% higher than the $0.86 generated in 2016. FFO growth was attributable to a 9.3%
increase in NOI due to strong same property performance, incremental contributions from recent acquisitions and interest savings on
mortgage refinancings and the repayment of the $46 million convertible debentures in April 2017. This growth was partially offset by a
7.2% increase in the weighted average number of units outstanding from an aggregate $154.1 million of equity issued in March and
November 2017, to redeem the convertible debentures, to reduce leverage and fund acquisitions and developments.
Strengthened Balance Sheet and Increased Liquidity
Killam completed a $77.0 million equity raise in March at a price of $12.65 per unit. Proceeds were used to redeem the $46.0 million,
5.45% convertible debenture in April and to fund Killam's acquisition of a 50% interest in a property in Ottawa. In November, Killam raised
$77.1 million at a price of $13.55 per unit. Proceeds were used to fund $60 million of acquisitions, reduce indebtedness and provide
liquidity for future acquisitions and developments. The transactions contributed to a marked reduction in Killam's debt levels, ending the
year at 48.7%.
In December 2017, Killam also increased availability under its revolving credit facility to $70 million from $30 million. The facility includes
a $20 million accordion, bringing the total potential credit availability to $90 million. The facility is available to finance acquisitions,
developments and for general Trust purposes. With the expanded line of credit, cash on hand and anticipated mortgage proceeds from
three recently acquired properties, Killam ended 2017 with over $300 million of acquisition capacity.
Higher Rents and Improved Occupancy Drove Same Property Revenue Growth
Same property revenue increased 2.6% compared to 2016 as a result of a 60 bps increase in average apartment occupancy and a 1.8%
increase in the average rental rate for the apartment portfolio, as well as 3.1% top-line growth within the MHC portfolio. With an
experienced leasing team and positive apartment fundamentals, Killam's same property apartment portfolio achieved 96.5% occupancy
for 2017. Apartment performance was particularly strong in New Brunswick and Halifax, where same property apartment revenues
increased by 4.0% and 2.6%, compared to 2016.
Same Property NOI growth of 3.6% Augmented by Expense Management
Killam's same property total operating expenses increased only 1.0% for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to 2016,
contributing to the 3.6% increase in same property NOI. Utility and fuel expenses for 2017 were down 5.7% compared to 2016, due to
lower fuel, electricity and water consumption as a result of recent energy initiatives, as well as a reduction in the pricing for natural gas in
Nova Scotia and electricity in Ontario. These savings largely offset inflationary general operating expense pressures and a 5.5% increase in
property taxes.
Lower Interest Rates Contributed to Earnings Growth
Killam benefited from lower interest rates on mortgages refinanced in 2017, contributing to a 4.0% reduction in same property mortgage
interest expense year over year. In total, Killam refinanced $69.7 million of maturing mortgages with $101.7 million of new debt at a
weighted average interest rate of 2.61%, 106 basis points lower than the weighted average rate of the maturing debt.
Portfolio Growth from Acquisitions and Developments
Killam acquired over $200 million of investment properties in 2017. Specifically, Killam acquired eight buildings totaling $184 million
which added approximately 850 units across Calgary, Edmonton, Halifax, London and Ottawa. Killam also acquired $12 million of sites in
Edmonton and Ottawa that have development potential for an additional 600 units. Over 75% of the capital deployed in 2017 was in
Alberta and Ontario as Killam executed on its strategy of increasing the portion of NOI generated outside Atlantic Canada.
In addition, Killam invested $37.5 million in its three active developments, The Alexander in Halifax, Saginaw Park in Cambridge and The
Frontier in Ottawa during 2017. Killam expects to complete construction of The Alexander and Saginaw Park in 2018 and The Frontier in
2019.
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Strategic Targets
Growth in Same Property NOI
2017 Target

Same property NOI growth of 1% to 3%.

2017 Performance

Target exceeded.
Same property NOI grew by 3.6% in 2017 due to rental rate increases, higher
occupancy and utility cost savings.

2018 Target

Same Property NOI growth of 1% to 2%.

Longer-term Target

Same Property NOI growth averaging over 2%.

Expanded Portfolio through Accretive Acquisitions
2017 Target

A minimum of $75 million of acquisitions.

2017 Performance

Target exceeded.
Killam completed $200 million of acquisitions. A summary of the acquisitions
in 2017 is shown on page 29. The weighted average all-cash yield on these
acquisitions is expected to be approximately 5.4%. In addition, Killam
recycled $9 million of capital with the disposition of two non-core Ottawa
properties in April.

2018 Target

A minimum of $125 million of acquisitions.

Longer-term Target

Grow the portfolio to over $2.8 billion by 2020, from $2.3 billion in 2017.

Geographic Diversification
2017 Target

At least 75% of acquisitions made outside Atlantic Canada and to have over
23% of 2017 NOI earned outside Atlantic Canada.

2017 Performance

Target achieved.
75% of capital invested in properties located outside Atlantic Canada. 23% of
2017 NOI generated by properties located in Alberta and Ontario.

2018 Target

At least 75% of acquisitions made outside Atlantic Canada and to earn at least
26% of 2018 NOI outside Atlantic Canada.

Longer-term Target

Over 30% of NOI generated outside Atlantic Canada by 2020.

Development of High-Quality Properties
2017 Target
2017 Performance

To remain on schedule to complete the 240-unit Alexander development by
Q1-2018 and the 93-unit Saginaw development by Q2-2018.
Target partially achieved.
The Saginaw development remains on schedule and is expected to be
completed in early spring 2018. The Alexander development has been
delayed 3-6 months and is expected to be completed in mid-2018. Killam
remains on schedule with the Gloucester City Centre development.

2018 Target

To complete the Alexander and Saginaw developments, and break ground on
one additional development project.

Longer-term Target

To create a minimum of $20 million of value from developments through
2020.

Strengthened Balance Sheet
2017 Target

Further reduce debt as a percentage of total assets.

2017 Performance

Target achieved.
Debt as a percentage of total assets was 48.7% at December 31, 2017,
compared to 53.5% at December 31, 2016, due to the redemption of the
$46.0 million convertible debentures in April and the acquisition of three
properties without debt in December. Capital flexibility increased with
expansion of the credit facility to $70 million.

2018 Target

Maintain debt as a percentage of assets ratio below 52%.

Longer-term Target

Reduce debt as a percentage of assets below 50%.
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Outlook
Strong Fundamentals Expected to Drive Rental Growth
Population growth from immigration, a wave of baby boomers and seniors transitioning from home ownership to apartment living, a
growing number of single households and a trend for young Canadians to delay homeownership is expected to support strong rental
demand for the foreseeable future. Rapidly rising home prices in Ontario are also increasing demand for rental units in that province.
Home ownership levels are also expected to be impacted by recent mortgage qualification changes that increase the income required
to obtain financing, further supporting demand for apartments.
With one of the newest and highest-quality portfolios of apartments in Canada, Killam is well positioned to respond to this strong
demand. Management expects to grow revenues with a balance of maximizing rental rates and maintaining high occupancy levels. With
the majority of Killam’s portfolio not exposed to rent controls, Management has the flexibility to move rents to market on an annual
basis. In Ontario and PEI, both with rent control, Management expects to maximize the rental rates on unit turns as extremely tight
rental markets are expected to lead to higher-than-normal rental rate growth.
Rollout of Energy Efficiency Opportunities to Reduce Consumption and Increase Margins
Investments in energy and water-saving initiatives, and operational efficiencies, are expected to continue to reduce Killam's resource
consumption and contribute to improved operating margins. Killam is two years into its five-year, $25 million program to reduce the
footprint of its buildings through the installation of low-flow water fixtures, boiler, ventilation and cooling system upgrades, and retrofit
of temperature and lighting systems. Killam has expanded its operations team to bring energy specialists in-house to optimize this
capital investment. Management has spent $5.7 million to date and is forecasting investments of at least $3.5 million in 2018 with an
average payback of 4 years.
These projects are expected to improve same property NOI with lower consumption, reducing Killam’s exposure to fluctuating energy
costs and volatile winter weather. Killam is further reducing its exposure by locking in natural gas rates for most of its portfolio during
the heating season. Although Killam remains exposed to changes in consumption linked to temperature variations, the initiatives
underway are expected to mitigate expense volatility.
Technology to Enhance Efficiencies
Management will continue to invest in technology to improve efficiencies, enhance communication with staff and tenants and use
increased data analytics to maximize returns. Following a successful year of in-house technology enhancements, including mobile
maintenance and inspection capabilities and paperless invoice processing, Management plans to roll out enhancements to its leasing
platform improving the tenant online and mobile communication experience.
On Track to Meet Geographic Diversification Targets
Management is focused on continuing to increase its presence in Ontario and Alberta. Based on its current portfolio, approximately
26% of Killam's NOI is forecasted to be generated outside Atlantic Canada, up from 23% in 2017. With acquisitions and developments
planned in both Ontario and Alberta, Killam expects to meet its goal of 30% of NOI generated outside Atlantic Canada by 2020.
Developments will Enhance NAV Growth
Killam is an experienced developer with $100 million of projects currently underway in Halifax, Cambridge and Ottawa. The podium
portion of The Alexander development opened on October 1, 2017, and the entire project is expected to be complete by mid-2018.
The Cambridge development is scheduled for completion by April 2018, and the first phase of the Ottawa development is planned to
open in mid-2019. The equity components of all three projects are fully funded with cash flow to complete the projects coming from
construction financing. Once stabilized, these projects are expected to contribute approximately $0.03 per unit of FFO growth, and $15
million of NAV growth.
Additionally, Killam has a development pipeline of almost 1,500 units, representing a potential investment of $500 million. One of
these projects, in Mississauga, is in the final stages of planning and approval, and construction is expected to commence in 2018. The
second phase of the Ottawa project is scheduled to commence in mid-2019, following the completion of the first phase. Developments
reinforce Killam's position as the owner of one of the newest and highest quality apartment portfolios in Canada. See further
discussion on land held for future development in the “Investment Properties” section of this MD&A.
Rising Interest Rates May Lead to Higher Interest Expense Beyond 2018
Management expects to refinance near-term maturities at lower interest rates. Killam has $77.2 million of apartment mortgages
maturing through to the end of 2018 at a weighted average interest rate of 3.54%, approximately 50 bps and 30 bps higher than
prevailing 5-year and 10-year CMHC-insured rates. $10.6 million of MHC mortgages are also maturing through to the end of 2018 at a
weighted average interest rate above current market rates. Beyond 2018, Killam may face higher interest rates on mortgage
refinancings. The average interest rate on its mortgages maturing in 2019 - 2022 are below current market rates. Should bond-yields
continue to rise, Management expects to experience an increase in interest expense after 2018. Management has spread out its debt
maturity schedule and reduced its leverage to minimize its annual exposure to a rising interest rate environment. Management plans
to maintain its conservative debt metrics and continue to flatten out its debt maturity schedule as its mortgages mature.
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PART III
Business Strategy
Maximize NOI from Existing Portfolio
Killam increases the value of its portfolio by maximizing revenue and managing expenses. To achieve NOI growth, Killam must address
three critical factors: occupancy, rental rates and operating costs. Killam focuses on customer service, leasing and marketing, employee
training and unit renovations and repositions to maximize revenues. Operating cost management is focused on energy efficiency and
technology investments, economies of scale, claims and loss management and staff and tenant education. Killam has increased same
property NOI by an average of 2.8% per annum over the past decade.

Growth through Acquisitions
Killam is expanding its portfolio through the acquisition of centrally located buildings in its target markets of Ontario and Alberta, and
continuing to add to its established portfolio in Atlantic Canada. Acquisition activity varies by year depending on opportunities and access
to capital. Killam has acquired an average of $100 million of properties each year since the organization's first acquisition in 2002.

Expansion through Development
Killam enhances its external growth opportunities with development. Killam started apartment developments in 2010 and has completed
eight projects to date, investing $136 million to construct 626 units. Killam has an experienced development team that oversees all
projects. New property construction enables Killam to control the quality and features of its buildings. Killam targets yields of 5.0% - 6.0%
on development, and expects to build at a 50 - 150 bps discount to the market capitalization rates ("cap-rates") on completion, creating
value for unitholders.
To mitigate risk and manage the short term dilution impact associated with development, Killam expects to manage the capital invested
in active developments to approximately 5% of its total assets.
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(1)
(2)

Relates to Killam's 50% interest in the podium portion (55 units) of The Alexander.
2018 forecast includes Saginaw Park and 50% of The Alexander, excluding the podium portion.

Geographic Diversification
Geographic diversification is a priority for Killam, and the organization is focused increasing the portion of NOI generated outside Atlantic
Canada. Killam is targeting expansion in selected markets including Ottawa, the Greater Toronto Area, Southwestern Ontario, Calgary and
Edmonton. Killam's strong operating platform can support a larger and more geographically diverse portfolio. Increased investment in
Ontario and Western Canada will enhance Killam's diversification and exposure to the urban centres in Canada with traditionally higher
population growth than Atlantic Canada.
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Portfolio Summary
The following table summarizes Killam's apartment, MHC and commercial portfolios by market as at December 31, 2017:
Apartment Portfolio

Nova Scotia
Halifax
Sydney
New Brunswick
Fredericton

NOI (2)
(% of Total)

Units (1)

Number of
Properties

NOI ($) (2)

5,459

63

$41,936

36.5%

139

2

$1,300

1.1%

5,598

65

$43,236

37.6%

1,422

21

$9,157

7.9%

Moncton

1,629

31

$8,680

7.5%

Saint John

1,202

14

$5,520

4.8%

Miramichi

96

1

$582

0.5%

4,349

67

$23,939

20.7%

Ontario
Ottawa

1,064

9

$6,945

6.0%

London

523

5

$4,566

4.0%

Toronto

378

2

$3,586

3.1%

Cambridge

347

3

$4,170

3.6%

2,312

19

$19,267

16.7%

St. John's

915

12

$7,315

6.3%

Grand Falls

148

2

$792

0.7%

1,063

14

$8,107

7.0%

906

18

$6,054

5.3%

Newfoundland & Labrador

Prince Edward Island
Charlottetown
Summerside

86

2

$529

0.5%

992

20

$6,583

5.8%

Edmonton

296

2

$742

0.6%

Calgary

373

2

$2,077

1.8%

669

4

$2,819

2.4%

14,983

189

$103,951

90.2%

Alberta

Total Apartments

Manufactured Home Community Portfolio
NOI (2)
(% of Total)

Sites

Number of
Communities

NOI ($) (2)

Nova Scotia

2,626

16

$4,354

3.8%

Ontario

2,145

16

$4,510

3.9%

New Brunswick

224

1

$170

0.1%

Newfoundland & Labrador

170

2

$343

0.3%

5,165

35

$9,377

8.1%

Square Footage

Number of
Properties

NOI ($)

254,000

5

$1,892

1.7%

$115,220

100.0%

Commercial Portfolio

Halifax, NS
Total Portfolio

NOI
(% of Total)

(1) Unit count includes properties held through Killam's joint arrangements. Killam has a 50% ownership interest in one property in Alberta and two properties in
Ontario, representing a proportionate ownership of 623 units of the 1,245 units in these properties. Killam manages the operations of all the co-owned properties.
(2) For the year ended December 31, 2017.
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Unique Portfolio Features
Atlantic Canada's Market Leader
Killam is the single largest residential landlord in Atlantic Canada, with a 14% market share of apartments in its core markets as of
December 31, 2017. A large portfolio in each core market provides advantages, including brand recognition, a diverse selection of
apartments in each city, higher operating margins from economies of scale and the ability to attract and retain top talent. With strong
rental fundamentals in Atlantic Canada, Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation's ("CMHC") Fall 2017 Rental Market Reports reported
improved occupancy in all six of Killam's Atlantic Canadian markets versus October 2016. This corresponds with Killam's experience in the
market, with five of six of its Atlantic Canadian markets experiencing improved occupancy during 2017 compared to 2016.

Modest Exposure to Rent Control
Over 75% of Killam's current apartment portfolio is not impacted by rent control, allowing Killam to move rents to market rates annually.
Prince Edward Island, representing 6.3% of Killam’s apartment NOI, is the only province in Atlantic Canada with rent control for
apartments. Killam's Ontario portfolio, accounting for 18.5% of apartment NOI, is also subject to rent control. In Ontario, landlords can
move rents to market on a unit-by-unit basis as they become vacant. Ontario and Nova Scotia both have rent control for MHCs. In both
provinces, rent controls do not apply to new tenants. Overall, only 30% of Killam's NOI is generated in markets subject to rent control;
however, owners may apply for above-guideline increases to offset significant capital expenditures in these regions. Killam analyzes each
property on a regular basis, considering its location, tenant base and vacancy, to evaluate the ability to increase rents for existing tenants
and on turnovers.
CMHC Insured Debt Available for Over 90% of Killam’s Portfolio
Apartment owners are eligible for CMHC mortgage loan insurance. These policies eliminate default risk for lenders, resulting in lower
interest rates than those available for conventional mortgages. Approximately 80% of Killam's apartment debt is CMHC-insured. As
mortgages are renewed and new properties are financed, Killam expects to increase the percentage of mortgages with CMHC-insured
debt. CMHC insurance is not available for the owners of MHCs; however, the financing is available to manufactured home owners,
increasing the affordability of these homes.
Focused on Service
Killam takes pride in offering tenants well-maintained properties, responding to service requests in a timely manner and providing an
attractive housing value proposition. In-house educational programs enhance employees’ skills to service current and prospective
tenants. Annually, Management engages an independent market research firm to measure tenants’ satisfaction through an on-line survey
(approximately 2,900 respondents in 2017). Killam’s 2017 survey results support Killam’s focus on service with a 90% tenant satisfaction
rating, the same rating received in 2016 and 2015.
Geographic Diversification
Killam is focused on increasing its geographic diversification through the acquisition and development of properties in its core markets in
Ontario and Alberta. Killam’s current apartment portfolio consists of 2,312 apartment units in Ontario, up from 225 units in 2010 when
Killam first entered the market, and includes properties in Ottawa, Toronto, London and Cambridge. Killam has also assembled a portfolio
of 669 units in Calgary and Edmonton, of which 362 units were acquired in 2017. In addition to apartments, 42% of Killam’s MHC sites are
located in Ontario.
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Core Market Update
Halifax
36% of Killam’s NOI is generated by its Halifax properties. Halifax is the largest city in Eastern Canada and is home to 18% of Atlantic
Canadians. The city's rental market totals 47,303 units, representing 47% of Atlantic Canada's rental universe, as measured by CMHC.
Halifax’s diverse economy generates 56% of Nova Scotia’s GDP with 45% of the province’s population. Employment is concentrated in
the public service, health care, higher education, manufacturing and retail and wholesale trade. Halifax is home to Canada's largest
Armed Forces Base, by personnel, and the Department of National Defence is the city's single largest employer. With six degreegranting universities and three large community college campuses, Halifax has approximately 36,000 students, including 6,000
international students.
The Conference Board of Canada's 2017 Autumn Metropolitan Outlook forecasts that Halifax's GDP will expand by 1.4% in 2017, and
2.2% in each of 2018 and 2019, fuelled by growth in the manufacturing and retail sectors. Over the mid-term, construction projects in
the city, including Irving Shipyard's $25 billion shipbuilding contract, and expansion in the service sector, will contribute to economic
growth. The $220 million Ocean Frontier Institute, led by Dalhousie University, with funding from the Canadian government and local
philanthropists, will build on Halifax's standing as a world leader in oceanic research. Halifax is also anchoring Atlantic Canada's bid for
the Federal Government's Ocean Supercluster program, an initiative that could see $1 billion invested in innovation projects across the
region.
Halifax has experienced improved occupancy and growing rental rates due to economic and population growth and demographic
trends as baby boomers shift to apartment living from home ownership. International and intraprovincial migration have also
contributed to demand for apartments in the city, with Halifax experiencing its largest population increase since the Second World War
during the 12-month period ended June 2016, due primarily to immigration. The following chart summarizes population growth by
source from 2005 to 2016, the most recent year for which detailed population growth data is available:

Source: Statistics Canada
CMHC, in its Fall 2017 Housing Market Outlook ("CMHC 2017 Outlook"), projects Halifax's population to grow from 426,000 in 2016 to
445,000 by 2019, a 4% increase. Immigration will be a significant source of new residents, through the Provincial Nominee Program and
the Atlantic Immigration Pilot Program, as well as migration from rural Nova Scotia. CMHC expects the employment level to rise by
2.5% over the same period to 232,000.
While overall housing starts have remained relatively flat over the past decade, there has been a shift in the mix of new dwellings.
Historically, single-detached starts have exceeded multi-units; however, multi-unit construction has outpaced single family for each of
the past five years, a trend that is expected to continue. CMHC reported 1,826 multi-family starts in 2017 and in its 2017 Outlook
forecasts 2,305 and 2,050 starts in 2018 and 2019. Single family starts of 926 were reported in 2017, and 740 and 700 single family
starts are forecasted in 2018 and 2019. With expected economic and population growth and the introduction of new rental product,
CMHC expects the average monthly rental rate for a two-bedroom unit to increase to $1,225 by 2019 from $1,125 today, a 9% increase;
however, vacancy rates are expected to rise modestly to 3.3%. Halifax ended 2017 on a high note, with CMHC reporting average
apartment vacancy of 2.3%, compared to 2.6% in 2016, in its Fall 2017 Rental Market Report.
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The following chart summarizes Halifax's housing start activity from 2007 to 2017:

Source: CMHC

New Brunswick
21% of Killam’s NOI is generated by apartments in New Brunswick's three major urban centres - Fredericton, Moncton and Saint John.
Fredericton is the provincial capital and home to the province's largest university and a significant public sector workforce. Moncton is
the province's largest city and is a transportation and distribution hub for Atlantic Canada. Moncton has experienced strong population
growth in recent years, driven by urbanization from French communities in Northern New Brunswick. The Saint John market,
representing 5% of Killam’s NOI, is focused on industry and energy.
Stronger occupancy in the province over the past year is due primarily to intraprovincial and international migration and demand from
downsizing boomers. Additionally, emigration has slowed with an improved provincial economy. These factors, combined with limited
new construction, have resulted in improved occupancy. CMHC's 2017 Outlook forecasts the population of these three centres to grow
by almost 7,300 people, or 5%, between 2017 and 2019. Actual vacancy reported in CMHC's 2017 Rental Market Report in late 2017 in
Fredericton, Moncton and Saint John was 2.2%, 4.5% and 4.7%, respectively.
Newfoundland and Labrador
7% of Killam’s apartment NOI is generated in Newfoundland. Following a decade of strong economic growth from investment in the
offshore oil sector, this region has adjusted to the impact of lower oil prices. In its Fall 2017 Rental Market Report, CMHC reported an
improvement to St. John's apartment occupancy, following eight years of rising vacancy. CMHC reported 7.1% vacancy in St. John's in
October 2017. Following a decline in new rental product in St. John's, the city's rental market has stabilized.
Prince Edward Island
Killam has an 18% share of the Charlottetown market, the provincial capital and economic center of Prince Edward Island. The
Charlottetown market accounted for 5% of Killam’s total NOI in 2017. As a proportion of its population, Prince Edward Island had
amongst the highest rates of international immigration in Canada over the past year, leading to significant reduction in the region's
vacancy. CMHC's 2017 Outlook expects this trend to continue through 2019, with Charlottetown's population increasing by 7% to
77,500, from the 2016 base of 72,344. CMHC reported Charlottetown vacancy of 0.9% in October 2017 and is forecasting vacancy to
remain below 1% in 2018 and 2019. Killam's occupancy in PEI is near 100% and rental rate growth has been in-line with legislated
increases.
Ontario
Killam's Ontario apartment portfolio generated 17% of NOI in 2017. The Ontario rental market is strong as the province continues to
experience economic and population growth attributable to high levels of international immigration. Additionally, a widening gap
between the cost of home ownership and renting is increasing the demand for rental stock. CMHC reported a 2.7% increase in average
rents for the overall Ontario rental market and a 10 bps reduction in vacancy compared to 2016 in its 2017 Rental Market Report.
CMHC projects that vacancy rates will remain near 2.0% through 2019 driven by higher housing prices, international migration and an
aging population, and rental rates will increase by 4.7% over this period.
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On May 18, 2017, the Government of Ontario passed the Rental Fairness Act, extending rent control to properties built after 1991. For
2017, rental increases on existing leases were limited to 1.5%. On June 23, 2017, the rental increase ceiling was set at 1.8% for 2018.
Future increases will be pegged to inflation. Landlords have the ability to increase rents to market on unit turns.
Alberta
Two percent of Killam's 2017 NOI was earned in Alberta through its 50% interest in a Calgary high-rise apartment building, 66-unit lowrise complex acquired in January 2017, and 296-unit property located in Sherwood Park, Edmonton that closed in two stages during
August and December 2017. The Alberta rental market appears to be stabilizing following a downturn due to lower oil prices. In its 2017
Rental Market Report, CMHC reported 6.3% vacancy for Calgary, improved from 7.0% in 2016, and an average monthly rental rate of
$1,247 for a two-bedroom apartment, down 1.3% from the previous year. In Edmonton, CMHC reported 7.0% vacancy, versus 7.1% in
2016, and an average monthly rental rate of $1,215 for a two-bedroom apartment, down 1.6% from a year earlier. In its Fall Market
Outlook, CMHC forecasts vacancy in Calgary to fall to 5.0% by 2019 as migration due to economic growth drives rental demand. In
Edmonton, CMHC is expecting vacancy to fall to 5.2% by 2019, as stronger employment leads to population growth.

PART IV
2017 Financial Overview
Consolidated Results

For the years ended December 31,
Total Portfolio
2017
Property revenue

Same Property

2016 % Change

$187,377 $175,269

6.9%

2017

Non-Same Property

2016 % Change

$170,485 $166,205

2017

2016 % Change

2.6%

$16,892

$9,064

86.4%

Property operating expenses
General operating expenses

30,444

29,097

4.6%

27,608

26,868

2.8%

2,836

2,229

27.2%

Utility and fuel expenses

19,668

20,462

(3.9)%

18,370

19,486

(5.7)%

1,298

976

33.0%

22,045

20,286

8.7%

19,912

18,879

5.5%

2,133

1,407

51.6%

$72,157

$69,845

3.3%

$65,890

$65,233

1.0%

$6,267

$4,612

35.9%

$115,220 $105,424

9.3%

$104,595 $100,972

3.6%

$10,625

$4,452

138.7%

Property taxes
Total operating expenses
NOI
Operating margin %

61.5%

60.1%

140 bps

61.4%

60.8%

60 bps

62.9%

49.1% 1380 bps

Same property results include 93.7% of Killam's portfolio owned during comparable 2017 and 2016 periods. Non-same property results
include properties acquired and developments completed in 2016 and 2017, properties sold and adjustments to normalize for nonoperational revenues or expenses.
Same property revenue grew by 2.6% for the year ended December 31, 2017, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2016, due to
higher rental rates and improved occupancy as a result of strong market fundamentals, particularly in New Brunswick, Nova Scotia and
Prince Edward Island. Total property operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2017 were 1.0% higher than the prior year as
utility and fuel expense savings from lower consumption, due to the energy efficiency program, and lower natural gas prices in NS were
more than offset by higher property taxes and inflationary operating cost pressures. Overall, same property NOI grew by 3.6% for the year
ended December 31, 2017, as compared to 2016, and the operating margin increased by 60 bps.
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Apartment Results
For the years ended December 31,
Total
2017
Property revenue

Same Property

2016 % Change

$167,718 $155,839

7.6%

2017

Non-Same Property

2016 % Change

$155,351 $151,523

2017

2016

% Change

2.5%

$12,367

$4,316

186.5%

1,575

926

70.1%

811

427

89.9%

Property operating expenses
General operating expenses

25,470

24,196

5.3%

23,895

23,270

2.7%

Utility and fuel expenses

17,772

18,431

(3.6)%

16,961

18,004

(5.8)%

Property taxes
Total operating expenses
NOI

20,525

18,823

9.0%

19,297

18,283

5.5%

1,228

540

127.4%

$63,767

$61,450

3.8%

$60,153

$59,557

1.0%

$3,614

$1,893

90.9%

$103,951

$94,389

10.1%

$95,198

$91,966

3.5%

$8,753

$2,423

261.2%

Operating margin %

62.0%

60.6%

140 bps

61.3%

60.7%

60 bps

70.8%

56.1% 1470 bps

Apartment Revenue
Total apartment revenue for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $167.7 million, an increase of 7.6% over the year ended December
31, 2016. Revenue growth was due to the contribution from recently acquired properties in Calgary, Edmonton, Halifax, London and
Ottawa, improved occupancy and higher rental rates.
Same property apartment revenue increased 2.5% for the year ended December 31, 2017, with strong leasing activity contributing to a 60
bps improvement in same property occupancy and a 1.8% increase in average rental rates. Rental incentives of 70 bps of revenue for the
year ended December 31, 2017 were modestly lower than 2016, as fewer incentives were offered given strong market conditions.

Apartment Occupancy Analysis by Core Market (% of Residential Rent)(1)
Total Occupancy

Same Property Occupancy

Halifax, NS

5,459

97.0%

96.1%

Change
(bps)
90

Moncton, NB

1,629

95.9%

94.9%

100

95.9%

94.9%

100

Fredericton, NB

1,422

96.4%

94.8%

160

96.5%

94.8%

170

Saint John, NB

1,202

95.1%

92.5%

260

95.1%

92.5%

260

915

94.2%

95.2%

(100)

94.2%

95.2%

(100)

For the years ended December 31,

St. John's, NL
Charlottetown, PE

# of Units

2017

2016

2017

2016

97.0%

96.2%

Change
(bps)
80

906

99.3%

98.5%

80

99.3%

98.5%

80

Ontario

2,312

96.3%

97.3%

(100)

96.7%

97.9%

(120)

Alberta

669

88.5%

86.8%

170

93.6%

86.8%

680

Other Atlantic locations

469

96.4%

97.7%

(130)

96.4%

97.7%

(130)

14,983

96.3%

95.8%

50

96.5%

95.9%

60

Total Apartments (weighted average)

(1) Occupancy as a percentage of residential rent is calculated as vacancy (in dollars) divided by gross potential residential rent (in dollars) for the period.

For discussion on changes in occupancy levels during the past year, refer to page 19 of this MD&A under section "Apartment Same
Property NOI by Region".
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Average Rent Analysis by Core Market
As at December 31,
Average Rent

Same Property Average Rent

# of Units

2017

2016

2017

2016

% Change

Halifax, NS

5,459

$1,028

$989

3.9%

$1,005

$983

2.2%

Moncton, NB

1,629

$843

$843

0.0%

$843

$843

0.0%

Fredericton, NB

1,422

$936

$915

2.3%

$939

$917

2.4%

Saint John, NB

1,202

$796

$784

1.5%

$796

$784

1.5%

915

$971

$962

0.9%

$971

$962

0.9%

St. John's, NL
Charlottetown, PE

% Change

906

$925

$905

2.2%

$925

$905

2.2%

Ontario

2,312

$1,362

$1,308

4.1%

$1,367

$1,331

2.7%

Alberta

669

$1,350

$1,188

13.6%

$1,131

$1,188

(4.8)%

Other Atlantic

469

$874

$855

2.2%

$874

$855

2.2%

14,983

$1,018

$973

4.6%

$985

$968

1.8%

Total Apartments (weighted average)

Same Property Rental Increases - Tenant Renewal versus Unit Turn
Killam turns approximately 35% of its units each year. Upon turn, Killam will typically generate rental increases by raising rates to market
and by investing capital to upgrade units. The following chart details the average rental increases realized upon turns and lease renewals
on a same property basis:
Same Property Rental Increases
For the years ended December 31,
Upon lease renewal

2017
1.0%

2016

Change (bps)

1.2%

(20)

Upon unit turn

3.4%

2.2%

120

Weighted average rental increase

1.8%

1.6%

20
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Apartment Expenses
Total operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2017 were $63.8 million, a 3.8% increase over 2016, due primarily to
incremental costs associated with recent acquisitions, as well property tax increases and inflationary operating cost pressures,
partially offset by utility savings from efficiency initiatives and lower gas pricing in Nova Scotia. Killam increased its apartment
operating margin by 140 bps over the past year as revenues associated with additions to the portfolio and higher occupancy more
than offset the incremental costs of operating the buildings.
Total same property operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2017 were 1.0% higher than the year ended December 31,
2016, as savings in utilities from lower consumption due to the energy efficiency program and lower gas prices in Nova Scotia were
more than offset by higher property taxes due to increased assessments and inflationary cost increases in salaries, contract services,
and repairs and maintenance. In total, the same property margin improved by 60 bps during the year ended December 31, 2017.

Apartment Utility and Fuel Expenses - Same Property
For the years ended December 31,
2017

2016

% Change

Natural gas

$4,620

$5,313

(13.0)%

Electricity

6,797

6,892

(1.4)%

Water

4,411

4,724

(6.6)%

Oil

1,101

1,040

5.9%

32

35

(8.6)%

$16,961

$18,004

(5.8)%

Other
Total utility and fuel expenses

Killam’s apartments are heated with natural gas (57%), electricity (33%), oil (7%), steam (2%) and propane (1%). Electricity costs relate
primarily to common areas as unit electricity costs are typically paid by tenants, reducing Killam’s exposure to the majority of the 4,900
units heated with electricity. Fuel costs associated with central natural gas or oil-fired heating plants are paid by Killam.
Utility and fuel expenses accounted for approximately 28% of Killam’s total apartment same property operating expenses for the year
ended December 31, 2017. Total same property utility and fuel expenses were 5.8% less than the year ended December 31, 2016.
Same property natural gas expenses for 2017 were 13.0% lower than 2016. Savings compared to the prior year were primarily attributable
to Nova Scotia, where gas expense was down 25% from 2016 due to a 19% reduction in gas costs and reduced consumption levels in Q4
following a warmer fall than 2016. This was partially offset by modestly higher natural gas prices in New Brunswick and Ontario, and
increased consumption following the conversion of a large property in New Brunswick to natural gas from heating oil.
Electricity costs for the year ended December 31, 2017 were 1.4% lower than 2016 primarily due to lower rates in Ontario and
consumption savings from LED lighting retrofits at several properties over the past twelve months.
Despite higher rates, water expense for same properties decreased by 6.6% for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to 2016.
Killam has installed 8,300 low-flow toilets over the past two years, saving an estimated 400 million litres of water annually across the
portfolio, generating approximately $1.0 million of water cost savings.
Heating oil costs increased by 5.9% in 2017 compared to 2016 due to a 19% increase in commodity prices due to global oil prices, partially
offset by lower consumption due to conversion of a large property in New Brunswick to natural gas heating.
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Apartment Same Property NOI by Region
For the years ended December 31,
Property Revenue
2017
Halifax

$60,960

Property Expenses

2016 % Change
$59,393

2.6%

2017

Net Operating Income

2016 % Change

($21,842) ($22,124)

2017

2016

% Change

(1.3)%

$39,118

$37,269

5.0%

Ontario

23,025

22,783

1.1%

(8,454)

(8,150)

3.7%

14,571

14,633

(0.4)%

Moncton

16,869

16,197

4.1%

(8,096)

(7,922)

2.2%

8,773

8,275

6.0%

Fredericton

15,512

14,863

4.4%

(6,514)

(6,343)

2.7%

8,998

8,520

5.6%

Saint John

11,014

10,648

3.4%

(5,532)

(5,522)

0.2%

5,482

5,126

6.9%

St. John's

10,202

10,217

(0.1)%

(3,041)

(3,052)

(0.4)%

7,161

7,165

(0.1)%

9,993

9,713

2.9%

(3,970)

(3,763)

5.5%

6,023

5,950

1.2%

Charlottetown
Alberta

2,638

2,668

(1.1)%

Other Atlantic locations

5,138

5,041

1.9%

$155,351 $151,523

2.5%

(797)

(750)

(1,907)

(1,931)

($60,153) ($59,557)

6.3%

1,841

1,918

(4.0)%

(1.2)%

3,231

3,110

3.9%

$95,198

$91,966

3.5%

1.0%

Halifax
Halifax is Killam’s largest rental market, contributing 41% of apartment same property NOI for the year ended December 31, 2017. Same
property apartment revenue increased by 2.6% for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to the prior year, due to an 80 bps
increase in average occupancy and a 2.2% increase in average rent.
Total operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2017 were 1.3% lower than 2016. These savings were driven by lower natural
gas prices during the winter heating season, and lower consumption from warmer fall weather and energy efficiency initiatives. These
savings more than offset property tax increases, higher snow removal and garbage collection costs and general operating cost inflation.
The net impact was a 5.0% increase in NOI for the year ended December 31, 2017, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2016.
Ontario
Killam’s Ontario portfolio generated 15% of Killam’s apartment same property NOI for the year ended December 31, 2017. Revenue
increased by 1.1% over the year ended December 31, 2016, as a 2.7% increase in average rental rates more than offset a 120 bps
reduction in occupancy. During 2017, Killam assumed responsibility for leasing the 739-unit Kanata Lakes portfolio following the expiry
of rental guarantees in place at two of the properties. The expiry of the guarantees and subsequent lease up resulted in a 300 bps
decrease in occupancy in these properties in 2017 compared to 2016. Even better, at December 31, 2017, these properties were
stabilized with vacancy of less than 2%.
Total operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2017 were 3.7% higher than the same period in 2016 due primarily to a 5.9%
increase in property tax expenses from rising assessments, and operating cost inflation, partially offset by utility savings as a result of
lower electricity rates and reduced consumption following a large LED lighting retrofit project. In aggregate, same property NOI was
0.4% lower than the year ended December 31, 2016.
New Brunswick
Killam’s apartments in Moncton, Fredericton and Saint John accounted for 24% of apartment same property NOI for the year ended
December 31, 2017. Same property revenues increased by 4.0% for the year ended December 31, 2017, due to occupancy growth of
175 bps in these markets and rental rate growth in Fredericton and Saint John. Total operating expenses for the year ended December
31, 2017 were 1.8% higher than the same period in 2016 primarily due to property tax assessment increases. In total, the NB portfolio
achieved an impressive 6.1% NOI growth over 2016.
Newfoundland and Labrador
Killam’s Newfoundland properties accounted for 8% of Killam’s apartment same property NOI in 2017. Same property revenue
decreased 0.1% for the year ended December 31, 2017, as compared to 2016. While rental rates have increased by 0.9%, current
year occupancy is 100 bps lower due to softness in the economy as a result of reduced activity in the offshore oil sector. As at
December 31, 2017, occupancy had improved 190 bps to 96.1% as a result of successful leasing efforts. Total operating expenses for
the year ended December 31, 2017, were 0.4% lower than 2016 primarily due to net savings from internalizing property
management effective April 1, 2017. Newfoundland was the only region where Killam engaged a third party to manage its properties.
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Prince Edward Island
Killam’s Charlottetown portfolio contributed 6% of apartment same property NOI. Charlottetown achieved 2.9% revenue growth for
the year ended December 31, 2017, as compared to the same period in 2016 due to strong rental rate growth and close to maximum
occupancy. Total operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2017 were 5.5% higher than the same period in 2016 due
primarily to higher heating oil expenses and additional spend on snow removal.
Alberta
Killam has a 50% interest in a 307-unit building in downtown Calgary that accounted for 2% of apartment same property NOI. Killam's
Calgary high-rise recorded a 1.1% reduction in revenue compared to 2016. Despite lower rents, Killam has seen a marked
improvement in occupancy, increasing by 680 bps to 93.6% versus 86.8% in 2016. In addition, Killam secured a tenant for
approximately 75% of the ancillary commercial space in this building that started contributing rental income in July 2017. Same
property operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2017 were 6.3% higher than the same period in 2016 due primarily to
higher natural gas costs during the heating season.

MHC Results
For the years ended December 31,
Total Portfolio
2017
Property revenue

Same Property

2016 % Change

$15,139

$14,715

General operating expenses

3,738

Utility and fuel expenses

1,409
615

608

Total operating expenses

$5,762

$5,728

NOI

$9,377

$8,987

2017

Non-Same Property

2016 % Change

2.9%

$15,134

$14,681

3,673

1.8%

3,713

1,447

(2.6)%

1,409

1.2%

615

0.6%
4.3%

2017

2016 % Change

3.1%

$5

$34

(85.3)%

3,598

3.2%

25

75

(66.7)%

1,481

(4.9)%

—

(34)

(100.0)%

596

3.2%

—

12

(100.0)%

$5,737

$5,675

1.1%

$25

$53

(52.8)%

$9,397

$9,006

4.3%

($20)

Property operating expenses

Property taxes

Operating margin %

61.9%

61.1%

80 bps

62.1%

61.3%

80 bps

—%

($19)
—%

5.3%

—

The MHC business generated 8.1% of Killam's NOI for the year ended December 31, 2017. The MHC portfolio generates its highest
revenues and NOI during the second and third quarters of the year due to the contribution from its seven seasonal communities that
generate approximately 60% of their NOI between July and September.
MHC same property revenue increased 3.1% for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to 2016, as rents rose by 2.5%, to $248
per site from $242 per site in 2016 due to rental rate increases in permanent parks and increased seasonal and transient revenue in
Killam's seasonal communities. Occupancy of 97.7% for the year ended December 31, 2017 was consistent with the prior year level of
97.8% in 2016.
Total same property expenses increased by 1.1% for the year ended December 31, 2017, as compared to 2016, primarily due to operating
cost inflation, expense timing and property tax increases, partially offset by lower electricity costs at the Ontario seasonal parks due to
rate reductions. Overall, the MHC portfolio generated same property NOI growth of 4.3% for the year ended December 31, 2017, as
compared to 2016.

Commercial Results
Killam's commercial property portfolio consists of five properties located in Halifax, Nova Scotia, totaling 254,000 SF of leaseable
space. The largest commercial property is The Brewery Market (158,000 SF), centrally located beside The Alexander development.
Other commercial assets include an 18,000 SF office building, which is slated for redevelopment in the future, two commercial
buildings in north-end Halifax, one of which is Killam's head office. Killam also has another 118,000 SF of ancillary commercial
space in various residential properties across the portfolio, which is included in apartment results.
Killam's commercial property portfolio contributed $1.9 million, or 1.7%, of Killam's total NOI for the year ended December 31,
2017. Occupancy was 95.7% for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to 98.9% for the year ended December 31, 2016,
due to the loss of a tenant at the Medical Arts building that is slated for redevelopment.
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PART V
Other Income and Expenses
Other Income
For the years ended December 31,
2017

2016

$847

$1,227

% Change
(31.0)%

Other income includes property management fees, interest on bank balances and loans receivable and net revenue associated with
the sale of homes in Killam’s MHC segment. The 31.0% reduction year over year is primarily due to lower interest income as the
average cash balance was higher in 2016 and a $4.0 million mezzanine loan that was repaid to Killam in Q3-2016.

Financing Costs
For the years ended December 31,
Mortgage, loan and construction loan interest
Interest on exchangeable units
Amortization of fair value adjustments on assumed debt
Amortization of loss on interest rate hedge
Unrealized gain on derivative liability
Convertible debenture interest
Capitalized interest

2017

2016

% Change

$32,526

$30,919

5.2%

2,383

2,659

(10.4)%

(214)

(415)

48.4%

60

59

1.7%

(297)

(21.9)%

(362)
715
(1,982)
$33,126

4,178
(910)
$36,193

(82.9)%
(117.8)%
(8.5)%

Total financing costs were $3.1 million, or 8.5%, lower for the year ended December 31, 2017, as compared to 2016.
Mortgage and loan interest expense was $32.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, an increase of $1.6 million, or 5.2%,
compared to 2016. Killam's total debt balance increased by $113.5 million over the past twelve months as the REIT secured financing
for acquisitions and developments. The average interest rate on refinancings in 2017 was 2.61%, 106 bps lower than the average
interest rate on expiring debt.
Interest expense associated with the convertible debentures decreased by $3.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2017,
compared to 2016, following the redemption of $57.5 million and $46 million of convertible debentures in July 2016 and April 2017.
Capitalized interest increased $1.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, as compared to 2016. Capitalized interest will vary
depending on the number of development projects underway and their stages in the development cycle. Interest costs associated
with development projects are capitalized to the respective development property until substantial completion.
Killam manages interest rate risk by entering into fixed-rate mortgages and staggering maturity dates. Additionally, Killam may enter
into forward interest rate hedges. $90 million (or 8.2%) of Killam’s fixed mortgage and vendor debt mature in the next twelve months.
If maturing mortgages are refinanced on similar terms, with the exception of a 100 bps increase/(decrease) in interest rates, financing
costs would increase/(decrease) by $0.9 million per year.
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Depreciation Expense
For the years ended December 31,
2017

2016

$787

$884

% Change
(11.0)%

Depreciation expense relates to Killam’s head office building, vehicles, heavy equipment and office furniture, fixtures and computer
software and equipment. Although the vehicles and equipment are used at various properties, they are not considered investment
properties and are depreciated for accounting purposes. The reduction in depreciation expense for the year ended December 31, 2017,
compared to the same period in 2016, was primarily due to costs associated with upgrades to Killam's accounting and property
management software in 2016.

Amortization of Deferred Financing Costs
For the years ended December 31,
2017

2016

$1,720

$1,505

% Change
14.3%

Deferred financing costs include mortgage assumption fees, application fees and legal costs related to financings and refinancings.
These costs are amortized over the term of the respective mortgage. CMHC insurance fees are amortized over the amortization
period of the mortgage.
Deferred financing amortization costs increased 14.3% for the year ended December 31, 2017, following $101.7 million of mortgage
refinancings as well as $83.4 million of new mortgage placements associated with property acquisitions and a completed
development project over the past year.

Administration Expenses
For the years ended December 31,
Administration (including REIT conversion costs)
REIT conversion costs
Administration (excluding REIT conversion costs)
As a percentage of total revenues

2017

2016

% Change

$12,958

$12,733

1.8%

(236)

(1,548)

(84.8)%

$12,722

$11,185

13.7%

6.8%

6.3%

50 bps

Administration expenses include expenses that are not specific to individual properties, including TSX related costs, management and
head office salaries and benefits, marketing costs, office equipment leases, professional fees and other head office and regional office
expenses. Administration expenses for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 include one-time costs associated with the REIT
conversion.
During the year ended December 31, 2017, total administration expenses increased by $1.5 million, or 13.7%, compared to the year
ended December 31, 2016, due to the timing of recognition of Killam's compensation and benefits program.
Management is targeting annualized administrative costs of approximately 6.5% of total revenues for 2018.
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Fair Value Adjustments
For the years ended December 31,
2017
Investment properties
Convertible debentures
Deferred unit-based compensation
Exchangeable units

$64,857
690
(534)
(8,811)
$56,202

2016
($3,749)
1,118
(826)
(7,774)
($11,231)

% Change
1,830.0%
(38.3)%
35.4%
(13.3)%
600.4%

Killam recognized $64.9 million in fair value gains on investment properties for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to $3.7
million in fair value losses on investment properties for the year ended December 31, 2016. The fair value gains recognized during 2017
were primarily due to NOI growth in Killam's investment properties as a result of the strong operating performance in Killam's core
markets.
For the year ended December 31, 2017, there was an unrealized gain of $0.7 million on the outstanding convertible debentures,
compared to a $1.1 million gain in 2016, due to the change in the market price of the instruments. Killam redeemed its remaining
outstanding convertible debentures on April 13, 2017.
Restricted trust units ("RTUs") governed by Killam's RTU Plan are awarded to certain members of management as a portion of their
compensation. Non-executive members of the Board of Trustees have the right to receive a percentage of their annual retainer in the
form of RTUs. This aligns the interests of Management and the Trustees with those of unitholders. For the year ended December 31,
2017, there was an unrealized loss of $0.5 million, versus a $0.8 million loss in 2016, due to appreciation in the market price of Killam's
trust units.
Killam also recorded a fair value loss associated with its exchangeable units in 2017. Distributions paid on exchangeable units are
consistent with distributions paid to Killam’s unitholders. The exchangeable units are redeemable on a one-for-one basis into trust units at
the option of the holder. The fair value of the exchangeable units is based on the trading price of Killam’s trust units. For the year ended
December 31, 2017, there was an unrealized loss on remeasurement of $8.8 million, compared to a $7.8 million loss in 2016, due to
appreciation in the market price of Killam's trust units.

Deferred Tax Expense
Killam converted to a real estate investment trust effective January 1, 2016, and as such qualifies as a REIT pursuant to the Income Tax
(Canada) (the “Tax Act”). The Tax Act contains legislation affecting the tax treatment of publicly traded trusts (the “SIFT Legislation”)
and the criteria for qualifying for the real estate investment trust exemption (the “REIT Exemption”), which would exempt Killam from
income tax under the SIFT Legislation. Killam is classified as a flow-through vehicle; therefore, only deferred taxes of Killam’s corporate
subsidiaries are recorded. If Killam fails to distribute the required amount of income to unitholders or if Killam fails to qualify as a REIT
under the Tax Act, substantial adverse tax consequences may occur. Management operates Killam in a manner that enables Killam to
continually qualify as a REIT and expects to distribute all of its taxable income to unitholders, and therefore is entitled to deduct such
distributions for income tax purposes.
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PART VI
Per Unit Calculations
As an open-ended mutual fund trust, Killam unitholders may redeem their trust units, subject to certain restrictions. As a result, Killam's
trust units are classified as financial liabilities under IFRS. Consequently, all per unit calculations are considered non-IFRS measures. The
following table reconciles the number of units used in the calculation of non-IFRS financial measures on a per unit basis:
Outstanding
Number of
Units (000s)

Weighted Average
Number of Units (000s)

For the years ended December 31,
Trust units
Exchangeable units
Basic number of units

2017
73,711

2016
63,467

% Change
16.1%

2017
80,565

3,864

4,445

(13.1)%

3,863

77,575

67,912

14.2%

84,428

202

138

46.4%

—

Plus:
Units under RTU plan
Convertible debentures

881

5,331

(83.5)%

Diluted number of units

78,658

73,381

7.2%

—
84,428

Funds from Operations
FFO are recognized as an industry-wide standard measure of real estate entities’ operating performance, and Management considers FFO
per unit to be a key measure of operating performance. REALpac, Canada’s senior national industry association for owners and managers
of investment real estate, has recommended guidelines for a standard industry calculation of FFO based on IFRS. Killam calculates FFO in
accordance with the REALpac definition, with the exception of the add-back of REIT conversion costs as REALpac does not address this
specific type of adjustment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, FFO does not have a standardized meaning under IFRS and therefore may not
be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other publicly traded companies. FFO for the years ended December 31, 2017
and 2016 are calculated as follows:
For the years ended December 31,
Net income
Fair value adjustments

2017

2016

$104,760

$71,439

46.6%

11,231

(600.4)%

(56,202)

% Change

Loss on disposition

259

264

(1.9)%

Non-controlling interest

(28)

(531)

94.7%

18,659

(27,598)

(167.6)%

2,383

2,659

(10.4)%

Deferred tax expense (recovery)
Interest expense related to exchangeable units
Unrealized gain on derivative liability
Depreciation on owner-occupied building
REIT conversion costs

(362)

(297)

21.9%

168

171

(1.8)%
(84.8)%

236

1,548

$69,873

$58,886

18.7%

FFO unit - basic

$0.90

$0.87

3.4%

FFO unit - diluted

$0.90

$0.86

4.7%

77,575

67,912

14.2%

78,658

73,381

7.2%

FFO

Weighted average number of units - basic (000s)
Weighted average number of units - diluted (000s)

(1)

(1) The calculation of weighted average number of units outstanding for diluted FFO includes the convertible debentures for the years ended December
31, 2017 and 2016, as they are dilutive.
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Killam earned FFO of $69.9 million, or $0.90 per unit (diluted), for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to $58.9 million, or
$0.86 per unit (diluted), for the year ended December 31, 2016. The 4.7% increase in FFO per unit is attributable to contributions from
acquisitions and completed developments ($4.8 million), same property NOI growth ($3.6 million), interest expense savings on the
redemption of the convertible debentures ($3.5 million), interest expense savings on refinancings ($1.2 million) and increased net
capitalized interest ($0.2 million). These increases were partially offset by higher administration costs (excluding REIT conversion costs)
($1.5 million), 2017 property dispositions ($0.4 million), a reduction in other income ($0.4 million) and a 14.2% increase in the weighted
average number of units outstanding from equity raises in March and November 2017.
FFO have been adjusted for costs incurred for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 to complete the conversion from a
corporation to a REIT effective January 1, 2016. These costs were unique to Killam's corporate structure and therefore have been removed
for FFO purposes. The REIT costs incurred during 2017 relate to professional services to support tax requirements following the
conversion to a REIT.

Adjusted Funds from Operations
AFFO is a non-IFRS supplemental measure used by real estate analysts and investors to assess FFO after taking into consideration capital
spent to maintain the earning capacity of a portfolio. AFFO may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other real estate
trusts or companies. Management believes that significant judgment is required to determine the annual capital expenditures that relate
to maintaining earning capacity of an asset compared to the capital expenditures that will lead to higher rents or more efficient
operations.
Details of Killam's total actual capital expenditures by category are included in the Capital Improvements section on page 31, and Killam's
sources of funding are disclosed in the Liquidity and Capital Resources section on page 38 of this MD&A.
Calculating Maintenance Capex Reserve for AFFO
In February 2017, REALpac issued "White Paper on Funds From Operations & Adjusted Funds From Operations for IFRS", updating their
guidance on maintenance capital expenditures ("maintenance capex") to be used in the calculation of AFFO and ACFO. Killam has elected
to adopt a maintenance reserve based on a three-year historical average of the capital spent to maintain and sustain Killam's properties,
an approach endorsed by REALPac. The following table details Killam's capital investments attributable to value-enhancing and
maintenance projects for each of the past three years:
Maintenance Capex Reserve - Apartments
2017

2016

2015

$26,959

$30,139

$28,511

Building

(5,365)

(6,571)

(6,036)

Suite upgrades

(9,753)

(9,597)

(9,162)

(749)

(919)

(1,133)

(15,867)

(17,087)

(16,331)

$11,092

$13,052

$12,180

Total Capital Investments
Value-enhancing Capital Spend

Equipment & other
Maintenance Capex
Maintenance Capex - % of Total Capital
Number of units

(1)

Maintenance Capex per unit

41%

43%

13,712

13,617

13,279

$809

$959

$917

Maintenance Capex - Three-year average
(1)

43%

$895

Weighted average number of units outstanding during the year, adjusted for Killam's 50% ownership in jointly held properties.

Value-enhancing capital spend includes building enhancements, suite upgrades and equipment purchases supporting NOI growth. Valueenhancing capital classified as building improvements includes energy efficiency projects and an allocation to represent building
upgrades, including window replacements, and common area and amenity space upgrades. Suite upgrades represent a capital investment
on suite turns with an expected minimum 10% return on investment.
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Maintenance capex includes all structural work and suite renovation spend required to maintain current revenues. For the first three
quarters of 2017, Management used a maintenance cap ex reserve of $970 per unit based on the historical three-year average spend
(2014 - 2016) in the calculation of AFFO. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2017, Killam updated its maintenance cap ex reserve
to reflect the actual capital spend for the most recent three years (2015 - 2017) which is equivalent to $895 per unit. Based on this
calculation Management has selected $900 per unit for its maintenance capex reserve for 2017, which is 7.2% lower than the 2016
reserve of $970 per unit. Management will maintain this reserve in its calculation of AFFO throughout 2018 until the three-year average is
updated at year-end with actual results.
The allocations above were the result of a detailed review of Killam's historical capital spend. Significant judgment was required to
allocate capital between value-enhancing and maintenance activities. Management believes these allocations are reflective of Killam's
capital program, with approximately 42% of annual capital spend attributable to maintaining and sustaining properties.
Maintenance Capex Reserve - MHCs
The capital investment specific to the MHC portfolio was also reviewed for the three years ending December 31, 2017, and categorized
into value-enhancing and maintenance capex spend. Value-enhancing capital spend includes site expansions, land improvements and
NOI-enhancing water and sewer upgrades. Maintenance capex includes capital spend related to roads and paving, as well as the majority
of water and sewer capital spent to maintain the infrastructure in each community. On a per site basis, maintenance capex has ranged
from $221 to $377 over the past three years. Management selected $300 per MHC site for its maintenance capex reserve for 2017, a 33%
increase from the 2016 reserve of $225 per site.
The weighted average number of rental units owned during the quarter was used to determine the capital adjustment applied to FFO to
calculate AFFO:
For the years ended December 31,
2017

2016(2)

% Change

$69,873

$58,886

18.7%

(12,341)

(12,979)

(4.9)%

(1,550)

(1,161)

33.5%

$55,982

$44,746

25.1%

AFFO per unit - basic

$0.72

$0.66

9.1%

AFFO per unit - diluted

$0.72

$0.66

9.1%

FFO
Maintenance Capital Expenditures
Apartments
MHCs
AFFO

(1)

86%

AFFO payout ratio - diluted

Weighted average number of units - basic (000s)
Weighted average number of units - diluted (000s)

(3)

91%

(500) bps

77,575

67,912

14.2%

77,777

68,050

14.3%

(1) Based on Killam's annual distribution of $0.6167 for the year ended December 31, 2017, and $0.60 for the year ended December 31, 2016.
(2) AFFO, AFFO per unit and AFFO payout ratio for the year ended December 31, 2016 have been adjusted to reflect the change in the calculation of
maintenance capex in accordance with the REALpac AFFO white paper (2016 - $970 per Apartment unit; $225 per MHC site).
(3) The calculation of the weighted average units outstanding for diluted AFFO excludes the convertible debentures for the years ended December 31,
2017 and 2016, as they are anti-dilutive.

The AFFO payout ratio of 86% for the year ended December 31, 2017, has improved 500 bps from the payout ratio of 91% for the year
ended December 31, 2016. The improvement is attributable to a 25.1% increase in AFFO driven by contributions from acquisitions and
developments, same property NOI growth and interest expense savings partially offset by the impact of the increase in the weighted
average number of units outstanding.
Killam’s Board of Trustees (the "Board") evaluates the Trust’s payout ratio quarterly. The Board has not established an AFFO payout target.
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Adjusted Cash Flow from Operations
ACFO was introduced in February 2017 in REALpac's "White Paper on Adjusted Cashflow from Operations (ACFO) for IFRS" as a
sustainable, economic cash flow metric. Upon review of REALpac's white paper, Management has incorporated ACFO as a useful measure
to evaluate Killam's ability to fund distributions to unitholders. ACFO should not be construed as an alternative to cash flows provided by
or used in operating activities determined in accordance with IFRS.
Killam calculates ACFO in accordance with the REALpac definition but may differ from other REIT's methods and accordingly, may not be
comparable to ACFO reported by other issuers. A reconciliation from cash generated from operating activities (refer to the consolidated
statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2017, and 2016) to ACFO is as follows:
For the years ended December 31,
Cash generated from operating activities

2017

2016

% Change

$82,916

$64,011

29.5%

(7,776)

(1,237)

528.6%

(13,891)

(14,140)

(1,720)

(1,505)

(28)

(531)

$59,501

$46,598

27.7%

48,832

41,141

18.7%

$10,669

$5,457

Adjustments:
Changes in non-cash working capital not indicative of sustainable cash flows
Maintenance capital expenditures
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Non-controlling interest
ACFO
(1)

Distributions declared

Excess of ACFO over cash distributions
ACFO Payout Ratio(2)

82%

88%

(1.8)%
14.3%
(94.7)%

95.5%
(600) bps

(1) Includes distributions on trust units, exchangeable units and restricted trust units, as summarized on page 37.
(2) Based on Killam's monthly distribution of $0.05167 per unit from March 2017 to December 2017 and $0.05 per unit from January 2016 to February
2017.

Killam's ACFO payout ratio improved to 82% for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to 88% in 2016. For the year ended
December 31, 2017, Killam retained $10.7 million of adjusted cash flow from operations to fund future growth, including investments in
NOI-enhancing capital upgrades, acquisitions and developments.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities and Distributions Declared
As required by National Policy 41-201, "Income Trusts and Other Indirect Offerings", the following table outlines the differences between
cash flows generated from operating activities and total distributions declared, as well as the differences between net income and total
distributions, in accordance with the guidelines.
For the years ended December 31,
Net income
Cash flow from operating activities

2017

2016

$104,760

$71,439

$82,916

$64,011

Total distributions declared

$48,832

$41,141

Excess of net income over total distributions declared

$55,928

$30,298

Excess of net income over net distributions paid

$67,245

$37,301

Excess of cash flow from operating activities over total distributions declared

$34,084

$22,870
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PART VII
Investment Properties
As at December 31,
Investment properties
Investment properties under construction ("IPUC")

2017

2016

% Change

$2,172,222

$1,887,302

15.1%

107,541

55,507

93.7%

$2,279,763

$1,942,809

17.3%

Continuity of Investment Properties
For the years ended December 31,
2017

2016

% Change

$1,887,302

$1,794,580

5.2%

Acquisition of properties

191,206

48,214

296.6%

Disposition of properties

(16,616)

Balance, beginning of year

(8)

N/A

Transfer from IPUC

15,485

15,490

—%

Capital expenditures

30,995

32,775

(5.4)%

Other

(965)

Fair value adjustment - Apartments

—
(9,188)

(778.9)%

2,922

5,896

50.4%

Fair value adjustment - MHCs
Fair value adjustment - Other

(487)

Balance, end of year

—%

62,380

$2,172,222

(457)
$1,887,302

(6.6)%
15.1%

The key valuation assumption in the determination of fair market value, using the direct capitalization method, is the cap-rate. A
summary of the high, low and weighted average cap-rates used in the valuation models as at December 31, 2017 and December
31, 2016, as provided by Killam's external valuator, is as follows:
Capitalization Rates
December 31, 2017
Low

December 31, 2016

High

Effective
Weighted
Average

Low

High

Effective
Weighted
Average

Apartments

3.75%

8.00%

5.37%

4.12%

8.00%

5.49%

MHCs

5.75%

8.00%

6.84%

5.75%

8.00%

6.81%
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2017 Acquisitions - Investment Properties
Property

Location

Acquisition Date

Ownership
interest (%)

Year Built

Units

Purchase
Price(1)

Calgary

16-Jan-17

100%

1978

66

$12,800

Halifax

16-Feb-17

100%

2016

5

1,070

Apartments
Spruce Grove
Southport condominium units
(2)

Ottawa

01-Mar-17

50%

2016

134

49,240

246 / 300 Innovation Drive

Halifax

04-Jul-17

100%

2015 / 2016

134

31,600

Waybury Park

Edmonton

18-Aug-17

100%

2016

124

28,277

Tisbury Crossing

Edmonton

1-Dec-17

100%

2017

172

39,200

Kanata Lakes IV & V

Stoneybrook Apartments

Halifax

15-Dec-17

100%

2000

106

13,000

Fairview Terrace

London

15-Dec-17

100%

1950s

106

8,500

847

$183,687

Other
Vacant Land

Edmonton

13-Apr-17 / 23-Jun-17

100%

4,050

(3)

Halifax

19-Apr-17

100%

4,600

(4)

Ottawa

21-Apr-17

50%

8,000

1459 Hollis Street
Gloucester - Land
Total Acquisitions

$200,337

(1) Purchase price does not include transaction costs.
(2) Purchase price represents 50% ownership in two buildings with a cumulative total of 268 units; in addition, it includes 35% interest in a shared
clubhouse. This building is part of a five-building complex; with this acquisition Killam and its 50/50 partner now own the entire complex.
(3) Included in the acquisition is $0.85 million in land value relating to adjacent development projects.
(4) Purchase price represents 50% interest in a multi-phase development project.

Investment Properties Under Construction
For the years ended December 31,
Balance, beginning of year
Capital expenditures
Interest capitalized
Acquisitions
Transfer to investment properties
Balance, end of year

2017

2016

% Change

$55,507

$45,676

21.5%

51,331

24,411

110.3%

1,982

910

117.8%

14,206
(15,485)
$107,541

—
(15,490)
$55,507

N/A
—%
93.7%

The Alexander
This 240-unit project located in downtown Halifax is scheduled to be completed in mid-2018. The estimated cost of development
is approximately $77.0 million, resulting in an expected all-cash yield of approximately 5.0%. Management's estimated total cost
of completion has increased by approximately $6.8 million from the original budget of $70.2 million due primarily to construction
delays and increased window and exterior cladding costs.
On October 1, 2017, Killam completed the podium level of the development, and has rented all 55 available units. Killam
transferred $9.4 million from IPUC to investment properties, representing the fair value attributable to this portion of the project.
As at December 31, 2017, the project is approximately 70% complete with $54.1 million in development costs incurred to date.
As Killam has control over the development for accounting purposes, 100% of the development costs are included in IPUC.
Following completion of construction and the achievement of certain leasing conditions, Killam has a commitment in place to
purchase the remaining 50% interest in the development.
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Saginaw Park
During 2016, Killam commenced construction on the 93-unit, seven-story Saginaw Park development in Cambridge, ON. The
development is adjacent Killam's 122-unit building, Saginaw Gardens, which was completed in June 2015. The project budget is
$25.5 million ($274,000 per unit), resulting in an all-cash yield of approximately 5.4%, approximately a 140 bps premium over the
market cap-rate of a similar quality asset. As at December 31, 2017, the project is approximately 80% complete with $20.8 million
in development costs incurred to date. The project is scheduled to be completed in early April 2018.
Gloucester City Centre
On April 24, 2017, Killam and RioCan REIT ("RioCan") formed a joint venture to develop a residential rental community at
Gloucester City Centre in Ottawa, with Killam acquiring a 50% interest in a 7.1 acre development site for $8.0 million ($16.0
million at 100%). Killam and RioCan each own a 50% interest in the land and participate on the same basis in this development.
RioCan acts as the development manager, and upon completion, Killam will act as the residential property manager. The site has
zoning approval for four residential towers with an aggregate total of 840 units.
The first phase of the development, The Frontier, a 217,000 SF, 23-storey tower containing approximately 227 units, is currently in
progress. The total cost to develop Phase I is approximately $73 million ($36.5 million for Killam's 50% interest). As at December
31, 2017, Killam has invested approximately $14.0 million in the first phase of the project, with remaining project costs to be
funded with construction financing. The first phase is scheduled to be completed in the first half of 2019.
With the three developments underway, Killam forecasts adding approximately $135 million of new developments to its portfolio
during the next two years.
Killam has a robust development pipeline. As at February 13, 2018, Killam has the following land available for future
development:

Property
Silver Spear(1)

Location
Mississauga, ON

Development
Potential
(# of Units) Status
64

Approval expected in 2018

Carlton Terrace

Halifax, NS

104

In design and approval process

The Governor

Halifax, NS

48

In design and approval process

Gloucester Phase 2 - 4(1)

Ottawa, ON

309

In design

Grid 5 vacant land(1)

Calgary, AB

199

In design

Cameron Heights

Edmonton, AB

190

In design and approval process

Medical Arts (Spring Garden)

Halifax, NS

200

Future development

Carlton Houses

Halifax, NS

Topsail Road

St. John's, NL

Block 4

St. John's, NL

Total Development Opportunities

70

Future development

225

Future development

80

Future development

1,489

(1) Represents Killam's 50% interest in the potential development units.

Killam is awaiting final approval to proceed with its Silver Spear II development on land adjacent its existing 199-unit building in
Mississauga, and expects to break ground in 2018. Killam will have a 50% ownership in this 12-storey, 128-unit development.
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Capital Improvements
Capital improvements are a combination of maintenance capex and value-enhancing upgrades. Maintenance capex investments are not
expected to increase the NOI or efficiency of a building; however, these expenditures will extend the life of the asset. Examples of
maintenance capex include roof, window and building envelope repairs, and are in addition to repairs and maintenance costs that are
expensed to NOI. Value-enhancing capital investments are expected to result in higher rents or lower operating costs. These investments
include unit and common area upgrades and energy efficiency projects. Killam's AFFO discussion on page 25 provides further disclosure
on the allocation between maintenance capex and value-enhancing capex investments.
During the year ended December 31, 2017, Killam invested $31.0 million, compared to $32.8 million for the year ended December 31,
2016. Killam expects to invest between $35 and $40 million during 2018 in capital improvements.
For the years ended December 31,
Apartments
MHCs
Commercial

2017

2016

% Change

$26,959

$30,139

3,227

2,098

53.8%

809

538

50.4%

$30,995

$32,775

(5.4)%

% Change

(10.6)%

Apartments - Capital Spend
A summary of the capital spend on the apartment segment is included below:
For the years ended December 31,
2017

2016

$12,493

$17,103

(27.0)%

Suite renovations

9,972

10,335

(3.5)%

Appliances

1,355

1,219

11.2%

Boilers and heating equipment

Building improvements

2,501

821

204.6%

Other

405

367

10.4%

Equipment

201

227

(11.5)%

Parking lots

30

33

(9.1)%

Land improvements

2

34

(94.1)%

$26,959

$30,139

(10.6)%

Average number of units outstanding

13,712

13,371

2.6%

Capital spend - $ per unit

$1,966

$2,254

(12.8)%

Total capital spend

Killam invested $1,966 per unit for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to $2,254 per unit for year ended December 31, 2016.
As the chart below highlights, the capital spend per unit is less for newer properties (built in the past 10 years), averaging $879 per unit in
2017, compared to $2,385 per unit for buildings over 40 years old. Killam's focus on development and acquisition of newer properties
results in a lower capital spend per unit. Twenty-nine percent of Killam's apartments, as a percentage of anticipated 2018 NOI, have been
built in the past ten years.
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Building Improvements
Of the $27.0 million total capital investment in the apartment segment, approximately 46% was invested in building improvements,
compared to 57% of the total capital spend for the year ended December 31, 2016. These investments include exterior cladding and brick
work, balcony refurbishments, roof upgrades, common area renovations and energy efficiency investments to increase the quality of
Killam's portfolio. The year-over-year variance relates primarily to the timing of building envelope projects. Management expects 2018
building improvement costs to be more in line with 2016 levels.
Suite Renovations
Killam invested $10.0 million in suite renovations during the year ended December 31, 2017, consistent with the total spend of $10.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2016. Killam continues to focus on unit upgrades to maximize occupancy and rental
increases; Killam targets a minimum return on investment of 10% for its suite renovations. The timing of suite renovation spend is
influenced by tenant turnover, market conditions and individual property requirements. In addition, the length of time that Killam has
owned a property and the age of the property also impact capital requirements.
Energy Efficiencies
Through a comprehensive review in 2016, Killam identified approximately 700 projects to reduce water, heating fuel and electricity
consumption. The total budget for these projects is $25 million, and and once complete, aggregate annual savings of $7 million are
expected. At a 5% average cap-rate, execution of these initiatives could increase the net asset value of Killam's portfolio by $140
million.
These projects are expected to reduce Killam's energy intensity from $1.41 per square foot at the time of the review in 2016, to $1.10
per square foot by the end of 2021, a 23% reduction. Energy intensity measures all energy sources (including water) used within a
property, converted to a single common measurement of dollars per SF. This $0.30 decline represents an estimated $4.3 million in
annual energy costs, which should more than offset rising energy rates and other operating pressures.

56

K I L L A M A PA R T M E N T R E I T | 2 0 1 7

32

2017 Management's Discussion and Analysis
Dollar amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except as noted)

2017 Management’s Discussion & Analysis

Dollar amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except as noted)

In 2017, Killam invested $3.4 million in these initiatives. Projects were focused on the installation of ultra-low flow toilets ($0.8
million), lighting ($0.8 million), and heating efficiency projects ($1.8 million), including condensing gas boilers, system
recommissionings and thermostat replacements. These projects are estimated to generate $0.8 million in annualized savings, with an
average payback of 4.3 years.
Killam will continue to execute on its energy efficiency plan in 2018, with a budget of $3.5 million and projected annualized savings of
$0.8 million. Projects will target the installation of ultra-low flow toilets ($1.2 million), lighting ($0.8 million), and heating efficiency
($1.1 million). By the end of 2018, Killam expects to have upgraded all the water fixtures in its portfolio with low-flow devices. In total,
these changes are expected to reduce water consumption by 100 million litres of water annually.

MHCs - Capital Spend
A summary of the capital spend for the MHC segment is included below:
For the years ended December 31,
2017

2016

% Change

$1,764

$993

77.6%

Site expansion and land improvements

276

512

(46.1)%

Other

855

438

95.2%

Roads and paving

310

127

144.1%

22

28

(21.4)%

Water and sewer upgrades

Equipment
Total capital spend - MHCs

$3,227

$2,098

53.8%

Average number of units outstanding

5,165

5,165

—%

Capital spend - $ per site

$625

$406

53.9%

Management expects to invest between $400 and $600 per MHC site annually. Consistent with the apartment portfolio, a portion of the
MHC capital is considered maintenance capital and a portion is considered value enhancing. Maintenance capital includes costs to
support the existing infrastructure, and value-enhancing capital includes improvements to roadways, work to accommodate future
expansion, and community enhancements, such as the addition of playgrounds. A portion of MHC capital may be recovered through
above guideline increases in provinces with rent control, leading to increased NOI from the investments.
Total capital spend during the year ended December 31, 2017 was $3.2 million, up from $2.1 million in the year ended December 31,
2016. The increase in capital spend is due to extensive water and sewer upgrades at two communities in Ontario.
As with the apartment portfolio, the timing of MHC capital investment changes based on requirements at each community.
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Mortgages and Other Loans
Below outlines Killam's key debt metrics:
As at December 31,

2017

2016

4.0

4.3

(0.3) years

Gross mortgage, loan, credit facilities and vendor debt to total assets

48.7%

51.2%

(250) bps

Total debt to total assets

48.7%

53.5%

(480) bps

Interest coverage

3.13x

2.70x

Weighted average years to debt maturity

Debt service coverage
Debt to EBITDA (1)

Change

15.9%

1.51x

1.41x

7.1%

10.70x

11.00x

(2.7)%

Weighted average mortgage interest rate

2.91%

3.01%

(10) bps

Weighted average interest rate of total debt

2.96%

3.11%

(15) bps

(1) Ratio calculated net of cash

Killam’s long-term debt consists largely of fixed-rate, long-term mortgage financings. In certain cases, Killam will also utilize vendortake-back mortgages as part of an acquisition. Mortgages are secured by a first or second charge against individual properties, and
vendor financing is secured by a general corporate guarantee. Killam’s weighted average interest rate on mortgages as at
December 31, 2017 improved to 2.91% from 3.01% as at December 31, 2016, as a result of refinancing at lower interest rates over
the past twelve months.
Total debt as a percentage of total assets has decreased 480 bps to 48.7% from December 31, 2016, largely due to the redemption
of the $46.0 million of convertible debentures on April 13, 2017 and the acquisition of three properties in December 2017 without
mortgage debt. KIllam expects this percentage to increase above 50% by the end of Q1-2018 once mortgages have been placed on
the properties acquired with cash at the end of 2017.
This ratio is sensitive to changes in the fair value of investment properties, in particular cap-rate changes. A 10 bps change in the
weighted average cap-rate as at December 31, 2017 would have impacted the ratio of debt as a percentage of total assets by 90 bps.

Refinancings
For the year ended December 31, 2017, Killam refinanced the following mortgages:
Mortgage Debt
Maturities
Apartments

$56,325

MHCs

Mortgage Debt
on Refinancing

3.42%

$77,201

Weighted
Average Term

2.27%

Net Proceeds

5.9 years

$20,876

13,355

4.72%

24,458

3.67%

5.0 years

11,103

$69,680

3.67%

$101,659

2.61%

5.7 years

$31,979

The following table details the maturity dates and average interest rates of mortgage and vendor debt, and the percentage of apartment
mortgages that are CMHC-insured by year of maturity:
Apartments
Year of
Maturity

Balance
December 31,
2017

MHC

%
Weighted Avg CMHC
Int. Rate %
Insured

Total

Balance
December 31,
2017

Weighted Avg
Int. Rate %

Balance
December 31,
2017 (1)

Weighted Avg
Int. Rate %

2018

$78,106

3.54%

32.6%

$12,219

4.32%

$90,325

3.65%

2019

169,158

2.88%

93.8%

18,162

3.85%

187,320

2.97%

2020

194,947

2.53%

59.5%

6,690

3.52%

201,637

2.56%

2021

139,038

2.53%

85.5%

6,901

3.29%

145,939

2.56%

2022

110,307

2.64%

70.9%

24,632

3.67%

134,939

2.83%

2023

90,330

3.28%

84.4%

—

0.00%

90,330

3.28%

Thereafter

252,300

2.98%

100.0%

—

0.00%

252,300

2.98%

$1,034,186

2.85%

79.9%

$68,604

3.78%

$1,102,790

2.91%

(1) Excludes $12.1 million in variable rate demand loans secured by development properties, which are classified as mortgages and loans
payable as at December 31, 2017.
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Access to mortgage debt is essential in refinancing maturing debt and financing acquisitions. Management has diversified Killam’s
mortgages to avoid dependence on any one lending institution and has staggered maturity dates to manage interest rate risk.
Management anticipates continued access to mortgage debt for both acquisitions and refinancings. Access to CMHC-insured financing
gives apartment owners an advantage over other asset classes as lenders are provided a government guarantee and therefore are able to
lend at more favorable rates. As at December 31, 2017, approximately 80% of Killam’s apartment mortgages were CMHC-insured (75% of
total mortgages, as MHC mortgages are not eligible for CMHC insurance) (December 31, 2016 - 77% and 73%). The weighted average
interest rate on the CMHC-insured mortgages was 2.71% as at December 31, 2017 (December 31, 2016 - 2.80%).
The following tables present the NOI for properties that are available to Killam to refinance at debt maturity in 2018 and 2019:

2018 Debt Maturities
Apartments with debt maturing
MHCs with debt maturing

2019 Debt Maturities
Apartments with debt maturing
MHCs with debt maturing

Number of
Properties

Estimated NOI

Principal
Balance
(at maturity)
$77,188

19

$8,769

9

1,906

10,604

28

$10,675

$87,792

Number of
Properties

Estimated NOI

Principal
Balance
(at maturity)
$154,321

39

$20,414

7

2,426

16,887

46

$22,840

$171,208
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Future Contractual Debt Obligations
As at December 31, 2017, the timing of Killam's future contractual debt obligations is as follows:
Construction
loans

Total

2018

Mortgage and
loans
payable
$136,862

$28,809

$165,671

2019

208,110

12,237

220,347

For the twelve months ending December 31,

2020

210,401

—

210,401

2021

147,286

—

147,286

2022

127,689

—

127,689

Thereafter

284,558

—

284,558

$1,114,906

$41,046

$1,155,952

Convertible Debentures
On April 13, 2017, Killam completed the redemption of the $46.0 million, 5.45%, convertible unsecured debentures. There are currently
no convertible debentures outstanding.

Construction Loans
As at December 31, 2017, Killam had access to two floating rate non-revolving demand construction loans for the purpose of financing
development projects, including a $51.8 million construction loan commitment related to The Alexander, where Killam has a 50%
ownership interest, and a $18.8 million construction loan commitment related to the Saginaw Park development. Payments are made
monthly on an interest only basis. The construction loans have interest rates of prime plus 0.625%. Once construction is complete and
rental targets achieved, the construction loans will be repaid in full and replaced with conventional mortgages. The underlying assets
are pledged as collateral against these loans.
As at December 31, 2017, $28.8 million and $12.2 million, respectively, was drawn on The Alexander and Saginaw Park loans. The loans
both have an interest rate of 3.83%.

Credit Facilities
Killam has access to two credit facilities with credit limits of $70.0 million and $1.5 million (December 31, 2016 - $30.0 million and $1.5
million) that can be used for acquisition and general business purposes. Killam holds an accordion option to increase the $70.0 million
facility to $90.0 million.
The $70.0 million facility bears interest at prime plus 75 bps on prime rate advances or 170 bps over bankers acceptances ("BAs").
Killam has the right to choose between prime rate advances and BAs based on available rates and timing. As at December 31, 2017,
Killam has assets with a carrying value of $51.8 million pledged as first mortgage ranking and $302.1 million pledged as second
mortgage ranking to the line and a balance outstanding of $nil (December 31, 2016 - $nil). The agreement includes certain covenants
and undertakings with which Killam is in compliance as at December 31, 2017.
The $1.5 million facility bears interest at prime plus 175 bps on advances and 135 bps on issuance of letters of credit in addition to 50
bps per annum. As at December 31, 2017, Killam had assets with a carrying value of $1.8 million pledged as collateral (December 31,
2016 - $1.6 million) and letters of credit totaling $1.1 million outstanding against the facility (December 31, 2016 - $1.2 million). The
agreement includes certain covenants and undertakings with which Killam is in compliance as at December 31, 2017.

As at December 31, 2017
$70.0 million demand facility
$1.5 million demand facility
Total

60

Maximum
Loan Amount

Amount
Drawn

Letters of
Credit

Amount
Available

$70,000

—

—

$70,000

1,500

—

1,100

400

$71,500

—

$1,100

$70,400
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As at December 31, 2016
$30 million demand facility

Maximum
Loan Amount

Amount
Drawn

Letters of
Credit

Amount
Available

$30,000

—

—

$30,000

1,500

—

1,200

300

$31,500

—

$1,200

$30,300

$1.5 million demand facility
Total

Unitholders’ Equity
As an open-ended mutual fund trust, unitholders of trust units are entitled to redeem their trust units at any time at prices determined
and payable in accordance with the conditions specified in Killam’s DOT. Consequently, under IFRS, trust units are defined as financial
liabilities; however, for the purposes of financial statement classification and presentation, the trust units may be presented as equity
instruments as they meet the puttable instrument exemption under IAS 32.
All trust units outstanding are fully paid, have no par value and are voting trust units. The DOT authorizes the issuance of an unlimited
number of trust units. Trust units represent a unitholder’s proportionate undivided beneficial interest in Killam. No trust unit has any
preference or priority over another. No unitholder has or is deemed to have any right of ownership in any of the assets of Killam. Each
unit confers the right to one vote at any meeting of unitholders and to participate pro rata in any distributions and, on liquidation, to a
pro rata share of the residual net assets remaining after preferential claims thereon of debtholders.
Unitholders have the right to redeem their units at the lesser of (i) 90% of the market price of the trust unit (market price is defined as
the weighted average trading price of the previous 10 trading days) and (ii) the most recent closing market price (closing market price
is defined as the weighted average trading price on the specified date) at the time of the redemption. The redemption price will be
satisfied by cash, up to a limit of $50 thousand for all redemptions in a calendar month, or a note payable. For the year ended
December 31, 2017, no unitholders redeemed units.
Killam pays a distribution of $0.05167 per unit per month ($0.62 per unit annualized). Killam's Distribution Reinvestment Plan ("DRIP")
allows unitholders to elect to have all cash distributions from the trust reinvested in additional units. Unitholders who participate in
the DRIP receive an additional distribution of units equal to 3% of each cash distribution that was reinvested. The price per unit is
calculated by reference to the ten day volume weighted average price of Killam's units on the Toronto Stock Exchange preceding the
relevant distribution date, which typically is on or about the 15th day of the month following the distribution declaration. The
following chart highlights Killam's distributions paid and trust units reinvested for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016:

Distribution Reinvestment Plan and Net Distributions Paid
For the years ended December 31,
2017
Distributions declared on trust units
Distributions declared on exchangeable units
Distributions declared on awards outstanding under RTU plan
Total distributions declared

2016

$46,216

$38,328

2,383

2,659

% Change
20.6%
(10.4)%

233

154

51.3%

$48,832

$41,141

18.7%

Less:
Distributions on trust units reinvested
Distributions on RTUs reinvested
Net distributions paid
Percentage of distributions reinvested

(11,084)

(6,849)

61.8%

(233)

(154)

51.3%

$37,515

$34,138

9.9%

23.2%

17.0%
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Management ensures there is adequate liquidity to fund major property maintenance and improvements, debt principal and interest
payments, distributions to unitholders and property acquisitions and developments. Killam’s sources of capital include: (i) cash flows
generated from operating activities; (ii) cash inflows from mortgage refinancings; (iii) mortgage debt secured by investment properties;
(iv) credit facilities with two Canadian chartered banks; and (v) equity and debt issuances.
Management expects to have sufficient liquidity for the foreseeable future based on its evaluation of capital resources:
(i)

Cash flows from operating activities are expected to be sufficient to fund the current level of distributions.

(ii) Killam's $70.0 million revolving credit facility supports acquisitions of approximately $150 million. The revolving facility has an
accordion feature to increase the facility up to $90.0 million. Including this feature, Killam has over $200 million of acquisition
capacity through its credit facilities.
(iii) The retained portion of annual ACFO, mortgage refinancings and construction loans is expected to be sufficient to fund ongoing
property capital investments, principal repayments and developments.
(iv) Upcoming mortgage maturities are expected to be renewed through Killam's mortgage program.
Killam is in compliance with all financial covenants contained in the DOT and through its credit facilities. Under the DOT, total
indebtedness of Killam is limited to 70% of gross book value determined as the greater of (i) the value of the assets of Killam as shown on
the most recent consolidated statement of financial position and (ii) the historical cost of the assets of Killam. Killam's total debt as a
percentage of assets as at December 31, 2017 was 48.7%.
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PART VIII
Quarterly Results & Discussion of Q4 Operations
Summary of Quarterly Results
An eight quarter trend highlighting key operating results is shown below:
2017
Q4
Property revenue

Q3

2016
Q2

Q1

$48,579 $48,595 $45,898

Q4

Q3

Q2

Q1

$44,305 $44,137 $45,078 $43,847 $42,207

NOI

$29,747 $31,746 $28,785 $24,942 $26,372 $28,350 $27,270 $23,430

Net income

$37,850 $14,651 $34,610 $17,649

FFO

$18,066 $19,964 $18,174 $13,668 $15,223 $17,021 $15,133 $11,509

FFO per unit - diluted

$0.22

AFFO per unit - diluted
Weighted average units - diluted (000s)

$0.25

$0.23

$0.19

$4,638 $17,966
$0.21

$0.24

$3,666 $45,169
$0.23

$0.18

$0.18

$0.21

$0.18

$0.14

$0.16

$0.19

$0.18

$0.13

80,837

78,620

78,755

73,219

75,022

75,045

73,361

63,184

Killam's total property revenue for the three months ended December 31, 2017 was $48.6 million, a 10.1% increase over the same period
in 2016, due to the incremental contribution from recent acquisitions, as well as increased same property revenue. NOI increased 12.8%
in Q4-2017 compared to Q4-2016. Net income was up $33.3 million in the quarter due primarily to a net $26.5 million of fair value gains
in Q4-2017 compared to a net fair value loss of $1.7 million in Q4-2016.

Q4 Same Property NOI
For the three months ended December 31,
Total Portfolio
2017
Property revenue

2016

Apartments
%
Change

2017

2016

MHCs
%
Change

2017

2016

%
Change

$43,165

$41,536

3.9%

$39,731

$38,232

3.9%

$3,434

$3,304

3.9%

General operating expenses

7,139

6,829

4.5%

6,184

5,923

4.4%

955

906

5.4%

Utility and fuel expenses

4,834

5,043

(4.1)%

4,472

4,706

(5.0)%

362

337

7.4%

Property taxes

5,043

4,735

6.5%

4,869

4,586

6.2%

174

149

16.8%

Property operating expenses

Total property expenses
NOI

17,016

16,607

2.5%

15,525

15,215

2.0%

1,491

1,392

7.1%

$26,149

$24,929

4.9%

$24,206

$23,017

5.2%

$1,943

$1,912

1.6%

60.6%

60.0%

60 bps

60.9%

60.2%

70 bps

56.6%

57.9%

Operating margin

(130) bps

Apartment Same Property
Killam’s same property apartment portfolio realized NOI growth of 5.2% for the three months ended December 31, 2017, as compared to
the three months ended December 31, 2016, due to a 3.9% increase in revenues, partially offset by a 2.0% increase in total property
operating expenses. The revenue growth was generated from a 1.8% increase in the average rental rate and a 140 bps increase in
occupancy. Total occupancy for the quarter ended December 31, 2017 was 97.5%.
General operating expenses increased 4.4% in the fourth quarter of 2017, as compared to the same period in 2016, due to increased rates
for snow removal contracts, increased garbage removal costs due to higher tipping fees and an increase in repairs & maintenance costs
due to timing of work performed. General operating expense increases were partially offset by savings on Killam's insurance renewal and
lower advertising costs, given strong occupancy in the majority of Killam's core markets.
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Utility and fuel expenses were 5.0% less for the quarter ended December 31, 2017, as compared to the quarter ended December 31,
2016. Natural gas savings were realized due to reduced consumption from warmer weather and boiler upgrades, more than offsetting the
higher natural gas costs in New Brunswick and Ontario. Heating oil pricing also increased by 17%, as compared to the three months ended
December 31, 2016; however, only 8% of Killam's properties are heated with oil. Water expenses were 4.1% lower than Q4-2016 as water
consumption savings from low-flow toilet installations across the portfolio more than offset increases in water rates. Property taxes
increased 6.2% quarter over quarter due to higher property tax assessments and rate increases.

Q4-2017 Occupancy by Region
For the three months ended December 31,
Total Occupancy
2017

2016

Halifax, NS

98.0%

96.4%

Moncton, NB

96.5%

Fredericton, NB

Same Property Occupancy
Change
(bps)

Change
(bps)

2017

2016

160

98.3%

96.4%

190

95.4%

110

96.5%

95.4%

110

98.2%

95.2%

300

98.1%

95.2%

290

Saint John, NB

96.9%

92.5%

440

96.9%

92.5%

440

St. John's, NL

94.9%

94.6%

30

94.9%

94.6%

30

Charlottetown, PE

99.4%

99.4%

—

99.4%

99.4%

—

Ontario

97.5%

96.9%

60

97.4%

97.6%

(20)

Alberta

87.3%

90.1%

(280)

92.1%

90.1%

200

Other Atlantic

95.6%

98.2%

(260)

95.6%

98.2%

(260)

Total Apartment (Weighted Average)

97.2%

96.0%

120

97.5%

96.1%

140

Overall apartment occupancy increased 120 bps to 97.2% in the fourth quarter of 2017, compared to 96.0% for the fourth quarter of 2016.
Large occupancy gains were recorded in the major Atlantic Canadian markets, consistent with performance in this region during the first nine
months of the year. Overall occupancy for Alberta was lower in Q4-2017, as compared to Q4-2016, due to the purchase of two recently
constructed properties in Edmonton during 2017 that are still in the initial lease-up phase. However, same property occupancy in Alberta
improved by 200 bps as compared to the fourth quarter of 2016 due to higher occupancy at the 307-unit high rise tower in Calgary.

Q4-2017 Same Property Apartment NOI by Region
For the three months ended December 31,
Property Revenue
Halifax
Moncton

Property Expenses

2017

2016

% Change

2017

$15,621

$15,022

4.0%

($5,660)

4,332

4,097

5.7%

(2,053)

2016

Net Operating Income

% Change

2017

2016

% Change

($5,613)

0.8%

$9,961

$9,409

5.9%

(2,038)

0.7%

2,279

2,059

10.7%

Fredericton

4,002

3,763

6.4%

(1,653)

(1,620)

2.0%

2,349

2,143

9.6%

Saint John

2,857

2,658

7.5%

(1,415)

(1,416)

(0.1)%

1,442

1,242

16.1%

Ontario

5,887

5,743

2.5%

(2,208)

(2,062)

7.1%

3,679

3,681

(0.1)%

St. John's

2,580

2,558

0.9%

(765)

(801)

(4.5)%

1,815

1,757

3.3%

Charlottetown

2,518

2,456

2.5%

(1,042)

(980)

6.3%

1,476

1,476

657

657

0.0%

(204)

(194)

5.2%

453

463

(2.2)%

1,277

1,278

(0.1)%

(525)

(491)

6.9%

752

787

(4.4)%

$39,731

$38,232

($15,525)

($15,215)

2.0%

$24,206

$23,017

Alberta
Other

3.9%

0.0%

5.2%

Performance in New Brunswick was strong in the fourth quarter, with Saint John, Moncton and Fredericton recording year-over-year NOI
gains of 16.1%, 10.7% and 9.6%, respectively, as compared to the same period in 2016. Rental rates grew by an average of 1.9% across the
province, and the average occupancy improved by 250 bps for the quarter, as population growth and a lack of new supply led to a tighter
rental market. Property expenses increased only slightly compared Q4-2016 as utility savings from energy initiatives and lower insurance
premiums offset property tax increases and inflationary cost pressures. In total, NOI for Q4-2017 increased 11.5% as compared to
Q4-2016 in the province.
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Revenues in Halifax grew by 4.0% during the fourth quarter of 2017 due to a 190 bps improvement in occupancy and a 2.2% increase in
average rental rates. Property operating expense growth was a modest 0.8%, compared to Q4-2016, as increases in property tax expense,
salaries and contract services were almost fully offset by utility savings and reduced insurance premiums. Halifax's Q4-2017 same
property NOI increased 5.9%, or $0.6 million, from Q4-2016.
The Charlottetown market remains strong, with revenue increases of 2.5% in Q4-2017 compared to Q4-2016. The market is extremely
tight, with occupancy of 99.4% in Q4-2017. Property expenses were 6.3% higher than the same period in 2016, primarily due to higher
heating oil prices, inflationary salary increases, and the timing of repairs and maintenance work.
Fourth quarter results for Ontario were largely in line with Q4-2016. A 2.7% increase in rental rates and increased parking revenues were
tempered by higher operating costs driven primarily by a 15% increase in property tax expense. Overall, Ontario's NOI declined by 0.1%
compared to Q4-2016.
Killam's St. John's market showed signs of improvement with a 0.9% increase in rental rates and a 30 bps occupancy improvement over
Q4-2016, increasing net revenue by 0.9%. Combined with lower operating expenses, in particular, savings from internalizing property
management in the second quarter of 2017 and lower insurance premiums, NOI for St. John's increased 3.3% in Q4-2017.
Revenues in Alberta were flat quarter over quarter, as a 200 bps improvement in occupancy was offset by the 4.8% decline in rental rates.
Operating costs increased 5.2% compared to the quarter ended December 31, 2017 due to inflationary increases in salaries and contract
services costs and increased advertising to improve occupancy. In total, NOI was 2.2% lower in Q4-2017 than Q4-2016.

MHC Same Property
The MHC same property portfolio generated a 1.6% increase in NOI in Q4-2017, compared to Q4-2016. Revenues grew by 3.9% quarter
over quarter due to a 2.5% rental rate increase at the permanent MHC communities. Total same property expenses increased 7.1%, or
$99 thousand, due to higher salaries and benefits, increased property tax assessments and the timing of repairs and maintenance work.

Q4 FFO and AFFO
For the three months ended December 31,

2017

2016

Net income

$37,850

$4,638

Fair value adjustments

(28,046)

1,657

% Change
716.1%
(1,792.6)%

Loss on disposition

20

—

Non-controlling interest

(4)

7

(157.1)%
(9.8)%

Deferred tax expense

N/A

7,637

8,467

Interest expense related to exchangeable units

599

580

3.3%

Unrealized gain on derivative

(35)

(412)

(91.5)%

45

46

(2.2)%
(100.0)%

Depreciation on owner-occupied building
REIT conversion costs

—

240

$18,066

$15,223

FFO per unit - diluted

$0.22

$0.21

4.8%

AFFO per unit - diluted

$0.18

$0.16

12.5%

FFO

AFFO payout ratio - diluted
Weighted average number of units - basic (000s)
(1)

Weighted average number of units - diluted (000s)

18.7%

86%

92%

(600) bps

80,609

71,582

12.6%

80,837

74,877

8.0%

(1) The calculation of weighted average units outstanding for diluted FFO includes the convertible debentures for the three months ended December 31,
2017 and 2016, as they are dilutive. The calculation of weighted average units outstanding for diluted AFFO includes the convertible debentures for the
three months ended December 31, 2017, as they are dilutive and excludes the convertible debentures for the three months ended December 31, 2016,
as they are anti-dilutive.

FFO was $18.1 million in the fourth quarter, up 18.7% from $15.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2016. FFO per unit was $0.22 in
Q4-2017, a 4.8% increase over the same period in 2016. The growth in FFO was generated by increased earnings from the same
property portfolio ($1.2 million), contributions from recent acquisitions and developments ($1.6 million), interest expense savings on
the redemption of the convertible debentures ($0.6 million), increased capitalized interest attributable to developments ($0.1 million),
and lower interest expense on refinancings ($0.2 million). This growth was partially offset by higher administrative costs ($0.7 million),
the impact of property dispositions during the year ($0.1 million) and a 12.6% increase in the weighted average units outstanding,
following equity issuances in 2017 to reduce leverage and fund growth.
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Selected Consolidated Financial Information
For the years ended December 31,

2017

2016

2015

Property revenue

$187,377

$175,269

$166,614

Net income

$104,760

$71,439

$35,800

$69,873

$58,886

$49,016

$0.90

$0.86

$0.79

FFO
FFO per unit/share - diluted
Investment properties

$2,279,763

$1,942,809

$1,840,256

Total assets

$2,311,210

$1,987,929

$1,876,276

Total liabilities

$1,343,488

$1,237,463

$1,190,948

$0.62

$0.60

$0.60

Distribution/dividend per unit/share

PART IX
Risk Management
Killam faces a variety of risks, the majority of which are common to real estate entities. These risks include (i) changes in general
economic conditions, (ii) changes in local conditions (such as an oversupply of units or a reduction in demand for real estate in an area),
(iii) changes to government regulations (such as new or revised residential tenant legislations), (iv) competition from others with available
units, and (v) the ability of the landlord or owner to provide adequate maintenance economically.
Real estate is relatively illiquid. Such illiquidity will tend to limit Killam’s ability to rebalance its portfolio promptly in response to changing
economic or investment conditions. In addition, financial difficulties of other property owners, resulting in distress sales, may depress real
estate values in the markets in which Killam operates. Killam’s exposure to general risks associated with real estate investments is
mitigated by its geographic and sector diversification due to investments in apartments and MHCs.
Killam is exposed to other risks, as outlined below:

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that Killam would experience lower returns as the result of its exposure to a higher interest rate environment.
Killam is exposed to interest rate risk as a result of its mortgages and loans payable; however, this risk is mitigated through Killam's
strategy to have the majority of its mortgages payable in fixed-term arrangements. Killam also structures its financings so as to stagger the
maturities of its debt, minimizing Killam's exposure to interest rates in any one year.
As at December 31, 2017, $53.1 million of Killam's debt had variable interest rates, including two construction loans for $41.0 million and
six demand loans totaling $12.1 million. These loans and facilities have interest rates of prime plus 0.63% - 2.0% (December 31, 2016 prime plus 0.63% - 2.0%).

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that Killam may not have access to sufficient capital to fund its growth program or refinance its debt obligations as
they mature. Killam manages cash resources based on financial forecasts and anticipated cash flows. The maturities of Killam’s long-term
financial liabilities are set out in note 24 of the consolidated financial statements. Killam staggers the maturities of its debt, minimizing
exposure to liquidity risk in any year. In addition, Killam’s apartments qualify for CMHC-insured debt, reducing the refinancing risk on
maturity. Killam’s MHCs do not qualify for CMHC-insured debt; however, they continue to have access to mortgage debt.

Increased Supply Risk
Increased supply risk is the risk of loss from competition from new rental units in Killam’s core markets. Numerous residential developers
and apartment owners compete for potential tenants. Although it is Killam’s strategy to own multi-family residential properties in premier
locations in each market in which it operates, some of the apartments or MHCs of Killam's competitors may be newer, better located,
offer lower rents or additional rental incentives. An increase in alternative housing could have a material adverse effect on Killam’s ability
to lease units and the rents charged and could adversely affect Killam's revenues and ability to meet its obligations. To mitigate against
this risk, Killam has a geographically diverse asset base. Management is expanding this diversification by increasing Killam’s investment in
apartment markets outside Atlantic Canada.
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Credit Risk
Credit risk arises from the possibility that tenants may experience financial difficulty and be unable to fulfill the commitments of their
lease. Killam mitigates the risk of credit loss through the diversification of its existing portfolio and limiting its exposure to any one tenant.
Credit assessments are conducted for to all new leases, and Killam also obtains a security deposit to assist in potential recovery
requirements. Killam’s bad debt expense has historically been less than 0.4% of revenues, and none of Killam’s tenants account for more
than 2% of tenant receivables.

Cyber Security Risk
A cyber incident is any adverse event that threatens the confidentiality, integrity or availability of Killam’s information technology
resources. More specifically, a cyber incident is an intentional attack or an unintentional event that can include gaining unauthorized
access to information systems to disrupt operations, corrupt data or steal confidential information. Killam’s primary risks that could
directly result from the occurrence of a cyber incident include operational interruption, damage to its reputation, damage to relationships
with its vendors and tenants and disclosure of confidential vendor or tenant information. Killam has implemented processes, procedures
and controls to mitigate these risks, but these measures, as well as its increased awareness of a risk of a cyber incident, do not guarantee
that its financial results will not be negatively impacted by such an incident.

Development Risk
Development risk is the risk that costs of developments will exceed original estimates, unforeseen delays will occur and/or units will not
be leased in the timeframe and/or at rents anticipated. Killam manages its exposure to development risk by limiting the amount of
development underway at any one time to approximately 5% of its consolidated statement of financial position. To reduce Killam’s
exposure to cost increases, Killam enters into fixed-rate contracts when possible. To reduce the lease-up risk, Killam does market research
in advance of each development to support expected rental rates and premarkets its properties early on in the process, to increase
demand for the new developments.

Environmental Risk
As an owner of real estate, Killam is subject to federal, provincial and municipal environmental regulations. These regulations may require
Killam to fund the costs of removal and remediation of certain hazardous substances on its properties or releases from its properties. The
failure to remediate such properties, if any, could adversely affect Killam’s ability to borrow using the property as collateral or to sell the
real estate. Killam is not aware of any material noncompliance with environmental laws at any of its properties. Killam has made, and will
continue to make, the necessary capital expenditures to comply with environmental laws and regulations. Environmental laws and
regulations can change rapidly, and Killam may be subject to more stringent environmental laws and regulations in the future. Killam
mitigates its risk of losses associated with oil tank leaks by enforcing the requirement for appropriate insurance, performing regular oil
tank inspections, and enforcing the removal of oil tanks when homes are sold at its MHC communities.

General Uninsured Losses
Killam carries comprehensive general liability, fire, flood, extended coverage and rental loss insurance with policy specifications, limits and
deductibles customary for the industry. There are, however, certain types of risks (generally of a catastrophic nature) that are either
uninsurable or would not be economically insurable.

Rent Control Risk
Rent control exists in some provinces in Canada, limiting the percentage of annual rental increases to existing tenants. Killam is exposed to
the risk of the implementation of, or amendments to, existing legislative rent controls in the markets in which it operates, which may have
an adverse impact on Killam’s operations. In the provinces in which Killam currently operates, Prince Edward Island and Ontario have rent
controls. As well, Nova Scotia has rent control for MHCs.

Utility, Energy and Property Tax Risk
Killam is exposed to volatile utility and energy costs and increasing property taxes. Killam has the ability to raise rents on the anniversary
date of its leases, subject to the overall rental market conditions, to offset rising energy and utility costs; however, rental increases may be
limited by market conditions or regulation. Killam invests in energy efficiency initiatives to reduce its reliance on utility costs; however,
Killam remains exposed to price volatility and carbon tax on natural gas and heating oil. Killam has the ability to fix rates through the use
of swap contracts for a portion of its oil and fixed contracts through suppliers for natural gas consumption to reduce the impact of
fluctuations in commodity prices. To address the risk of property tax increases, Killam, along with the assistance of outside consultants,
reviews property tax assessments and, where warranted, appeals them.

Potential Volatility of Unit Prices
One of the factors that may influence the market price of the trust units is the annual yield on the trust units. An increase in market
interest rates may lead purchasers of trust units to demand a higher annual yield, which accordingly could adversely affect the market
price of the trust units. In addition, the market price of the trust units may be affected by changes in general market conditions,
fluctuations in the markets for equity securities and numerous other factors beyond the control of the Trust.
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Legal Rights Normally Associated with the Ownership of Shares of a Corporation
As holders of units, unitholders do not have all of the statutory rights normally associated with ownership of shares of a company
including, for example, the right to bring “oppression” or “derivative” actions against the Trust. The units are not “deposits” within the
meaning of the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation Act and are not insured under the provisions of that Act or any other legislation.
Furthermore, the Trust is not a trust company and, accordingly, is not registered under any trust and loan company legislation as it does
not carry on or intend to carry on the business of a trust company.

Fluctuation and Availability of Cash Distributions
Killam's distribution policy is established pursuant to the Declaration of Trust and may only be changed with the approval of a majority of
Unitholders. However, the Board of Trustees may reduce or suspend cash distributions indefinitely, which could have a material adverse
effect on the market price of the trust units. There can be no assurance regarding the amount of income to be generated by Killam's
properties. The ability of Killam to make cash distributions, and the actual amount distributed, will be entirely dependent on the
operations and assets of Killam, and will be subject to various factors including financial performance, obligations under applicable credit
facilities, fluctuations in working capital, the sustainability of income derived from the tenant profile of Killam's properties and capital
expenditure requirements. Distributions may be increased, reduced or suspended entirely depending on Killam's operations and the
performance of Killam's assets at the discretion of the Trustees. The market value of the trust units will deteriorate if Killam is unable to
meet its distribution targets in the future, and that deterioration may be significant. In addition, the composition of cash distributions for
tax purposes may change over time and may affect the after-tax return of investors.

Ability of Unitholders to Redeem Units
The entitlement of unitholders to receive cash upon the redemption of their trust units is subject to the following limitations: (i) the total
amount payable by Killam in respect of such trust units and all other trust units tendered for redemption in the same calendar month
must not exceed $50,000 (provided that such limitation may be waived at the discretion of the Trustees); (ii) at the time such trust units
are tendered for redemption, the outstanding trust units must be listed for trading on a stock exchange or traded or quoted on another
market that the Trustees consider, in their sole discretion, provides fair market value prices for the trust units; (iii) the trading of trust
units is not suspended or halted on any stock exchange on which the trust units are listed (or, if not listed on a stock exchange, on any
market on which the trust units are quoted for trading) on the redemption date for more than five trading days during the 10-day trading
period commencing immediately after the redemption date; and (iv) the redemption of the trust units must not result in the delisting of
the trust units from the principal stock exchange on which the trust units are listed.

Exchangeable Units
Holders of exchangeable units may lose their limited liability in certain circumstances, including by taking part in the control or
management of the business of Killam Apartment Limited Partnership (“Limited Partnership”). The principles of law in the various
jurisdictions of Canada recognizing the limited liability of the limited partners of limited partnerships subsisting under the laws of one
province but carrying on business in another province have not been authoritatively established. If limited liability is lost, there is a risk
that holders of exchangeable units may be liable beyond their contribution of capital and share of undistributed net income of the Limited
Partnership in the event of judgment on a claim in an amount exceeding the sum of the net assets of the General Partner and the net
assets of the Limited Partnership. Holders of exchangeable units remain liable to return to the Limited Partnership for such part of any
amount distributed to them as may be necessary to restore the capital of the Limited Partnership to the amount existing before such
distribution if, as a result of any such distribution, the capital of the Limited Partnership is reduced and the Limited Partnership is unable
to pay its debts as they become due.

Taxation-related Risks
Killam currently qualifies as a mutual fund trust for Canadian income tax purposes. It is the current policy of Killam to distribute all of its
taxable income to unitholders and it is therefore generally not subject to tax on such amount. In order to maintain its current mutual fund
trust status, Killam is required to comply with specific restrictions regarding its activities and the investments held by it. Should Killam
cease to qualify as a mutual fund trust, the consequences could be adverse.
There can be no assurance that Canadian federal income tax laws in respect of the treatment of mutual fund trusts will not be changed in
a manner that adversely affects Killam or its unitholders. If Killam ceases to qualify as a “mutual fund trust”, Killam will be required to pay
a tax under Part XII.2 of the Income Tax Act (“the Tax Act”). The payment of Part XII.2 tax by Killam may have adverse income tax
consequences for certain of Killam’s unitholders, including non-resident persons and trusts governed by registered retirement savings
plans, registered disability savings plans, deferred profit-sharing plans, registered retirement income funds, tax-free savings accounts and
registered education savings plans (“designated savings plans”), which acquired an interest in Killam directly or indirectly from another
Killam unitholder. If Killam ceases to qualify as a “mutual fund trust” or “registered investment” under the Tax Act and Killam units cease
to be listed on a designated stock exchange, Killam units will cease to be qualified investments for trusts governed by designated savings
plans. Killam will endeavour to ensure trust units continue to be qualified investments for trusts governed by the designated savings
plans; however, there can be no assurance that this will be so. The Tax Act imposes penalties for the acquisition or holding of nonqualified investments by such trusts. Unitholders should consult their own tax advisors in this regard, including as to whether Killam units
are “prohibited investments” for registered retirement savings plans, registered retirement income funds or tax-free savings accounts.
68

K I L L A M A PA R T M E N T R E I T | 2 0 1 7

44

2017 Management’s
Discussion
& Analysis
2017
Management's
Discussion
and Analysis
Dollar amounts
amounts in
inthousands
thousandsofofCanadian
Canadiandollars
dollars(except
(except
noted)
asas
noted)

Certain rules in the Tax Act (the “SIFT Rules”) affect the tax treatment of specified investment flow-through trusts (“SIFT trusts”), and their
unitholders. A trust resident in Canada will generally be a SIFT trust for a particular taxation year for purposes of the Tax Act if, at any time
during the taxation year, investments in the trust are listed or traded on a stock exchange or other public market and the trust holds one
or more “non-portfolio properties” as defined in the Tax Act. Non-portfolio properties generally include certain investments in real
properties situated in Canada and certain investments in corporations and trusts resident in Canada and in partnerships with specified
connections to Canada. However, a trust will not be considered to be a SIFT trust for a taxation year if it qualifies as a “real estate
investment trust” (as defined in the Tax Act) for that year (the “REIT Exception”).
Pursuant to the SIFT Rules, distributions of a SIFT trust’s “non-portfolio earnings” are not deductible to the SIFT trust in computing its
income. Non-portfolio earnings are generally defined as income attributable to a business carried on by the SIFT trust in Canada or to
income (other than dividends) from, and taxable capital gains from the disposition of, non-portfolio properties. The SIFT trust is itself
liable to pay income tax on an amount equal to the amount of such non-deductible distributions at a rate that is substantially equivalent
to the combined federal and provincial general tax rate applicable to taxable Canadian corporations. Such non-deductible distributions
paid to a holder of units of the SIFT trust are generally deemed to be taxable dividends received by the holder of such units from a taxable
Canadian corporation. Such deemed dividends will qualify as “eligible dividends” for purposes of the enhanced gross-up and dividend tax
credit if paid to any individual resident in Canada. Distributions that are paid as returns of capital will not attract this tax.
A trust that satisfies the REIT Exception is excluded from the definition of a SIFT trust in the Tax Act and is therefore not subject to the SIFT
Rules. In addition to the trust being resident in Canada throughout the year, the following five criteria must be met in order for the Trust
to qualify for the REIT Exception:
•

At each time in the taxation year, the total fair market value at that time of all “non-portfolio properties” that are “qualified
REIT properties” held by the Trust must be at least 90% of the total fair market value at that time of all non-portfolio properties
held by the Trust;

•

Not less than 90% of the Trust’s “gross REIT revenue” for the taxation year is from one or more of the following: “rent from real
or immovable properties”, interest, capital gains from dispositions of “real or immovable properties” that are capital properties,
dividends, royalties and dispositions of “eligible resale properties”;

•

Not less than 75% of the Trust’s gross REIT revenue for the taxation year is derived from one or more of the following: rent from
real or immovable properties, interest from mortgages on real or immovable properties, from dispositions of real or immovable
properties that are capital properties;

•

At no time in the taxation year can the total fair market value of properties comprising real or movable property that is capital
property, an “eligible resale property”, cash, deposits (within the meaning of the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation Act or
with a branch in Canada of a bank or a credit union), indebtedness of Canadian corporations represented by banker’s
acceptances, and debt issued or guaranteed by the Canadian government or issued by a province, municipal government or
certain other qualifying public institutions be less than 75% of the “equity value” (in each case, as defined in the Tax Act) of the
Trust at that time; and

•

Investments in the Trust must be, at any time in the taxation year, listed or traded on a stock exchange or other public market.

The SIFT Rules contain a “look-through rule” under which a trust could qualify for the REIT Exception where it holds properties indirectly
through intermediate entities, provided that each such entity, assuming it were a trust, would satisfy paragraphs (1) through (4) of the
REIT Exception above.
The REIT Exception does not fully accommodate the current business structures used by many Canadian REITs, and contains a number of
technical tests that many Canadian REITs, including the Trust, may find difficult to satisfy. The Trust will endeavour to ensure that the Trust
will qualify for the REIT Exception at all times during each taxation year, and each direct and indirect subsidiary of the Trust will qualify as
an “excluded subsidiary entity” (as defined in the Tax Act) such that the Trust will not be a SIFT Trust within the meaning of the SIFT Rules
at any time. However, there can be no assurance that this will be so. There can also be no assurance that the investments or activities
undertaken by the Trust in a Taxation Year will not result in the Trust failing to qualify for the REIT Exception for that taxation year.
If the Trust does not qualify for the REIT Exception for a taxation year, the SIFT Rules will apply to the Trust for that year. Application of the
SIFT Rules may, depending on the nature of distributions from the REIT, including what portion of its distributions is income and what
portion is returns of capital, have a material adverse effect on the after-tax returns of certain unitholders. Such adverse tax consequences
may impact the future level of cash distributions made by the Trust, the ability of the Trust to undertake future financings and acquisitions
and could also adversely affect the marketability of the Trust’s securities.
The REIT Exception is applied on an annual basis. Accordingly, if the Trust did not qualify for the REIT Exception in a particular taxation
year, it may be possible to restructure the Trust such that it may qualify in a subsequent taxation year. There can be no assurances,
however, that the Trust will be able to restructure such that it will not be subject to the tax imposed by the SIFT Rules, or that any such
restructuring, if implemented, would not result in material costs or other adverse consequences to the Trust and unitholders. The Trust
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intends to take such steps as are necessary to ensure that, to the extent possible, it qualifies for the REIT Exception and any negative
effects of the SIFT Rules on the Trust and unitholders are minimized.

Other Canadian Tax Matters
There can be no assurance that Canadian federal income tax laws, the terms of the Canada-United States Income Tax Convention, or the
administrative policies and assessing practices of the Canada Revenue Agency will not be changed in a manner that adversely affects the
REIT or unitholders. Any such change could increase the amount of tax payable by the REIT or its affiliates and/or unitholders or could
otherwise adversely affect unitholders by reducing the amount available to pay distributions or changing the tax treatment applicable to
unitholders in respect of distributions. In structuring its affairs, the Trust consults with its tax and legal advisors and receives advice as to
the optimal method in which to complete its business objectives while at the same time minimizing or deferring taxes, where possible.
There is no guarantee that the relevant taxing authorities will not take a different view as to the ability of the Trust to utilize these
strategies. It is possible that one or more taxing authorities may review these strategies and determine that tax should have been paid, in
which case the Trust may be liable for such taxes.

Competition for Real Property Investments
Killam competes for suitable real property investments with individuals, corporations and institutions (both Canadian and foreign) that
are presently seeking, or that may seek in the future, real property investments similar to those desired by Killam. Many of these
investors will have greater financial resources than those of the Trust. An increase in the availability of investment funds, and an increase
in interest of real property investments, would tend to increase competition for real property investments, thereby increasing purchase
prices and reducing yields therefrom. In addition, Killam may require additional financing to complete future real property acquisitions,
which may not be available on terms acceptable to Killam.

Future Acquisitions of Real Property Investments
Unitholders will have no advance opportunity to evaluate the merits and risks of any future acquisitions of real property investments
made by Killam and will need to rely on the experience and judgment of Management. There can be no assurance that any such
acquisitions will be successfully completed. Management and the Board will have responsibility for and substantial discretion in the
making of such acquisitions. Therefore, the future profitability of Killam will depend upon the ability of Management to identify and
complete commercially viable acquisitions.

Zoning and Approval
Future acquisitions and development projects may require zoning and other approvals from local government agencies. The process of
obtaining such approvals may take months or years, and there can be no assurance that the necessary approvals for any particular
project will be obtained. Holding costs accrue while regulatory approvals are being sought, and delays could render future acquisitions
and developments uneconomical.

Dependence on Key Personnel
The success of Killam will be largely dependent upon the quality of its Management and personnel. Loss of the services of such persons,
or the inability to attract personnel of equal ability, could adversely affect the Killam's business operations and prospects.

Market for Securities and Price Volatility
There can be no assurance that an active trading market in Killam's securities will be sustained. In addition, the market price for Killam's
securities could be subject to wide fluctuations. Factors such as announcements of quarterly variations in operating results, changes in
interest rates, as well as market conditions in the industry, may have a significant impact on the market price of the securities of Killam.
The stock market has from time to time experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations, which have often been unrelated to the
operating performance of particular companies. At times, following periods of volatility in the market price of some companies'
securities, securities litigation has been instituted against such companies. The institution of this type of litigation against Killam could
result in substantial costs and a diversion of Management's attention and resources, which could harm the Trust's business and
prospects.

Co-ownership
Killam has co-ownership of four properties (eight buildings) that are subject to joint control and are joint operations. Risks associated
with co-ownership include the risk of non-payment for operating and capital costs from the partner, risk of inability to finance a property
associated with a joint venture or limited partnership and the risk of a partner selling their interest in the properties.

Ground Leases
Three of Killam’s properties, including 6101 South Street and Chapter House located in Halifax, and 1033 Queen Street West in Toronto,
are subject to long-term ground leases in which the underlying land is owned by an arms-length third party and leased to Killam. Under
the terms of the ground lease, Killam must pay rent for the use of the land and is generally responsible for all the costs and expenses
associated with the building and improvements. Unless the lease term is extended, the land, together with all the improvements made,
will revert to the owner of the land upon the expiration of the lease. The leases are scheduled to expire in 2041 (there is an option for a
ten-year renewal), 2080 and 2060, respectively.

70

K I L L A M A PA R T M E N T R E I T | 2 0 1 7

46

2017 Management’s
Discussion
& Analysis
2017
Management's
Discussion
and Analysis
Dollar amounts
amounts in
inthousands
thousandsofofCanadian
Canadiandollars
dollars(except
(except
noted)
asas
noted)

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and
Assumptions
Critical Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies
The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving estimations (see Key Accounting Estimates and Assumptions below)
that have been made in applying the Trust’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the reported amounts in the
consolidated financial statements:
(i) Income taxes
The Trust applies judgment in determining the tax rates applicable to its corporate subsidiaries and identifying the temporary differences
in each of such legal subsidiaries in respect of which deferred income taxes are recognized. Deferred taxes related to temporary
differences arising from its corporate subsidiaries are measured based on the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the
asset is realized or the liability is settled. Temporary differences are differences that are expected to reverse in the future and arise from
differences between accounting and tax asset values.
(ii) Investment property and internal capital program
The Trust’s accounting policy relating to investment properties is described in note 2(G) to the consolidated financial statements. In
applying this policy, judgment is applied in determining the extent and frequency of utilizing independent, third-party appraisals to
measure the fair value of the Trust’s investment properties. Additionally, judgment is applied in determining the appropriate classes of
investment properties in order to measure fair value. The Trust also undertakes internal capital improvements and upgrades. Such work is
specifically identified, and the Trust applies judgment in the estimated amount of directly attributable salaries to be allocated to capital
improvements and upgrades of its investment properties.
(iii) Financial instruments
The Trust’s accounting policies relating to financial instruments are described in note 2(L) to the consolidated financial statements. Critical
judgments inherent in these policies related to applying the criteria set out in IAS 39 to designate financial instruments into categories i.e.
FVTPL, etc., assess the effectiveness of hedging relationships and determine the identification of embedded derivatives, if any, that are
subject to fair value measurement.
(iv) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements of the Trust include the accounts of Killam and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, as well as entities
over which the Trust exercises control on a basis other than ownership of voting interest within the scope of IFRS 10, Consolidated
Financial Statements. Judgment is applied in determining if an entity meets the criteria of control as defined in the accounting standard.
Key Accounting Estimates and Assumptions
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year. Actual results could differ from estimates.
(i) Valuation of investment properties
The choice of valuation method and the critical estimates and assumptions underlying the fair value determination of investment
properties are set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements. Significant estimates used in determining the fair value of the
Trust’s investment properties include capitalization rates and net operating income (which is influenced by inflation rates, vacancy rates
and expected maintenance costs) used in the overall capitalization rate valuation method as well as discount rates and forecasted cash
flows used in the discounted cash flow valuation method. A change to any one of these inputs could significantly alter the fair value of an
investment property. Please refer to note 5 for sensitivity analysis.
IPUC are also valued at fair value, except if such values cannot be reliably determined. In the case when fair value cannot be reliably
determined, such property is recorded at cost. The fair value of IPUC is determined using the direct income capitalization method.
(ii) Deferred unit-based compensation plan
The compensation costs relating to the deferred unit plan are based on estimates of how many deferred units will be awarded as well as
how many will actually vest and be exercised.
(iii) Deferred taxes
The amount of the temporary differences between the accounting carrying value of the Trust’s assets and liabilities held in various
corporate subsidiaries versus the tax bases of those assets and liabilities and the tax rates at which the differences will be realized are
outlined in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Future Accounting Policy Changes
The following new or amended accounting standards under IFRS have been issued or revised by the IASB; however, they are not yet
effective and as such have not been applied to the consolidated financial statements.
IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("IFRS 15")
IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from contracts with customers.
Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach to measuring and recording
revenue. The new revenue standard is applicable to all entities and will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under
IFRS. Either a full or modified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early
adoption permitted.
To assess the impact of this new standard, Killam has completed its assessment of IFRS 15 on the consolidated financial statements and
related note disclosure. Killam’s assessment is that the key areas in scope of IFRS 15 include, but are not limited to, common area
maintenance recoveries and MHC home sales. These revenues are not material to Killam's consolidated financial statements. Killam
intends to adopt the new standard on the required effective date.
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments ("IFRS 9")
In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9, which introduces new requirements for classification and measurement,
impairment, and hedge accounting. IFRS 9 establishes principles for the financial reporting of financial assets and financial liabilities that
will present relevant and useful information to users of financial statements for their assessment of the amounts, timing and uncertainty
of an entity's future cash flows. IFRS 9 also introduces an expected loss impairment model for all financial assets not measured at fair
value through profit or loss that requires recognition of expected credit losses rather than incurred losses as applied under the current
standard. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. Killam has completed
an assessment of the impact of IFRS 9 on its consolidated financial statements and identified that the following key areas are in scope of
IFRS 9: mortgages and loans payable, exchangeable units and accumulated other comprehensive income as a component of equity. Killam
does not expect a material impact on its consolidated financial statements upon adoption. Killam intends to adopt the new standard on
the required effective date.
IFRS 16, Leases ("IFRS 16")
In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16. The new standard brings most leases on-balance sheet for lessees under a single model,
eliminating the distinction between operating and finance leases. Lessor accounting, however, remains largely unchanged, and the
distinction between operating and finance leases is retained. This standard will be effective for Killam’s annual periods beginning after
January 1, 2019, with early adoption permitted. To assess the impact of this new standard, Killam has formed an internal working group
and continues to progress on its in-depth assessment of IFRS 16 on its consolidated financial statements. Killam does not expect a
significant impact to its consolidated financial statements on adoption of this IFRS standard.
IFRS 2, Share-based Payment ("IFRS 2")
In June 2016, the IASB issued final amendments to IFRS 2, Share-based Payment, clarifying how to account for certain types of sharebased payment transactions. The amendments, which were developed through the IFRS Interpretations Committee, provide
requirements on the accounting for: (i) the effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions on the measurement of cash-settled share-based
payments; (ii) share-based payment transactions with a net settlement feature for withholding tax obligations; and (iii) a modification to
the terms and conditions of a share-based payment that changes the classification of the transaction from cash-settled to equity-settled.
Killam intends to adopt the amendments to IFRS 2 in the consolidated financial statements for the annual period beginning on or after
January 1, 2018, however, since the current policy and practice is in line with the amendments, Killam does not expect any impact to its
consolidated financial statements.
IAS 40, Investment Property ("IAS 40")
In December 2016, the IASB issued an amendment to IAS 40 clarifying certain existing requirements. The amendment required that an
asset be transferred to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. A change in use occurs when the property meets
or ceases to meet, the definition of investment property and there is evidence of the change in use. In isolation, a change in
management’s intention for the use of a property does not provide evidence of a change in use. These amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. Killam will apply the amendment when it becomes
effective prospectively, however, since the current policy and practice is in line with the clarification issues, Killam does not expect any
impact to its consolidated financial statements.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Internal Controls
Management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that its Disclosure Controls and
Procedures and Internal Controls will prevent or detect all error and all fraud. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, an
evaluation of controls can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud or error, if any,
within Killam have been detected.
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Disclosure Controls and Procedures
As of December 31, 2017, Management evaluated the effectiveness of the operation of its disclosure controls and procedures (“Disclosure
Controls”), as defined under rules adopted by the Canadian Securities Administrators. This evaluation was performed under the
supervision of, and with the participation of, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, with the assistance of
Management.
Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in documents filed with securities
regulatory authorities is recorded, processed, summarized and reported on a timely basis, and is accumulated and communicated to
Management, including the President ad Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure.
Based on the evaluation of Disclosure Controls, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, subject to
the inherent limitations noted above, Disclosure Controls are effective in ensuring that material information relating to Killam and its
consolidated subsidiaries is made known to Management on a timely basis by others within those entities, and is included as appropriate
in this MD&A.
Internal Controls over Financial Reporting
Internal controls over financial reporting ("ICFR") are designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of the Killam’s
financial reporting and its preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS. Management’s
documentation and assessment of the effectiveness of Killam’s ICFR continues as of the date of this MD&A with the focus on processes
and controls in areas identified as being “key risks”.
As at December 31, 2017, Killam’s President and Chief Executive Officer and its Chief Financial Officer, with the assistance of
Management, assessed the effectiveness of the internal controls over financial reporting using the criteria set forth in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in 2013 and, based
on that assessment, determined that the internal controls over financial reporting were designed and operating effectively as at
December 31, 2017. Killam did not make any changes to the design of internal controls over financial reporting in 2017 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the internal controls over financial reporting.

Related Party Transactions
For the year ended December 31, 2017, Killam paid $33 thousand in commercial leasing fees to a property management company
controlled by an executive and Trustee of Killam (December 31, 2016 - $nil).
During the year ended December 31, 2017, Killam paid a sales commission totaling $0.3 million to a property management company
that is 50% owned by an executive and Trustee of Killam (December 31, 2016 - $nil).
Halkirk Properties Limited ("Halkirk") is a company that is partially owned by a Trustee of Killam. During 2016 and 2017, Killam and
Halkirk have been developing a 240-unit building adjacent to the Brewery Market in Halifax, Nova Scotia. Construction of the
development is managed by Killam and the cost of construction is funded 50/50 by each partner.

Subsequent Events
On January 16, 2018, Killam announced a distribution of $0.05167 per unit, payable on February 15, 2018, to unitholders of record on
January 31, 2018.
On February 9, 2018 KIllam agreed to acquire a 1.8 acre development site located in Kitchener, Ontario, which includes a small
commercial building and a heritage residence for $6.0 million. This property is zoned for a 141-unit development and is scheduled to
close in mid-March.
On February 12, 2018, Killam agreed to acquire a recently completed, twelve-storey, 110-unit apartment building located in Dartmouth,
Nova Scotia for $33.0 million, which is expected to close by the end of February.
On February 13, 2018, the Board of Trustees approved a 3.2% increase to Killam's annual distribution, to $0.64 per unit from $0.62 per
unit. The monthly distribution will be $0.05333 per unit, up from $0.05167 per unit. The increase will become effective for the March
2018 distribution, to be paid in April 2018.
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Statements
The accompanying consolidated financial statements and management’s discussion and analysis of
results of operations and financial condition (MD&A) have been prepared by the management of Killam
Apartment REIT in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and include amounts
based on management’s informed judgements and estimates. Management is responsible for the
integrity and objectivity of these consolidated financial statements. The financial information presented
in the MD&A is consistent with that in the consolidated financial statements in all material respects.
To assist management in the discharge of these responsibilities, management has established
the necessary internal controls designed to ensure that our financial records are reliable for preparing
financial statements and other financial information, transactions are properly authorized and recorded,
and assets are safeguarded.
As at December 31, 2017, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer evaluated, or caused
an evaluation under their direct supervision of, the design and operation of our internal controls
over financial reporting (as defined in National Instrument 52‐109, Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’
Annual and Interim Filings) and, based on that assessment, determined that our internal controls over
financial reporting were appropriately designed and operating effectively.
Ernst & Young LLP, the auditors appointed by the Unitholders, have examined the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards to enable them
to express to the Unitholders their opinion on the consolidated financial statements. Their report as
auditors is set forth below.
The consolidated financial statements have been further reviewed and approved by the Board of Trustees
and its Audit Committee. This committee meets regularly with management and the auditors,
who have full and free access to the Audit Committee.
February 13, 2018

Philip Fraser 					
President and Chief Executive Officer 		
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Dale Noseworthy
Chief Financial Officer

Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Unitholders of Killam Apartment Real Estate Investment Trust
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Killam Apartment Real Estate
Investment Trust, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31,
2017 and 2016 and the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, changes in equity
and cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.
Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Killam Apartment Real Estate Investment Trust as at December 31, 2017 and 2016 and its
financial performance and cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards.

								Chartered Professional Accountants
								Licensed Public Accountants
Halifax, Canada
February 13, 2018
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-KNNCO#RCTVOGPV4GCN'UVCVG+PXGUVOGPV6TWUV -KNNCOQTVJG6TWUV KUCPWPKPEQTRQTCVGFQRGPGPFGFOWVWCNHWPFVTWUV
ETGCVGFRWTUWCPVVQVJGCOGPFGFCPFTGUVCVGF&GENCTCVKQPQH6TWUV &16 FCVGF0QXGODGTWPFGTVJGNCYUQHVJG
2TQXKPEGQH1PVCTKQ-KNNCOURGEKCNK\GUKPVJGCESWKUKVKQPOCPCIGOGPVCPFFGXGNQROGPVQHOWNVKTGUKFGPVKCNCRCTVOGPVDWKNFKPIU
CPFOCPWHCEVWTGFJQOGEQOOWPKVKGU /*%U KP%CPCFC
6JGEQPUQNKFCVGFHKPCPEKCNUVCVGOGPVUEQORTKUGVJGHKPCPEKCNUVCVGOGPVUQH-KNNCOCPFKVUUWDUKFKCTKGUCUCVCPFHQTVJG[GCT
GPFGF&GEGODGT-KNNCO UJGCFQHHKEGQRGTCVKQPUCTGNQECVGFCV-GORV4QCF*CNKHCZ0QXC5EQVKC$-:CPF
VJG6TWUV UTGIKUVGTGFQHHKEGKUNQECVGFCV9KPFUQT5VTGGV*CNKHCZ0QXC5EQVKC$-%

5KIPKHKECPV#EEQWPVKPI2QNKEKGU
# 5VCVGOGPVQH%QORNKCPEG
6JGUGEQPUQNKFCVGFHKPCPEKCNUVCVGOGPVUJCXGDGGPRTGRCTGFKPCEEQTFCPEGYKVJ+PVGTPCVKQPCN(KPCPEKCN4GRQTVKPI5VCPFCTFU
+(45 CUKUUWGFD[VJG+PVGTPCVKQPCN#EEQWPVKPI5VCPFCTFU$QCTF +#5$ 
6JGEQPUQNKFCVGFHKPCPEKCNUVCVGOGPVUQHVJG6TWUVHQTVJG[GCTGPFGF&GEGODGTYGTGCWVJQTK\GFHQTKUUWGKP
CEEQTFCPEGYKVJCTGUQNWVKQPQHVJG$QCTFQH6TWUVGGUQH-KNNCOQP(GDTWCT[
$ $CUKUQH2TGUGPVCVKQP
6JGEQPUQNKFCVGFHKPCPEKCNUVCVGOGPVUQH-KNNCOJCXGDGGPRTGRCTGFQPCJKUVQTKECNEQUVDCUKUGZEGRVHQTKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGU
FGHGTTGFWPKVDCUGFEQORGPUCVKQPEQPXGTVKDNGFGDGPVWTGUCPF'ZEJCPIGCDNG7PKVUYJKEJJCXGDGGPOGCUWTGFCVHCKTXCNWG
*KUVQTKECNEQUVKUIGPGTCNN[DCUGFQPVJGHCKTXCNWGQHVJGEQPUKFGTCVKQPIKXGPKPGZEJCPIGHQTCUUGVU6JGEQPUQNKFCVGFHKPCPEKCN
UVCVGOGPVUJCXGDGGPRTGRCTGFQPCIQKPIEQPEGTPDCUKUCPFCTGRTGUGPVGFKP%CPCFKCPFQNNCTUYJKEJKU-KNNCOdUHWPEVKQPCN
EWTTGPE[CPFCNNXCNWGUCTGTQWPFGFVQVJGPGCTGUVVJQWUCPF  GZEGRVRGTWPKVCOQWPVQTCUPQVGF
% $CUKUQH%QPUQNKFCVKQP
K 5WDUKFKCTKGU
6JGEQPUQNKFCVGFHKPCPEKCNUVCVGOGPVUEQORTKUGVJGCUUGVUCPFNKCDKNKVKGUQHCNNUWDUKFKCTKGUCPFVJGTGUWNVUQHCNNUWDUKFKCTKGUHQT
VJGHKPCPEKCN[GCT-KNNCOCPFKVUUWDUKFKCTKGUCTGEQNNGEVKXGN[TGHGTTGFVQCU-KNNCOKPVJGUGEQPUQNKFCVGFCPPWCNHKPCPEKCN
UVCVGOGPVU0QPEQPVTQNNKPIKPVGTGUVTGRTGUGPVUVJGRQTVKQPQHRTQHKVQTNQUUCPFPGVCUUGVUPQVJGNFD[-KNNCOCPFCTGRTGUGPVGF
UGRCTCVGN[KPVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVUQHKPEQOGCPFEQORTGJGPUKXGKPEQOGCPFYKVJKPGSWKV[KPVJGEQPUQNKFCVGF
UVCVGOGPVUQHHKPCPEKCNRQUKVKQPUGRCTCVGN[HTQOWPKVJQNFGTUdGSWKV[
5WDUKFKCTKGUCTGGPVKVKGUEQPVTQNNGFD[-KNNCO6JGHKPCPEKCNUVCVGOGPVUQHUWDUKFKCTKGUCTGKPENWFGFKPVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFHKPCPEKCN
UVCVGOGPVUHTQOVJGFCVGVJCVEQPVTQNEQOOGPEGUWPVKNVJGFCVGVJCVEQPVTQNEGCUGU6JGCEEQWPVKPIRQNKEKGUQHUWDUKFKCTKGU
JCXGDGGPEJCPIGFYJGPPGEGUUCT[VQCNKIPVJGOYKVJVJGRQNKEKGUCFQRVGFD[-KNNCO+PEGTVCKPEKTEWOUVCPEGU-KNNCOJCU
EQPVTQNQXGTGPVKVKGUKPYJKEJKVFQGUPQVQYPOQTGVJCPQHVJGXQVKPIRQYGT
+PKVUGXCNWCVKQP/CPCIGOGPVEQPUKFGTUYJGVJGT-KNNCOEQPVTQNUVJGGPVKV[D[XKTVWGQHVJGHQNNQYKPIEKTEWOUVCPEGU
C
2QYGTQXGTOQTGVJCPJCNHQHVJGXQVKPITKIJVUD[XKTVWGQHCPCITGGOGPVYKVJQVJGTKPXGUVQTU
D 2QYGTVQIQXGTPVJGHKPCPEKCNCPFQRGTCVKPIRQNKEKGUQHVJGGPVKV[WPFGTCUVCVWVGQTCPCITGGOGPV
E
2QYGTVQCRRQKPVQTTGOQXGVJGOCLQTKV[QHVJGOGODGTUQHVJGDQCTFQHFKTGEVQTUQTGSWKXCNGPVIQXGTPKPIDQF[CPFEQPVTQN
QHVJGGPVKV[KUD[VJCVDQCTFQTDQF[CPF
F 2QYGTVQECUVVJGOCLQTKV[QHXQVGUCVOGGVKPIUQHVJGDQCTFQHFKTGEVQTUQTGSWKXCNGPVIQXGTPKPIDQF[CPFEQPVTQNQHVJG
GPVKV[KUD[VJCVDQCTFQTDQF[
#EJCPIGKPVJGQYPGTUJKRKPVGTGUVQHCUWDUKFKCT[YKVJQWVCEJCPIGQHEQPVTQNKUCEEQWPVGFHQTCUCPGSWKV[VTCPUCEVKQP.QUUGU
CTGCVVTKDWVGFVQVJGPQPEQPVTQNNKPIKPVGTGUVGXGPKHVJCVTGUWNVUKPCFGHKEKVDCNCPEG
-KNNCOQYPUQHVJGUJCTGUQHC%QTRQTCVKQPYJKEJQYPUCRTQRGTV[WPFGTFGXGNQROGPV-KNNCOJCUFGVGTOKPGFVJCVKV
EQPVTQNUVJG%QTRQTCVKQPCPFVJGTGHQTGEQPUQNKFCVGUVJG%QTRQTCVKQP UCUUGVUNKCDKNKVKGUCPFVJGTGUWNVUQHKVUQRGTCVKQPU#U
-KNNCOYKNNRWTEJCUGVJGTGOCKPKPIQHVJGUJCTGUKPVJG%QTRQTCVKQPWRQPVJGEQORNGVKQPQHVJGFGXGNQROGPVVJGPQP
EQPVTQNNKPIKPVGTGUVKUTGEQTFGFCUCNKCDKNKV[CPFKUKPENWFGFKPQVJGTPQPEWTTGPVNKCDKNKVKGU
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0QVGUVQVJG%QPUQNKFCVGF(KPCPEKCN5VCVGOGPVU
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&QNNCTCOQWPVUKPVJQWUCPFUQH%CPCFKCPFQNNCTU
Dollar amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except unit/share amounts, or as noted)

5KIPKHKECPV#EEQWPVKPI2QNKEKGU EQPVKPWGF
-KNNCO UKPXGUVOGPVKPUWDUKFKCTKGUCNNQHYJKEJCTGKPEQTRQTCVGFKP%CPCFCCTGNKUVGFKPVJGHQNNQYKPIVCDNG
5WDUKFKCT[

+PVGTGUV

-KNNCO#RCTVOGPV)GPGTCN2CTVPGT.VF



-KNNCO#RCTVOGPV.KOKVGF2CTVPGTUJKR



-KNNCO2TQRGTVKGU+PE



-KNNCO2TQRGTVKGU5)2.VF



-KNNCO#RCTVOGPV5WDUKFKCT[.KOKVGF2CTVPGTUJKR



0$+PE



-KNNCO+PXGUVOGPVU+PE



-KNNCO+PXGUVOGPVU 2'+ +PE



-KNNCO2TQRGTVKGU#RCTVOGPVU6TWUV



-KNNCO2TQRGTVKGU/*%6TWUV



$NCEMUJKTG%QWTV.KOKVGF



$NCEMUJKTG%QWTV.KOKVGF2CTVPGTUJKR



-KNNCO-CO4GU 5KNXGT5RGCT +PE



-KNNCO-CO4GU )TKF +PE



-KNNCO-CO4GU -CPCVC.CMGU ++PE



-KNNCO-CO4GU -CPCVC.CMGU +++PE



-KNNCO-CO4GU -CPCVC.CMGU ++++PE



-KNNCO-CO4GU -CPCVC.CMGU +8+PE



-KNNCO-GKVJ&GXGNQROGPV.VF



4KQVTKP2TQRGTVKGU )NQWEGUVGT +PE



KK ,QKPVCTTCPIGOGPVU
-KNNCOJCULQKPVCTTCPIGOGPVUKPCPFLQKPVEQPVTQNQHHQWTRTQRGTVKGU GKIJVDWKNFKPIU -KNNCOJCUCUUGUUGFVJGPCVWTGQHKVULQKPV
CTTCPIGOGPVUCUCV&GEGODGTCPFFGVGTOKPGFVJGOVQDGLQKPVQRGTCVKQPU(QTLQKPVQRGTCVKQPU-KNNCOTGEQIPK\GUKVU
UJCTGQHTGXGPWGUGZRGPUGUCUUGVUCPFNKCDKNKVKGUYJKEJCTGKPENWFGFKPVJGKTTGURGEVKXGFGUETKRVKQPUQPVJGEQPUQNKFCVGF
UVCVGOGPVUQHHKPCPEKCNRQUKVKQPCPFEQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVUQHKPEQOGCPFEQORTGJGPUKXGKPEQOG#NNDCNCPEGUCPFGHHGEVUQH
VTCPUCEVKQPUDGVYGGPLQKPVQRGTCVKQPUCPF-KNNCOJCXGDGGPGNKOKPCVGFVQVJGGZVGPVQHKVUKPVGTGUVKPVJGLQKPVQRGTCVKQPU
& 2TQRGTV[#UUGV#ESWKUKVKQPU
#VVJGVKOGQHCESWKUKVKQPQHCRTQRGTV[QTCRQTVHQNKQQHKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGU-KNNCOGXCNWCVGUYJGVJGTVJGCESWKUKVKQPKUC
DWUKPGUUEQODKPCVKQPQTCUUGVCESWKUKVKQP+(45$WUKPGUU%QODKPCVKQPU a+(45b KUQPN[CRRNKECDNGKHKVKUEQPUKFGTGFVJCVC
DWUKPGUUJCUDGGPCESWKTGF#DWUKPGUUCEEQTFKPIVQ+(45KUFGHKPGFCUCPKPVGITCVGFUGVQHCEVKXKVKGUCPFCUUGVUEQPFWEVGFCPF
OCPCIGFHQTVJGRWTRQUGQHRTQXKFKPICTGVWTPVQKPXGUVQTUQTNQYGTEQUVUQTQVJGTGEQPQOKEDGPGHKVUFKTGEVN[CPFRTQRQTVKQPCVGN[
VQ-KNNCO9JGPFGVGTOKPKPIYJGVJGTVJGCESWKUKVKQPQHCPKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTV[QTCRQTVHQNKQQHKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGUKUC
DWUKPGUUEQODKPCVKQPQTCPCUUGVCESWKUKVKQP-KNNCOCRRNKGULWFIOGPVYJGPFGVGTOKPKPIYJGVJGTCPKPVGITCVGFUGVQHCEVKXKVKGUKU
CESWKTGFKPCFFKVKQPVQVJGRTQRGTV[QTRQTVHQNKQQHRTQRGTVKGU
9JGPCPCESWKUKVKQPFQGUPQVTGRTGUGPVCDWUKPGUUCUFGHKPGFWPFGT+(45-KNNCOENCUUKHKGUVJGUGRTQRGTVKGUQTCRQTVHQNKQQH
RTQRGTVKGUCUCPCUUGVCESWKUKVKQP+FGPVKHKCDNGCUUGVUCESWKTGFCPFNKCDKNKVKGUCUUWOGFKPCPCUUGVCESWKUKVKQPCTGOGCUWTGF
KPKVKCNN[CVVJGKTTGNCVKXGHCKTXCNWGUCVVJGCESWKUKVKQPFCVGGZEGRVHQTHKPCPEKCNKPUVTWOGPVUVJCVCTGTGEQIPK\GFKPKVKCNN[CVHCKT
XCNWG#ESWKUKVKQPTGNCVGFVTCPUCEVKQPEQUVUCTGECRKVCNK\GFVQVJGRTQRGTV[#NNQH-KNNCOdUCESWKUKVKQPUJCXGDGGPENCUUKHKGFCUCUUGV
CESWKUKVKQPU
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0QVGUVQVJG%QPUQNKFCVGF(KPCPEKCN5VCVGOGPVU
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&QNNCTCOQWPVUKPVJQWUCPFUQH%CPCFKCPFQNNCTU
Dollar amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except unit/share amounts, or as noted)

5KIPKHKECPV#EEQWPVKPI2QNKEKGU EQPVKPWGF
' 4GXGPWG4GEQIPKVKQP
K 4GPVCNKPEQOG
4GXGPWGHTQOTGPVCNRTQRGTVKGUKUTGEQIPK\GFYJGPCVGPCPVEQOOGPEGUQEEWRCPE[QHCTGPVCNWPKVQTUKVGCPFTGPVKUFWG4GPVCN
KPEQOGHTQOKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGUKUTGEQIPK\GFQPCUVTCKIJVNKPGDCUKUQXGTVJGNGCUGVGTO-KNNCOJCUPQVVTCPUHGTTGF
UWDUVCPVKCNN[CNNQHVJGDGPGHKVUCPFTKUMUQHQYPGTUJKRQHKVUTGPVCNRTQRGTVKGUCPFVJGTGHQTGCEEQWPVUHQTNGCUGUYKVJKVUVGPCPVU
CUQRGTCVKPINGCUGU
KK 1VJGTKPEQOG
1VJGTEQTRQTCVGKPEQOGKPENWFGUKPVGTGUVCPFOCPCIGOGPVHGGU+PVGTGUVKPEQOGKUTGEQIPK\GFCUGCTPGFCPFOCPCIGOGPVHGGU
CTGTGEQTFGFCUUGTXKEGUCTGRTQXKFGF
KKK 5GTXKEGEJCTIGUCPFGZRGPUGUTGEQXGTCDNGHTQOVGPCPVU
+PEQOGCTKUKPIHTQOGZRGPUGUTGEQXGTGFHTQOVGPCPVUKUTGEQIPK\GFITQUUQHVJGTGNCVGFGZRGPUGUKPVJGRGTKQFKPYJKEJVJG
GZRGPUGECPDGEQPVTCEVWCNN[TGEQXGTGF4GXGPWGTGNCVGFVQNCWPFT[CPFRCTMKPICTGKPENWFGFITQUUQHVJGTGNCVGFEQUVU
KX /CPWHCEVWTGFJQOGUCNGU
9JGTGTGXGPWGKUQDVCKPGFHTQOVJGUCNGQHOCPWHCEVWTGFJQOGUKVKUTGEQIPK\GFYJGPVJGUKIPKHKECPVTKUMUCPFTGYCTFUJCXG
DGGPVTCPUHGTTGFVQVJGDW[GT6JKUYKNNPQTOCNN[VCMGRNCEGQPVJGENQUKPIFCVGQHVJGJQOGUCNG5WEJUCNGUCTGEQPUKFGTGFUCNGUQH
IQQFUCPFPQVUCNGUQHTGCNGUVCVGCU-KNNCOFQGUPQVOCPWHCEVWTGVJGUGJQOGU
( 6GPCPV+PFWEGOGPVU
+PEGPVKXGUUWEJCUECUJTGPVHTGGRGTKQFUCPFOQXGKPCNNQYCPEGUOC[DGRTQXKFGFVQNGUUGGUVQGPVGTKPVQCNGCUG6JGUGKPEGPVKXGU
CTGCOQTVK\GFQPCUVTCKIJVNKPGDCUKUQXGTVJGVGTOQHVJGNGCUGCUCTGFWEVKQPQHTGPVCNTGXGPWG
) +PXGUVOGPV2TQRGTVKGU
+PXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGUKPENWFGOWNVKHCOKN[TGUKFGPVKCNRTQRGTVKGUOCPWHCEVWTGFJQOGEQOOWPKVKGUCPFEQOOGTEKCNRTQRGTVKGU
JGNFVQGCTPTGPVCNKPEQOGCPFRTQRGTVKGUVJCVCTGWPFGTEQPUVTWEVKQPQTFGXGNQROGPVHQTHWVWTGWUGCUKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGU
-KNNCOEQPUKFGTUKVUKPEQOGRTQRGTVKGUVQDGKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGUWPFGT+PVGTPCVKQPCN#EEQWPVKPI5VCPFCTF +#5 
+PXGUVOGPV2TQRGTV[ +#5 CPFJCUEJQUGPVJGHCKTXCNWGOQFGNVQCEEQWPVHQTKVUKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGUKPVJGEQPUQNKFCVGF
HKPCPEKCNUVCVGOGPVU(CKTXCNWGTGRTGUGPVUVJGCOQWPVCVYJKEJVJGRTQRGTVKGUEQWNFDGGZEJCPIGFDGVYGGPCMPQYNGFIGCDNG
CPFYKNNKPIDW[GTCPFCMPQYNGFIGCDNGCPFYKNNKPIUGNNGTKPCPCTO UNGPIVJVTCPUCEVKQPCVVJGFCVGQHXCNWCVKQP
-KNNCO UKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGUJCXGDGGPXCNWGFQPCJKIJGUVCPFDGUVWUGDCUKUCPFFQPQVKPENWFGCP[RQTVHQNKQRTGOKWOVJCV
OC[DGCUUQEKCVGFYKVJVJGGEQPQOKGUQHUECNGHTQOQYPKPICNCTIGRQTVHQNKQQTVJGEQPUQNKFCVKQPQHXCNWGHTQOJCXKPIEQORKNGF
CNCTIGRQTVHQNKQQHRTQRGTVKGUQXGTCNQPIRGTKQFQHVKOGOCP[VJTQWIJKPFKXKFWCNRTQRGTV[CESWKUKVKQPU
+PXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGUCTGOGCUWTGFKPKVKCNN[CVEQUVKPENWFKPIVTCPUCEVKQPEQUVU6TCPUCEVKQPEQUVUKPENWFGFGGFVTCPUHGTVCZGUCPF
XCTKQWURTQHGUUKQPCNHGGU5WDUGSWGPVVQKPKVKCNTGEQIPKVKQPKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGUCTGTGEQTFGFCVHCKTXCNWG(CKTXCNWGKU
FGVGTOKPGFDCUGFQPCEQODKPCVKQPQHKPVGTPCNCPFGZVGTPCNRTQEGUUGUCPFXCNWCVKQPVGEJPKSWGU)CKPUCPFNQUUGUCTKUKPIHTQO
EJCPIGUKPHCKTXCNWGUCTGKPENWFGFKPVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVUQHKPEQOGCPFEQORTGJGPUKXGKPEQOGKPVJG[GCTKPYJKEJVJG[
CTKUG+PXGUVOGPVRTQRGTV[KUFGTGEQIPK\GFYJGPKVJCUDGGPFKURQUGFQHQTRGTOCPGPVN[YKVJFTCYPHTQOWUGCPFPQHWVWTG
GEQPQOKEDGPGHKVKUGZRGEVGF#P[ICKPUQTNQUUGUQPVJGTGVKTGOGPVQTFKURQUCNQHKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGUCTGTGEQIPK\GFKPVJG
EQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVUQHKPEQOGCPFEQORTGJGPUKXGKPEQOGKPVJG[GCTQHTGVKTGOGPVQTFKURQUCN
6TCPUHGTUCTGOCFGVQCPFHTQO+PXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGUWPFGTEQPUVTWEVKQP +27% YJGPCPFQPN[YJGPVJGTGKUCEJCPIGKPWUG
GXKFGPEGFD[VJGEQOOGPEGOGPVQHQRGTCVKPINGCUGUQTEQOOGPEGOGPVQHTGFGXGNQROGPV
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0QVGUVQVJG%QPUQNKFCVGF(KPCPEKCN5VCVGOGPVU
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&QNNCTCOQWPVUKPVJQWUCPFUQH%CPCFKCPFQNNCTU
Dollar amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except unit/share amounts, or as noted)

5KIPKHKECPV#EEQWPVKPI2QNKEKGU EQPVKPWGF
6JGEQUVQHCFGXGNQROGPVRTQRGTV[VJCVKUCPCUUGVCESWKUKVKQPEQORTKUGUVJGCOQWPVQHECUJQTVJGHCKTXCNWGQHQVJGT
EQPUKFGTCVKQPRCKFVQCESWKTGVJGRTQRGTV[KPENWFKPIVTCPUCEVKQPEQUVU5WDUGSWGPVVQCESWKUKVKQPVJGEQUVQHCFGXGNQROGPV
RTQRGTV[KPENWFGUEQUVUVJCVCTGFKTGEVN[CVVTKDWVCDNGVQVJGUGCUUGVUKPENWFKPIFGXGNQROGPVEQUVURTQRGTV[VCZGUCPFDQTTQYKPI
EQUVUQPDQVJURGEKHKECPFIGPGTCNFGDV&KTGEVCPFKPFKTGEVDQTTQYKPIEQUVUFGXGNQROGPVEQUVUCPFRTQRGTV[VCZGUCTG
ECRKVCNK\GFYJGPVJGCEVKXKVKGUPGEGUUCT[VQRTGRCTGCPCUUGVHQTFGXGNQROGPVQTTGFGXGNQROGPVDGIKPCPFEQPVKPWGWPVKNVJG
FCVGVJCVEQPUVTWEVKQPKUUWDUVCPVKCNN[EQORNGVGCPFCNNPGEGUUCT[QEEWRCPE[CPFTGNCVGFRGTOKVUJCXGDGGPTGEGKXGFYJGVJGT
QTPQVVJGURCEGKUNGCUGF+H-KNNCOKUTGSWKTGFCUCEQPFKVKQPQHCNGCUGVQEQPUVTWEVVGPCPVKORTQXGOGPVUVJCVGPJCPEGVJG
XCNWGQHVJGRTQRGTV[VJGPECRKVCNK\CVKQPQHVJGUGEQUVUEQPVKPWGUWPVKNUWEJKORTQXGOGPVUCTGEQORNGVGF%CRKVCNK\CVKQPQH
HKPCPEGEQUVUKUUWURGPFGFKHVJGTGCTGRTQNQPIGFRGTKQFUYJGPFGXGNQROGPVCEVKXKV[KUKPVGTTWRVGF
+PVGTGUVKUECRKVCNK\GFWUKPI-KNNCO UYGKIJVGFCXGTCIGEQUVQHDQTTQYKPICHVGTCFLWUVKPIHQTDQTTQYKPICUUQEKCVGFYKVJURGEKHKE
FGXGNQROGPVU9JGTGDQTTQYKPIKUCUUQEKCVGFYKVJURGEKHKEFGXGNQROGPVUVJGCOQWPVECRKVCNK\GFKUVJGITQUUKPVGTGUVKPEWTTGF
QPUWEJDQTTQYKPINGUUCP[KPXGUVOGPVKPEQOGCTKUKPIQPVGORQTCT[KPXGUVOGPVQHUWEJDQTTQYKPI
2TQRGTVKGUWPFGTFGXGNQROGPVCTGCNUQCFLWUVGFHQTHCKTXCNWGCVGCEJEQPUQNKFCVGFDCNCPEGUJGGVFCVGYKVJHCKTXCNWGCFLWUVOGPVU
TGEQIPK\GFKPPGVKPEQOG
K +PXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGUWPFGTEQPUVTWEVKQP +27%
2TQRGTVKGU WPFGT FGXGNQROGPV KPENWFG VJQUG RTQRGTVKGU QT EQORQPGPVU VJGTGQH VJCV YKNN WPFGTIQ CEVKXKVKGU VJCV YKNN VCMG C
UWDUVCPVKCNRGTKQFQHVKOGVQRTGRCTGVJGRTQRGTVKGUHQTVJGKTKPVGPFGFWUGCUKPEQOGRTQRGTVKGU
* 2TQRGTV[CPF'SWKROGPV
2TQRGTV[CPFGSWKROGPVCTGUVCVGFCVJKUVQTKECNEQUVNGUUCEEWOWNCVGFFGRTGEKCVKQPCPFEQPUKUVOCKPN[QHJGCFQHHKEGDWKNFKPIU
NGCUGJQNFKORTQXGOGPVUCPFKPHQTOCVKQPVGEJPQNQI[U[UVGOU6JGGUVKOCVGFWUGHWNNKXGUTGUKFWCNXCNWGUCPFFGRTGEKCVKQPOGVJQFU
CTGTGXKGYGFCVGCEJ[GCTGPFYKVJVJGGHHGEVQHCP[EJCPIGUKPGUVKOCVGUCEEQWPVGFHQTRTQURGEVKXGN[6JGUGKVGOUCTGECVGIQTK\GF
KPVQVJGHQNNQYKPIENCUUGUCPFVJGKTTGURGEVKXGWUGHWNGEQPQOKENKHGKUWUGFVQECNEWNCVGVJGCOQWPVQHFGRTGEKCVKQPQTCOQTVK\CVKQP
HQTGCEJRGTKQF
%CVGIQT[

7UGHWN.KHG&GRTGEKCVKQP4CVG

$WKNFKPI
*GCX[GSWKROGPV
8GJKENGU
(WTPKVWTGUHKZVWTGUCPFQHHKEGGSWKROGPV
%QORWVGTUQHVYCTG
.GCUGJQNFU

[GCTU


VQ

.GCUGVGTO

&GRTGEKCVKQPOGVJQFWUGF
5VTCKIJVNKPG
&GENKPKPIDCNCPEG
&GENKPKPIDCNCPEG
&GENKPKPIDCNCPEG
&GENKPKPIDCNCPEG
5VTCKIJVNKPG

+ +PXGPVQT[
+PXGPVQT[TGRTGUGPVUOCPWHCEVWTGFJQOGUCXCKNCDNGHQTUCNG6JGOCPWHCEVWTGFJQOGUCTGXCNWGFCVVJGNQYGTQHEQUV RWTEJCUG
RTKEGRNWUFGNKXGT[CPFUGVWREQUVU CPFPGVTGCNK\CDNGXCNWG0GVTGCNK\CDNGXCNWGKUVJGGUVKOCVGFUGNNKPIRTKEGKPVJGQTFKPCT[
EQWTUGQHDWUKPGUUDCUGFQPOCTMGVRTKEGUCVVJGTGRQTVKPIFCVGNGUUEQUVUVQEQORNGVGCPFVJGGUVKOCVGFEQUVUQHUCNG
, %QPUQNKFCVGF5VCVGOGPVUQH%CUJ(NQYU
%CUJEQPUKUVUQHECUJQPJCPFCPFDCPMCEEQWPVDCNCPEGUGZENWFKPIECUJQPJCPFJGNFHQTUGEWTKV[FGRQUKVU+PXGUVKPICPF
HKPCPEKPICEVKXKVKGUVJCVFQPQVTGSWKTGVJGWUGQHECUJQTECUJGSWKXCNGPVUCTGGZENWFGFHTQOVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVUQH
ECUJHNQYUCPFCTGFKUENQUGFUGRCTCVGN[KPVJGPQVGUVQVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFHKPCPEKCNUVCVGOGPVU
- 7PKVDCUGF%QORGPUCVKQP
7PKVDCUGFEQORGPUCVKQPDGPGHKVUCTGRTQXKFGFVQQHHKEGTUVTWUVGGUCPFEGTVCKPGORNQ[GGUCPFCTGKPVGPFGFVQHCEKNKVCVGNQPI
VGTOQYPGTUJKRQH6TWUV7PKVUCPFRTQXKFGCFFKVKQPCNKPEGPVKXGUD[KPETGCUKPIVJGRCTVKEKRCPVUdKPVGTGUVCUQYPGTUKP-KNNCO+P
CEEQTFCPEGYKVJ+#5(KPCPEKCN+PUVTWOGPVU2TGUGPVCVKQP +#5 VJGTGUVTKEVGFVTWUVWPKVU 467U CTGRTGUGPVGFCUC
NKCDKNKV[QPVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVUQHHKPCPEKCNRQUKVKQPCUVJG6TWUVKUQDNKIGFVQRTQXKFGVJGJQNFGTYKVJ6TWUV7PKVUQPEG
VJG467UXGUV6JGHCKTXCNWGQHRGTHQTOCPEGDCUGF467UKUGUVKOCVGFWUKPIC/QPVG%CTNQRTKEKPIOQFGN6JGHCKTXCNWGGUVKOCVG
TGSWKTGUFGVGTOKPCVKQPQHVJGOQUVCRRTQRTKCVGKPRWVUVQVJGRTKEKPIOQFGNKPENWFKPIVJGGZRGEVGFNKHGXQNCVKNKV[CPFFKXKFGPF
[KGNF6JGITCPVFCVGHCKTXCNWGQHVJGFGHGTTGFWPKVDCUGFEQORGPUCVKQPKUFGVGTOKPGFDCUGFQPVJGOCTMGVXCNWGQHVJG6TWUV U
WPKVUQPVJGFCVGQHITCPVCPFEQORGPUCVKQPGZRGPUGKUTGEQIPK\GFQXGTVJGXGUVKPIRGTKQFCPFKPENWFGFKPCFOKPKUVTCVKQPEQUVU
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0QVGUVQVJG%QPUQNKFCVGF(KPCPEKCN5VCVGOGPVU
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&QNNCTCOQWPVUKPVJQWUCPFUQH%CPCFKCPFQNNCTU
Dollar amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except unit/share amounts, or as noted)

5KIPKHKECPV#EEQWPVKPI2QNKEKGU EQPVKPWGF
7PFGT+#5e'ORNQ[GG$GPGHKVUVJG467UCTGENCUUKHKGFCVHCKTXCNWGVJTQWIJRTQHKVQTNQUU (862. CPFCTGOGCUWTGFCVGCEJ
TGRQTVKPIRGTKQFCVHCKTXCNWGYKVJEJCPIGUKPHCKTXCNWGTGEQIPK\GFKPVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVUQHKPEQOGCPFEQORTGJGPUKXG
KPEQOG
. (KPCPEKCN+PUVTWOGPVU
(KPCPEKCNKPUVTWOGPVUCTGCEEQWPVGFHQTRTGUGPVGFCPFFKUENQUGFKPCEEQTFCPEGYKVJ+(45(KPCPEKCN+PUVTWOGPVU&KUENQUWTGU
+#5CPF+#5(KPCPEKCN+PUVTWOGPVU4GEQIPKVKQPCPF/GCUWTGOGPV +#5 -KNNCOTGEQIPK\GUHKPCPEKCNCUUGVUCPF
HKPCPEKCNNKCDKNKVKGUYJGPKVDGEQOGUCRCTV[VQCEQPVTCEV(KPCPEKCNCUUGVUCPFHKPCPEKCNNKCDKNKVKGUYKVJVJGGZEGRVKQPQHHKPCPEKCN
CUUGVUENCUUKHKGFCV(862.CTGOGCUWTGFCVHCKTXCNWGRNWUVTCPUCEVKQPEQUVUQPKPKVKCNTGEQIPKVKQP(KPCPEKCNCUUGVUENCUUKHKGFCV
(862.CTGOGCUWTGFCVHCKTXCNWGQPKPKVKCNTGEQIPKVKQPCPFVTCPUCEVKQPEQUVUCTGGZRGPUGFYJGPKPEWTTGF
'CEJV[RGQHHCKTXCNWGKUECVGIQTK\GFDCUGFQPVJGNQYGUVNGXGNKPRWVVJCVKUUKIPKHKECPVVQVJGHCKTXCNWGOGCUWTGOGPVKPKVU
GPVKTGV[6JGHQNNQYKPIUWOOCTK\GU-KNNCOdUENCUUKHKECVKQPCPFOGCUWTGOGPVQHHKPCPEKCNCUUGVUCPFNKCDKNKVKGU
6[RG

%NCUUKHKECVKQP

/GCUWTGOGPV

4GPVNQCPUCPFQVJGTTGEGKXCDNGU
#EEQWPVURC[CDNGCEETWGFNKCDKNKVKGU
/QTVICIGUNQCPURC[CDNGCPFEQPUVTWEVKQPNQCPU
%QPXGTVKDNGFGDGPVWTGU
'ZEJCPIGCDNG7PKVU
7PKVDCUGFEQORGPUCVKQP
1VJGTNKCDKNKVKGU

.QCPUCPF4GEGKXCDNGU
1VJGT(KPCPEKCN.KCDKNKVKGU
1VJGT(KPCPEKCN.KCDKNKVKGU
(862.
(862.
(862.
(862.

#OQTVK\GFEQUV
#OQTVK\GFEQUV
#OQTVK\GFEQUV
(CKTXCNWG
(CKTXCNWG
(CKTXCNWG
(CKTXCNWG

(KPCPEKCNNKCDKNKVKGUCVHCKTXCNWGVJTQWIJRTQHKVCPFNQUU
%QPXGTVKDNGFGDGPVWTGUKUUWGFD[VJG6TWUVYGTGEQPXGTVKDNGKPVQ6TWUV7PKVUCVVJGQRVKQPQHVJGJQNFGTCPFVJGPWODGTQH6TWUV
7PKVUVQDGKUUWGFFKFPQVXCT[YKVJEJCPIGUKPVJGKTHCKTXCNWG#UVJG6TWUVdU7PKVUYGTGTGFGGOCDNGCVVJGQRVKQPQHVJGJQNFGT
CPFCTGVJGTGHQTGEQPUKFGTGFRWVVCDNGKPUVTWOGPVUKPCEEQTFCPEGYKVJ+#5VJGEQPXGTVKDNGFGDGPVWTGUYGTGEQPUKFGTGFC
NKCDKNKV[EQPVCKPKPINKCDKNKV[ENCUUKHKGFGODGFFGFFGTKXCVKXGU
'HHGEVKXG,CPWCT[VJG6TWUVGNGEVGFVQTGEQTFVJGHWNNQWVUVCPFKPICOQWPVQHGCEJEQPXGTVKDNGFGDGPVWTGCVHCKTXCNWG
FGVGTOKPGFWUKPIVJGENQUKPIVTCFKPIRTKEGHQTGCEJRWDNKEN[VTCFGFEQPXGTVKDNGFGDGPVWTG%JCPIGUKPHCKTXCNWGYGTGTGEQIPK\GF
KPVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVUQHKPEQOGCPFEQORTGJGPUKXGKPEQOG
6JGGZEJCPIGCDNG7PKVUQHVJG6TWUVCTGGZEJCPIGCDNGKPVQWPKVUQHVJG6TWUVCVVJGQRVKQPQHVJGJQNFGT6JGUGGZEJCPIGCDNG
7PKVUCTGEQPUKFGTGFRWVVCDNGKPUVTWOGPVUKPCEEQTFCPEGYKVJ+#5CPFCTGTGSWKTGFVQDGENCUUKHKGFCUHKPCPEKCNNKCDKNKVKGUCV
(862.6JGFKUVTKDWVKQPURCKFQPVJG'ZEJCPIGCDNG7PKVUCTGCEEQWPVGFHQTCUHKPCPEKPIEQUVU
-KNNCOQYPUQHVJGUJCTGUQHC%QTRQTCVKQPYJKEJQYPUCRTQRGTV[WPFGTFGXGNQROGPV-KNNCOJCUFGVGTOKPGFVJCVKV
EQPVTQNUVJG%QTRQTCVKQPCPFVJGTGHQTGEQPUQNKFCVGUVJG%QTRQTCVKQP UCUUGVUNKCDKNKVKGUCPFVJGTGUWNVUQHKVUQRGTCVKQPU6JG
NKCDKNKV[CUUQEKCVGFYKVJVJGWPQYPGFRQTVKQPQHVJGUGUJCTGUKUEQPUKFGTGFCRWVVCDNGKPUVTWOGPVKPCEEQTFCPEGYKVJ+#5
CPF-KNNCOJCUFGUKIPCVGFVJKUCUCHKPCPEKCNNKCDKNKV[CV(862.6JGECTT[KPICOQWPVQHVJKUNKCDKNKV[KUCEEQWPVGFHQTCUQVJGT
NKCDKNKVKGUQPVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVQHHKPCPEKCNRQUKVKQP%JCPIGUKPVJGHCKTXCNWGQHVJGNKCDKNKV[CPFCPCNNQECVKQPQHC
RTQRQTVKQPCVGUJCTGQHQRGTCVKPITGUWNVUCTGCEEQWPVGFHQTCUCHCKTXCNWGCFLWUVOGPVQPKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGU
(KPCPEKCNNKCDKNKVKGUCTGENCUUKHKGFCU(862.KHVJG[OGGVEGTVCKPEQPFKVKQPUCPFCTGFGUKIPCVGFCUUWEJD[/CPCIGOGPVQTVJG[CTG
FGTKXCVKXGNKCDKNKVKGU(KPCPEKCNNKCDKNKVKGUENCUUKHKGFCU(862.CTGOGCUWTGFCVHCKTXCNWGYKVJEJCPIGUTGEQIPK\GFKPVJG
EQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVUQHKPEQOGCPFEQORTGJGPUKXGKPEQOG
.QCPUCPFTGEGKXCDNGU
5WEJTGEGKXCDNGUCTKUGYJGP-KNNCORTQXKFGUUGTXKEGUVQCVJKTFRCTV[UWEJCUCVGPCPVCPFCTGKPENWFGFKPQVJGTEWTTGPVCUUGVU
GZEGRVHQTVJQUGYKVJOCVWTKVKGUOQTGVJCPOQPVJUCHVGTVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVQHHKPCPEKCNRQUKVKQPFCVGYJKEJCTG
ENCUUKHKGFCUQVJGTPQPEWTTGPVCUUGVU.QCPUCPFTGEGKXCDNGUCTGCEEQWPVGFHQTCVCOQTVK\GFEQUV
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0QVGUVQVJG%QPUQNKFCVGF(KPCPEKCN5VCVGOGPVU
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&QNNCTCOQWPVUKPVJQWUCPFUQH%CPCFKCPFQNNCTU
Dollar amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except unit/share amounts, or as noted)

5KIPKHKECPV#EEQWPVKPI2QNKEKGU EQPVKPWGF
1VJGTHKPCPEKCNNKCDKNKVKGU
1VJGTHKPCPEKCNNKCDKNKVKGUCTGHKPCPEKCNNKCDKNKVKGUVJCVCTGPQVENCUUKHKGFCU(862.5WDUGSWGPVVQKPKVKCNTGEQIPKVKQPQVJGTHKPCPEKCN
NKCDKNKVKGUCTGOGCUWTGFCVCOQTVK\GFEQUVWUKPIVJGGHHGEVKXGKPVGTGUVTCVGOGVJQF6JGGHHGEVKXGKPVGTGUVTCVGOGVJQFKUCOGVJQF
QHECNEWNCVKPIVJGCOQTVK\GFEQUVQHCPKPUVTWOGPVCPFQHCNNQECVKPIKPVGTGUVKPEQOGQXGTVJGTGNGXCPVRGTKQF6JGGHHGEVKXG
KPVGTGUVTCVGKUVJGTCVGVJCVGZCEVN[FKUEQWPVUGUVKOCVGFHWVWTGECUJTGEGKRVU KPENWFKPICNNVTCPUCEVKQPEQUVUCPFQVJGTRTGOKWOU
QTFKUEQWPVU VJTQWIJVJGGZRGEVGFNKHGQHVJGFGDVKPUVTWOGPVVQVJGPGVECTT[KPICOQWPVQHVJGKPKVKCNTGEQIPKVKQP
6TWUV7PKVU
-KNNCO U6TWUV7PKVUCTGTGFGGOCDNGCVVJGQRVKQPQHVJGJQNFGTCPFVJGTGHQTGCTGEQPUKFGTGFRWVVCDNGKPUVTWOGPVU2WVVCDNG
KPUVTWOGPVUCTGTGSWKTGFVQDGCEEQWPVGFHQTCUHKPCPEKCNNKCDKNKVKGUGZEGRVYJGTGEGTVCKPEQPFKVKQPUCTGOGVKPCEEQTFCPEGYKVJ
+#5KPYJKEJECUGVJGRWVVCDNGKPUVTWOGPVUOC[DGRTGUGPVGFCUGSWKV[-KNNCO U6TWUV7PKVUOGGVVJGEQPFKVKQPUQH+#5CU
VJG[CTGVJGOQUVUWDQTFKPCVGVQCNNQVJGTENCUUGUQHKPUVTWOGPVUCPFCTGVJGTGHQTGRTGUGPVGFCUGSWKV[QPVJGEQPUQNKFCVGF
UVCVGOGPVUQHHKPCPEKCNRQUKVKQP
4GUVTKEVGF6TWUV7PKVU
6JG467UCTGEQPUKFGTGFCHKPCPEKCNNKCDKNKV[CUVJGTGKUCEQPVTCEVWCNQDNKICVKQPHQTVJG6TWUVVQFGNKXGT6TWUV7PKVUWRQP
EQPXGTUKQPQHVJG467U#UVJG6TWUV7PKVUCTGTGFGGOCDNGCVVJGQRVKQPQHVJGJQNFGTCPFCTGVJGTGHQTGEQPUKFGTGFRWVVCDNG
KPUVTWOGPVUKPCEEQTFCPEGYKVJ+#5VJG467UCTGCNUQEQPUKFGTGFCHKPCPEKCNNKCDKNKV[6JG467UCTGOGCUWTGFCVHCKTXCNWGQP
GCEJTGRQTVKPIFCVGWUKPI-KNNCO UWPKVRTKEGVJGHCKTXCNWGQH467UYKVJRGTHQTOCPEGEQPFKVKQPUCTGGUVKOCVGFWUKPIC/QPVG
%CTNQRTKEKPIOQFGNEJCPIGUKPHCKTXCNWGCTGTGEQIPK\GFKPVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVUQHKPEQOGCPFEQORTGJGPUKXGKPEQOG
'ZEJCPIGCDNG7PKVU
6JG'ZEJCPIGCDNG7PKVUCTGEQPUKFGTGFCHKPCPEKCNNKCDKNKV[CUVJGTGKUCEQPVTCEVWCNQDNKICVKQPHQTVJG6TWUVVQFGNKXGT6TWUV7PKVU
WRQPGZEJCPIGQHVJG'ZEJCPIGCDNG7PKVU6JGFKUVTKDWVKQPUQPVJG'ZEJCPIGCDNG7PKVUCTGTGEQIPK\GFCUHKPCPEKPIEQUVUKPVJG
EQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVUQHKPEQOGCPFEQORTGJGPUKXGKPEQOG6JGFKUVTKDWVKQPURC[CDNGCUCVVJGTGRQTVKPIFCVGKUTGRQTVGF
WPFGTQVJGTEWTTGPVNKCDKNKVKGUQPVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVUQHHKPCPEKCNRQUKVKQP1PKPKVKCNTGEQIPKVKQPVJG'ZEJCPIGCDNG7PKVU
CTGOGCUWTGFCVHCKTXCNWGYKVJVJGTGNCVGFHCKTXCNWGICKPDGKPITGEQTFGFVJTQWIJTGVCKPGFGCTPKPIU5WDUGSWGPVN[VJG
'ZEJCPIGCDNG7PKVUCTGTGOGCUWTGFCVGCEJTGRQTVKPIFCVGCVHCKTXCNWGYKVJEJCPIGUKPHCKTXCNWGTGEQIPK\GFKPVJGEQPUQNKFCVGF
UVCVGOGPVUQHKPEQOGCPFEQORTGJGPUKXGKPEQOG
/QTVICIGUCPFNQCPURC[CDNG
/QTVICIGUCPFNQCPURC[CDNGCTGKPKVKCNN[TGEQIPK\GFCVHCKTXCNWGNGUUFKTGEVN[CVVTKDWVCDNGVTCPUCEVKQPEQUVU#HVGTKPKVKCN
TGEQIPKVKQPOQTVICIGUCPFNQCPURC[CDNGCTGUWDUGSWGPVN[OGCUWTGFCVCOQTVK\GFEQUVWUKPIVJGGHHGEVKXGKPVGTGUVTCVGOGVJQF
/QTVICIGOCVWTKVKGUCPFTGRC[OGPVUFWGOQTGVJCPOQPVJUCHVGTVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVQHHKPCPEKCNRQUKVKQPFCVGCTG
ENCUUKHKGFCUPQPEWTTGPV
(KPCPEKPIEQUVU
(KPCPEKPIHGGUCPFQVJGTEQUVUKPEWTTGFKPEQPPGEVKQPYKVJFGDVHKPCPEKPICTGFGFWEVGFHTQOVJGEQUVQHVJGFGDVCPFCOQTVK\GF
WUKPIVJGGHHGEVKXGKPVGTGUVTCVGOGVJQF7RQPTGHKPCPEKPICP[HKPCPEKPIEQUVUCUUQEKCVGFYKVJRTGXKQWUOQTVICIGUCTGYTKVVGPQHH
VQKPEQOG#OQTVK\GFEQUVKUECNEWNCVGFD[VCMKPIKPVQCEEQWPVCP[FKUEQWPVQTRTGOKWOQPCESWKUKVKQPCPFHGGUQTEQUVUVJCVCTG
CPKPVGITCNRCTVQHVJGGHHGEVKXGKPVGTGUVTCVGECNEWNCVKQP
2TGRCKFKPUWTCPEGRTGOKWOU
%CPCFC/QTVICIGCPF*QWUKPI%QTRQTCVKQP %/*% KPUWTCPEGRTGOKWOUCTGPGVVGFCICKPUVOQTVICIGUCPFNQCPURC[CDNG6JG[
CTGCOQTVK\GFQXGTVJGCOQTVK\CVKQPRGTKQFQHVJGWPFGTN[KPIOQTVICIGNQCPUYJGPKPEWTTGF KPKVKCNRGTKQFKUV[RKECNN[[GCTU
CPFCTGKPENWFGFKPCOQTVK\CVKQPQHFGHGTTGFHKPCPEKPIEQUVUKPVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVUQHKPEQOGCPFEQORTGJGPUKXG
KPEQOG
6TCPUCEVKQPEQUVU
6TCPUCEVKQPEQUVUTGNCVGFVQNQCPUCPFTGEGKXCDNGUCPFQVJGTNKCDKNKVKGUOGCUWTGFCVCOQTVK\GFEQUVCTGPGVVGFCICKPUVVJGECTT[KPI
XCNWGQHVJGCUUGVQTNKCDKNKV[CPFCOQTVK\GFQXGTVJGGZRGEVGFNKHGQHVJGKPUVTWOGPVWUKPIVJGGHHGEVKXGKPVGTGUVTCVGOGVJQF
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0QVGUVQVJG%QPUQNKFCVGF(KPCPEKCN5VCVGOGPVU
&QNNCTCOQWPVUKPVJQWUCPFUQH%CPCFKCPFQNNCTU

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Dollar amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except unit/share amounts, or as noted)

5KIPKHKECPV#EEQWPVKPI2QNKEKGU EQPVKPWGF
&GVGTOKPCVKQPQHHCKTXCNWG
6JGHCKTXCNWGQHCHKPCPEKCNKPUVTWOGPVQPKPKVKCNTGEQIPKVKQPKUIGPGTCNN[VJGVTCPUCEVKQPRTKEGYJKEJKUVJGHCKTXCNWGQHVJG
EQPUKFGTCVKQPIKXGPQTTGEGKXGF5WDUGSWGPVVQKPKVKCNTGEQIPKVKQPVJGHCKTXCNWGQHHKPCPEKCNKPUVTWOGPVUKUTGOGCUWTGFDCUGFQP
TGNGXCPVOCTMGVFCVC-KNNCOENCUUKHKGUVJGHCKTXCNWGHQTGCEJENCUUQHHKPCPEKCNKPUVTWOGPVDCUGFQPVJGHCKTXCNWGJKGTCTEJ[6JGHCKT
XCNWGJKGTCTEJ[FKUVKPIWKUJGUDGVYGGPOCTMGVXCNWGFCVCQDVCKPGFHTQOKPFGRGPFGPVUQWTEGUCPF-KNNCOdUQYPCUUWORVKQPUCDQWV
OCTMGVXCNWG5GGPQVGHQTCFGVCKNGFFKUEWUUKQPQHXCNWCVKQPOGVJQFUWUGFHQTHKPCPEKCNKPUVTWOGPVUSWQVGFKPCPCEVKXGOCTMGV
CPFKPUVTWOGPVUXCNWGFWUKPIQDUGTXCDNGFCVC
&GTKXCVKXGU
&GTKXCVKXGHKPCPEKCNKPUVTWOGPVUCTGKPKVKCNN[TGEQIPK\GFCVHCKTXCNWGQPVJGFCVGCFGTKXCVKXGEQPVTCEVKUGPVGTGFKPVQCPF
UWDUGSWGPVN[TGOGCUWTGFCVHCKTXCNWG6JGOGVJQFQHTGEQIPK\KPIVJGTGUWNVKPIICKPQTNQUUFGRGPFUQPYJGVJGTVJGFGTKXCVKXG
HKPCPEKCNKPUVTWOGPVKUFGUKIPCVGFCUCJGFIKPIKPUVTWOGPVCPFKHUQVJGPCVWTGQHVJGKVGODGKPIJGFIGF(QT-KNNCO U
CEEQWPVKPIRQNKE[QPJGFIKPIUGGVJG*GFIKPI4GNCVKQPUJKRUUGEVKQPDGNQY&GTKXCVKXGUPQVFGUKIPCVGFKPCJGFIKPITGNCVKQPUJKR
CTGOGCUWTGFCVHCKTXCNWGYKVJEJCPIGUVJGTGKPTGEQIPK\GFFKTGEVN[VJTQWIJVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVUQHKPEQOGCPF
EQORTGJGPUKXGKPEQOG
'ODGFFGFFGTKXCVKXGU
&GTKXCVKXGUGODGFFGFKPQVJGTHKPCPEKCNKPUVTWOGPVUQTEQPVTCEVUCTGUGRCTCVGFHTQOVJGKTJQUVEQPVTCEVUCPFCEEQWPVGFHQTCU
FGTKXCVKXGUYJGPVJGKTGEQPQOKEEJCTCEVGTKUVKEUCPFTKUMUCTGPQVENQUGN[TGNCVGFVQVJQUGQHVJGJQUVEQPVTCEVVJGVGTOUQHVJG
GODGFFGFFGTKXCVKXGCTGVJGUCOGCUVJQUGQHCHTGGUVCPFKPIFGTKXCVKXGCPFVJGEQODKPGFKPUVTWOGPVQTEQPVTCEVKUPQV
OGCUWTGFCVHCKTXCNWG6JGUGGODGFFGFFGTKXCVKXGUCTGOGCUWTGFCVHCKTXCNWGYKVJEJCPIGUVJGTGKPTGEQIPK\GFYKVJKPPGV
KPEQOGKPVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVUQHKPEQOGCPFEQORTGJGPUKXGKPEQOG
/ *GFIKPI4GNCVKQPUJKRU
-KNNCOOC[WUGKPVGTGUVTCVGUYCRUVQJGFIGKVUTKUMUCUUQEKCVGFYKVJKPVGTGUVTCVGU5WEJFGTKXCVKXGHKPCPEKCNKPUVTWOGPVUCTG
KPKVKCNN[TGEQIPK\GFCVHCKTXCNWGQPVJGFCVGQPYJKEJCFGTKXCVKXGEQPVTCEVKUGPVGTGFKPVQCPFCTGUWDUGSWGPVN[TGOGCUWTGFCV
HCKTXCNWG&GTKXCVKXGUCTGECTTKGFCUCUUGVUYJGPVJGHCKTXCNWGKURQUKVKXGCPFCUNKCDKNKVKGUYJGPVJGHCKTXCNWGKUPGICVKXG
#VVJGKPEGRVKQPQHCJGFIGTGNCVKQPUJKR-KNNCOHQTOCNN[FGUKIPCVGUCPFFQEWOGPVUVJGJGFIGTGNCVKQPUJKRVQYJKEJKVYKUJGUVQ
CRRN[JGFIGCEEQWPVKPICPFVJGTKUMOCPCIGOGPVQDLGEVKXGCPFUVTCVGI[HQTWPFGTVCMKPIVJGJGFIG6JGFQEWOGPVCVKQPKPENWFGU
KFGPVKHKECVKQPQHVJGJGFIKPIKPUVTWOGPVVJGJGFIGFKVGOQTVTCPUCEVKQPVJGPCVWTGQHVJGTKUMDGKPIJGFIGFCPFJQY-KNNCOYKNN
CUUGUUVJGJGFIKPIKPUVTWOGPVdUGHHGEVKXGPGUUKPQHHUGVVKPIVJGGZRQUWTGVQEJCPIGUKPVJGJGFIGFKVGOdUHCKTXCNWGQTECUJHNQYU
CVVTKDWVCDNGVQVJGJGFIGFTKUM5WEJJGFIGUCTGGZRGEVGFVQDGJKIJN[GHHGEVKXGKPCEJKGXKPIQHHUGVVKPIEJCPIGUKPHCKTXCNWGQTECUJ
HNQYUCPFCTGCUUGUUGFQPCPQPIQKPIDCUKUVQFGVGTOKPGVJCVVJG[CEVWCNN[JCXGDGGPJKIJN[GHHGEVKXGVJTQWIJQWVVJGHKPCPEKCN
TGRQTVKPIRGTKQFUHQTYJKEJVJG[YGTGFGUKIPCVGF
%CUJHNQYJGFIGU
(QTVJGRWTRQUGQHECUJHNQYJGFIGCEEQWPVKPIJGFIGUCTGENCUUKHKGFCUECUJHNQYJGFIGUYJGPJGFIKPIGZRQUWTGVQXCTKCDKNKV[KP
ECUJHNQYUVJCVKUGKVJGTCVVTKDWVCDNGVQCRCTVKEWNCTTKUMCUUQEKCVGFYKVJCTGEQIPK\GFCUUGVQTNKCDKNKV[QTCJKIJN[RTQDCDNG
HQTGECUVVTCPUCEVKQP
6JGGHHGEVKXGRQTVKQPQHVJGICKPQTNQUUQPVJGJGFIKPIKPUVTWOGPVKUTGEQIPK\GFFKTGEVN[KPGSWKV[VJTQWIJQVJGTEQORTGJGPUKXG
KPEQOGYJKNGCP[KPGHHGEVKXGRQTVKQPKUTGEQIPK\GFKOOGFKCVGN[KPVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVUQHKPEQOGCPFEQORTGJGPUKXG
KPEQOG#OQWPVUVCMGPVQGSWKV[CTGVTCPUHGTTGFVQRTQHKVQTNQUUYJGPVJGJGFIGFVTCPUCEVKQPCHHGEVURTQHKVQTNQUUUWEJCU
YJGPVJGJGFIGFHKPCPEKCNKPEQOGQTHKPCPEKCNGZRGPUGKUTGEQIPK\GF
+HVJGHQTGECUVVTCPUCEVKQPQTHKTOEQOOKVOGPVKUPQNQPIGTGZRGEVGFVQQEEWTCOQWPVURTGXKQWUN[TGEQIPK\GFKPGSWKV[CTG
VTCPUHGTTGFVQVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVUQHKPEQOGCPFEQORTGJGPUKXGKPEQOG+HVJGJGFIKPIKPUVTWOGPVGZRKTGUQTKUUQNF
VGTOKPCVGFQTGZGTEKUGFYKVJQWVTGRNCEGOGPVQTTQNNQXGTQTKHKVUFGUKIPCVKQPCUCJGFIGKUTGXQMGFCOQWPVURTGXKQWUN[
TGEQIPK\GFKPGSWKV[TGOCKPKPGSWKV[WPVKNVJGHQTGECUVVTCPUCEVKQPQTHKTOEQOOKVOGPVQEEWTU
0 %QORTGJGPUKXG+PEQOG
%QORTGJGPUKXGKPEQOGKPENWFGUPGVKPEQOGCPFQVJGTEQORTGJGPUKXGKPEQOG1VJGTEQORTGJGPUKXGKPEQOGKPENWFGUVJG
GHHGEVKXGRQTVKQPQHECUJHNQYJGFIGUNGUUCP[COQWPVUTGENCUUKHKGFVQKPVGTGUVCPFQVJGTHKPCPEKPIEQUVUCPFVJGCUUQEKCVGF
KPEQOGVCZGU
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0QVGUVQVJG%QPUQNKFCVGF(KPCPEKCN5VCVGOGPVU
&QNNCTCOQWPVUKPVJQWUCPFUQH%CPCFKCPFQNNCTU

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Dollar amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except unit/share amounts, or as noted)

5KIPKHKECPV#EEQWPVKPI2QNKEKGU EQPVKPWGF
1 #EEWOWNCVGF1VJGT%QORTGJGPUKXG.QUU
#1%.KUKPENWFGFKPVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVUQHHKPCPEKCNRQUKVKQPCUGSWKV[CPFKPENWFGUVJGWPTGCNK\GFICKPUCPFNQUUGUQH
VJGEJCPIGUKPVJGHCKTXCNWGQHECUJHNQYJGFIGU
2 &KUVTKDWVKQPU
&KUVTKDWVKQPUTGRTGUGPVVJGOQPVJN[ECUJFKUVTKDWVKQPUQPQWVUVCPFKPI6TWUV7PKVUCPF'ZEJCPIGCDNG7PKVU
3 2TQXKUKQPU
+PCEEQTFCPEGYKVJ+#52TQXKUKQPU%QPVKPIGPV.KCDKNKVKGUCPF%QPVKPIGPV#UUGVU a+#5b CRTQXKUKQPKUCNKCDKNKV[QH
WPEGTVCKPVKOKPIQTCOQWPV2TQXKUKQPUCTGTGEQIPK\GFYJGPVJGGPVKV[JCUCRTGUGPVNGICNQTEQPUVTWEVKXGQDNKICVKQPCUC
TGUWNVQHRCUVGXGPVUCPFYJGPKVKURTQDCDNGVJCVCPQWVHNQYQHTGUQWTEGUYKNNDGTGSWKTGFVQUGVVNGVJGQDNKICVKQPCPFVJG
COQWPVECPDGTGNKCDN[GUVKOCVGF
6JGCOQWPVTGEQIPK\GFCUCRTQXKUKQPKUVJGDGUVGUVKOCVGQHVJGEQPUKFGTCVKQPTGSWKTGFVQUGVVNGVJGRTGUGPVQDNKICVKQPCVVJGFCVG
QHVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVUQHHKPCPEKCNRQUKVKQPVCMKPIKPVQCEEQWPVVJGTKUMUCPFWPEGTVCKPVKGUUWTTQWPFKPIVJGQDNKICVKQP
9JGTGCRTQXKUKQPKUOGCUWTGFWUKPIVJGECUJHNQYUGUVKOCVGFVQUGVVNGVJGRTGUGPVQDNKICVKQPKVUECTT[KPICOQWPVKUVJGRTGUGPV
XCNWGQHVJQUGECUJHNQYUYJGTGVJGVKOGXCNWGQHOQPG[KUOCVGTKCN9JGPUQOGQTCNNQHVJGGEQPQOKEDGPGHKVUTGSWKTGFVQUGVVNG
CRTQXKUKQPCTGGZRGEVGFVQDGTGEQXGTGFHTQOCVJKTFRCTV[VJGTGEGKXCDNGKUTGEQIPK\GFCUCPCUUGVKHKVKUXKTVWCNN[EGTVCKPVJCV
TGKODWTUGOGPVYKNNDGTGEGKXGFCPFVJGCOQWPVQHVJGTGEGKXCDNGECPDGOGCUWTGFTGNKCDN[2TQXKUKQPUTGHNGEV-KNNCOdUDGUVGUVKOCVG
CVVJGTGRQTVKPIFCVG-KNNCOdURTQXKUKQPUCTGKOOCVGTKCNCPFCTGKPENWFGFKPQVJGTRC[CDNGU
4 6CZCVKQP
'HHGEVKXG,CPWCT[-KNNCOSWCNKHKGFCUCOWVWCNHWPFVTWUVCUFGHKPGFWPFGTVJG+PEQOG6CZ#EV %CPCFC CPFCUC4'+6
GNKIKDNGHQTVJG4'+6'ZGORVKQPKPCEEQTFCPEGYKVJVJGTWNGUCHHGEVKPIVJGVCZVTGCVOGPVQHRWDNKEN[VTCFGFVTWUVU#EEQTFKPIN[
VJG6TWUVKUPQVVCZCDNGQPKVUKPEQOGRTQXKFGFVJCVCNNQHKVUVCZCDNGKPEQOGKUFKUVTKDWVGFVQKVUWPKVJQNFGTU6JKUGZGORVKQP
JQYGXGTFQGUPQVGZVGPFVQVJGEQTRQTCVGUWDUKFKCTKGUQH-KNNCOVJCVCTGUWDLGEVVQKPEQOGVCZGU
K %WTTGPVKPEQOGVCZ
%WTTGPVKPEQOGVCZCUUGVUCPFNKCDKNKVKGUCTGOGCUWTGFCVVJGCOQWPVGZRGEVGFVQDGRCKFVQVCZCWVJQTKVKGUPGVQHTGEQXGTKGU
DCUGFQPVJGVCZTCVGUCPFVCZNCYUGPCEVGFQTUWDUVCPVKXGN[GPCEVGFCVVJGTGRQTVKPIFCVG%WTTGPVKPEQOGVCZTGNCVKPIVQKVGOU
TGEQIPK\GFFKTGEVN[KPGSWKV[KUTGEQIPK\GFKPGSWKV[CPFPQVRTQHKVQTNQUU/CPCIGOGPVRGTKQFKECNN[GXCNWCVGURQUKVKQPUVCMGPKPVCZ
TGVWTPUYKVJTGURGEVVQUKVWCVKQPUKPYJKEJCRRNKECDNGVCZTGIWNCVKQPUCTGUWDLGEVVQKPVGTRTGVCVKQPCPFGUVCDNKUJGURTQXKUKQPUYJGTG
CRRTQRTKCVG
KK &GHGTTGFKPEQOGVCZ
&GHGTTGFKPEQOGVCZKURTQXKFGFWUKPIVJGNKCDKNKV[OGVJQFQPCNNVGORQTCT[FKHHGTGPEGUCVVJGTGRQTVKPIFCVGDGVYGGPVJGVCZ
DCUGUQHCUUGVUCPFNKCDKNKVKGUCPFVJGKTECTT[KPICOQWPVUHQTHKPCPEKCNTGRQTVKPIRWTRQUGUGZEGRVYJGTGVJGVGORQTCT[FKHHGTGPEG
CTKUGUHTQOVJGKPKVKCNTGEQIPKVKQPQHIQQFYKNNQTQHCPCUUGVQTNKCDKNKV[KPCVTCPUCEVKQPVJCVKUPQVCDWUKPGUUEQODKPCVKQPVJCVCV
VJGVKOGQHVJGVTCPUCEVKQPCHHGEVUPGKVJGTCEEQWPVKPIPQTVCZCDNGRTQHKVQTNQUU
&GHGTTGFKPEQOGVCZCUUGVUCTGTGEQIPK\GFQPN[VQVJGGZVGPVVJCVKVKURTQDCDNGVJCVVCZCDNGRTQHKVYKNNDGCXCKNCDNGCICKPUVYJKEJ
FGFWEVKDNGVGORQTCT[FKHHGTGPEGUECTTKGFHQTYCTFVCZETGFKVUQTVCZNQUUGUECPDGWVKNK\GF6JGECTT[KPIXCNWGQHFGHGTTGFKPEQOG
VCZCUUGVUCTGTGXKGYGFCVGCEJTGRQTVKPIFCVGCPFTGFWEGFVQVJGGZVGPVKVKUPQNQPIGTRTQDCDNGVJCVVJGKPEQOGVCZCUUGVYKNNDG
TGEQXGTGF-KNNCOFGVGTOKPGUVJGFGHGTTGFVCZEQPUGSWGPEGUCUUQEKCVGFYKVJVGORQTCT[FKHHGTGPEGUTGNCVKPIVQKPXGUVOGPV
RTQRGTVKGUCUKHVJGECTT[KPICOQWPVQHVJGKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTV[KUTGEQXGTGFGPVKTGN[VJTQWIJUCNG&GHGTTGFKPEQOGVCZCUUGVUCPF
NKCDKNKVKGUCTGOGCUWTGFCVVJGVCZTCVGUVJCVCTGGZRGEVGFVQCRRN[VQVJG[GCTYJGPVJGCUUGVKUTGCNK\GFQTVJGNKCDKNKV[KUUGVVNGF
DCUGFQPVCZTCVGU CPFVCZNCYU VJCVJCXGDGGPGPCEVGFQTUWDUVCPVKXGN[GPCEVGFCVVJGTGRQTVKPIFCVG
5 'CTPKPIU2GT7PKV
#UCTGUWNVQHVJGTGFGORVKQPHGCVWTGQH-KNNCO U6TWUV7PKVUVJGUG7PKVUCTGEQPUKFGTGFHKPCPEKCNNKCDKNKVKGUWPFGT+#5'CTPKPIU
RGTUJCTGCPFVJG[OC[PQVDGEQPUKFGTGFCUGSWKV[HQTVJGRWTRQUGUQHECNEWNCVKPIPGVKPEQOGQPCRGT7PKVDCUKU%QPUGSWGPVN[
-KNNCOJCUGNGEVGFPQVVQTGRQTVGCTPKPIURGT7PKVECNEWNCVKQPCURGTOKVVGFWPFGT+(45
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0QVGUVQVJG%QPUQNKFCVGF(KPCPEKCN5VCVGOGPVU
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&QNNCTCOQWPVUKPVJQWUCPFUQH%CPCFKCPFQNNCTU
Dollar amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except unit/share amounts, or as noted)

%TKVKECN#EEQWPVKPI,WFIOGPVU'UVKOCVGUCPF#UUWORVKQPU
%TKVKECN,WFIOGPVUKP#RRN[KPI#EEQWPVKPI2QNKEKGU
6JGHQNNQYKPICTGVJGETKVKECNLWFIOGPVUCRCTVHTQOVJQUGKPXQNXKPIGUVKOCVKQPU UGG-G[#EEQWPVKPI'UVKOCVGUCPF#UUWORVKQPU
DGNQY VJCVJCXGDGGPOCFGKPCRRN[KPIVJG6TWUVdUCEEQWPVKPIRQNKEKGUCPFVJCVJCXGVJGOQUVUKIPKHKECPVGHHGEVQPVJGTGRQTVGF
COQWPVUKPVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFHKPCPEKCNUVCVGOGPVU
K +PEQOGVCZGU
6JG6TWUVCRRNKGULWFIOGPVKPFGVGTOKPKPIVJGVCZTCVGUCRRNKECDNGVQKVUEQTRQTCVGUWDUKFKCTKGUCPFKFGPVKH[KPIVJGVGORQTCT[
FKHHGTGPEGUKPGCEJQHUWEJNGICNUWDUKFKCTKGUKPTGURGEVQHYJKEJFGHGTTGFKPEQOGVCZGUCTGTGEQIPK\GF&GHGTTGFVCZGUTGNCVGFVQ
VGORQTCT[FKHHGTGPEGUCTKUKPIHTQOKVUEQTRQTCVGUWDUKFKCTKGUCTGOGCUWTGFDCUGFQPVJGVCZTCVGUVJCVCTGGZRGEVGFVQCRRN[KPVJG
[GCTYJGPVJGCUUGVKUTGCNK\GFQTVJGNKCDKNKV[KUUGVVNGF6GORQTCT[FKHHGTGPEGUCTGFKHHGTGPEGUVJCVCTGGZRGEVGFVQTGXGTUGKPVJG
HWVWTGCPFCTKUGHTQOFKHHGTGPEGUDGVYGGPCEEQWPVKPICPFVCZCUUGVXCNWGU
KK +PXGUVOGPVRTQRGTV[CPFKPVGTPCNECRKVCNRTQITCO
6JG6TWUVdUCEEQWPVKPIRQNKE[TGNCVKPIVQKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGUKUFGUETKDGFKPPQVG ) +PCRRN[KPIVJKURQNKE[LWFIOGPVKUCRRNKGF
KPFGVGTOKPKPIVJGGZVGPVCPFHTGSWGPE[QHWVKNK\KPIKPFGRGPFGPVVJKTFRCTV[CRRTCKUCNUVQOGCUWTGVJGHCKTXCNWGQHVJG6TWUVdU
KPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGU#FFKVKQPCNN[LWFIOGPVKUCRRNKGFKPFGVGTOKPKPIVJGCRRTQRTKCVGENCUUGUQHKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGUKPQTFGTVQ
OGCUWTGHCKTXCNWG6JG6TWUVCNUQWPFGTVCMGUKPVGTPCNECRKVCNKORTQXGOGPVUCPFWRITCFGU5WEJYQTMKUURGEKHKECNN[KFGPVKHKGFCPF
VJG6TWUVCRRNKGULWFIOGPVKPVJGGUVKOCVGFCOQWPVQHFKTGEVN[CVVTKDWVCDNGUCNCTKGUVQDGCNNQECVGFVQECRKVCNKORTQXGOGPVUCPF
WRITCFGUQHKVUKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGU
KKK (KPCPEKCNKPUVTWOGPVU
6JG6TWUVdUCEEQWPVKPIRQNKEKGUTGNCVKPIVQHKPCPEKCNKPUVTWOGPVUCTGFGUETKDGFKPPQVG . %TKVKECNLWFIOGPVUKPJGTGPVKPVJGUG
RQNKEKGUTGNCVGFVQCRRN[KPIVJGETKVGTKCUGVQWVKP+#5VQFGUKIPCVGHKPCPEKCNKPUVTWOGPVUKPVQECVGIQTKGUKG(862.GVECUUGUUVJG
GHHGEVKXGPGUUQHJGFIKPITGNCVKQPUJKRUCPFFGVGTOKPGVJGKFGPVKHKECVKQPQHGODGFFGFFGTKXCVKXGUKHCP[VJCVCTGUWDLGEVVQHCKTXCNWG
OGCUWTGOGPV
KX $CUKUQHEQPUQNKFCVKQP
6JGEQPUQNKFCVGFHKPCPEKCNUVCVGOGPVUQHVJG6TWUVKPENWFGVJGCEEQWPVUQH-KNNCOCPFKVUYJQNN[QYPGFUWDUKFKCTKGUCUYGNNCU
GPVKVKGUQXGTYJKEJVJG6TWUVGZGTEKUGUEQPVTQNQPCDCUKUQVJGTVJCPQYPGTUJKRQHXQVKPIKPVGTGUVYKVJKPVJGUEQRGQH+(45
%QPUQNKFCVGF(KPCPEKCN5VCVGOGPVU,WFIOGPVKUCRRNKGFKPFGVGTOKPKPIKHCPGPVKV[OGGVUVJGETKVGTKCQHEQPVTQNCUFGHKPGFKPVJG
CEEQWPVKPIUVCPFCTF
-G[#EEQWPVKPI'UVKOCVGUCPF#UUWORVKQPU
6JGHQNNQYKPICTGVJGMG[CUUWORVKQPUEQPEGTPKPIVJGHWVWTGCPFQVJGTMG[UQWTEGUQHGUVKOCVKQPWPEGTVCKPV[CVVJGGPFQHVJG
TGRQTVKPIRGTKQFVJCVJCXGCUKIPKHKECPVTKUMQHECWUKPICOCVGTKCNCFLWUVOGPVVQVJGECTT[KPICOQWPVUQHCUUGVUCPFNKCDKNKVKGUYKVJKP
VJGPGZVHKPCPEKCN[GCT#EVWCNTGUWNVUEQWNFFKHHGTHTQOGUVKOCVGU
K 8CNWCVKQPQHKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGU
6JGEJQKEGQHXCNWCVKQPOGVJQFCPFVJGETKVKECNGUVKOCVGUCPFCUUWORVKQPUWPFGTN[KPIVJGHCKTXCNWGFGVGTOKPCVKQPQHKPXGUVOGPV
RTQRGTVKGUCTGUGVQWVKPPQVG5KIPKHKECPVGUVKOCVGUWUGFKPFGVGTOKPKPIVJGHCKTXCNWGQHVJG6TWUVdUKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGUKPENWFG
ECRKVCNK\CVKQPTCVGUCPFPGVQRGTCVKPIKPEQOG YJKEJKUKPHNWGPEGFD[KPHNCVKQPTCVGUXCECPE[TCVGUCPFGZRGEVGFOCKPVGPCPEGEQUVU
WUGFKPVJGQXGTCNNECRKVCNK\CVKQPTCVGXCNWCVKQPOGVJQFCUYGNNCUFKUEQWPVTCVGUCPFHQTGECUVGFECUJHNQYUWUGFKPVJGFKUEQWPVGF
ECUJHNQYXCNWCVKQPOGVJQF#EJCPIGVQCP[QPGQHVJGUGKPRWVUEQWNFUKIPKHKECPVN[CNVGTVJGHCKTXCNWGQHCPKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTV[
2NGCUGTGHGTVQPQVGHQTUGPUKVKXKV[CPCN[UKU
+27%CTGCNUQXCNWGFCVHCKTXCNWGGZEGRVKHUWEJXCNWGUECPPQVDGTGNKCDN[FGVGTOKPGF+PVJGECUGYJGPHCKTXCNWGECPPQVDGTGNKCDN[
FGVGTOKPGFUWEJRTQRGTV[KUTGEQTFGFCVEQUV6JGHCKTXCNWGQH+27%KUFGVGTOKPGFWUKPIVJGFKTGEVKPEQOGECRKVCNK\CVKQPOGVJQF
KK &GHGTTGFWPKVDCUGFEQORGPUCVKQP
6JGEQORGPUCVKQPEQUVUTGNCVKPIVQFGHGTTGFWPKVDCUGFEQORGPUCVKQPCTGDCUGFQPGUVKOCVGUQHJQYOCP[FGHGTTGFWPKVUYKNNDG
CYCTFGFCUYGNNCUJQYOCP[YKNNCEVWCNN[XGUVCPFDGGZGTEKUGFCUYGNNCUXCNWCVKQPOQFGNUYJKEJD[VJGKTPCVWTGCTGUWDLGEVVQ
OGCUWTGOGPVWPEGTVCKPV[
KKK &GHGTTGFVCZGU
6JGCOQWPVQHVJGVGORQTCT[FKHHGTGPEGUDGVYGGPVJGCEEQWPVKPIECTT[KPIXCNWGQHVJG6TWUVdUCUUGVUCPFNKCDKNKVKGUJGNFKPXCTKQWU
EQTRQTCVGUWDUKFKCTKGUXGTUWUVJGVCZDCUGUQHVJQUGCUUGVUCPFNKCDKNKVKGUCPFVJGVCZTCVGUCVYJKEJVJGFKHHGTGPEGUYKNNDGTGCNK\GF
CTGQWVNKPGFKPPQVG
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0QVGUVQVJG%QPUQNKFCVGF(KPCPEKCN5VCVGOGPVU
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&QNNCTCOQWPVUKPVJQWUCPFUQH%CPCFKCPFQNNCTU
Dollar amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except unit/share amounts, or as noted)

(WVWTG#EEQWPVKPI2QNKE[%JCPIGU
6JGHQNNQYKPIPGYQTCOGPFGFCEEQWPVKPIUVCPFCTFUWPFGT+(45JCXGDGGPKUUWGFQTTGXKUGFD[VJG+#5$JQYGXGTVJG[CTGPQV[GV
GHHGEVKXGCPFCUUWEJJCXGPQVDGGPCRRNKGFVQVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFHKPCPEKCNUVCVGOGPVU
+(454GXGPWGHTQO%QPVTCEVUYKVJ%WUVQOGTU +(45
+(45YCUKUUWGFKP/C[CPFGUVCDNKUJGUCPGYHKXGUVGROQFGNVJCVYKNNCRRN[VQTGXGPWGCTKUKPIHTQOEQPVTCEVUYKVJ
EWUVQOGTU7PFGT+(45TGXGPWGKUTGEQIPK\GFCVCPCOQWPVVJCVTGHNGEVUVJGEQPUKFGTCVKQPVQYJKEJCPGPVKV[GZRGEVUVQDG
GPVKVNGFKPGZEJCPIGHQTVTCPUHGTTKPIIQQFUQTUGTXKEGUVQCEWUVQOGT6JGRTKPEKRNGUKP+(45RTQXKFGCOQTGUVTWEVWTGFCRRTQCEJ
VQOGCUWTKPICPFTGEQTFKPITGXGPWG6JGPGYTGXGPWGUVCPFCTFKUCRRNKECDNGVQCNNGPVKVKGUCPFYKNNUWRGTUGFGCNNEWTTGPVTGXGPWG
TGEQIPKVKQPTGSWKTGOGPVUWPFGT+(45'KVJGTCHWNNQTOQFKHKGFTGVTQURGEVKXGCRRNKECVKQPKUTGSWKTGFHQTCPPWCNRGTKQFUDGIKPPKPIQP
QTCHVGT,CPWCT[YKVJGCTN[CFQRVKQPRGTOKVVGFCPF-KNNCOJCUEQPENWFGFVJGTGYKNNDGPQEJCPIGVQVJGRCVVGTPQH
TGEQIPKVKQPQTVJGOGCUWTGOGPVQHTGXGPWGJQYGXGTCFFKVKQPCNFKUENQUWTGYKNNDGKPENWFGF-KNNCOKPVGPFUVQCFQRVVJGPGY
UVCPFCTFQPVJGTGSWKTGFGHHGEVKXGFCVG

+(45(KPCPEKCN+PUVTWOGPVU +(45
+P,WN[VJG+#5$KUUWGFVJGHKPCNXGTUKQPQH+(45YJKEJKPVTQFWEGUPGYTGSWKTGOGPVUHQTENCUUKHKECVKQPCPFOGCUWTGOGPV
KORCKTOGPVCPFJGFIGCEEQWPVKPI+(45GUVCDNKUJGURTKPEKRNGUHQTVJGHKPCPEKCNTGRQTVKPIQHHKPCPEKCNCUUGVUCPFHKPCPEKCNNKCDKNKVKGU
VJCVYKNNRTGUGPVTGNGXCPVCPFWUGHWNKPHQTOCVKQPVQWUGTUQHHKPCPEKCNUVCVGOGPVUHQTVJGKTCUUGUUOGPVQHVJGCOQWPVUVKOKPICPF
WPEGTVCKPV[QHCPGPVKV[ UHWVWTGECUJHNQYU+(45CNUQKPVTQFWEGUCPGZRGEVGFNQUUKORCKTOGPVOQFGNHQTCNNHKPCPEKCNCUUGVUPQV
OGCUWTGFCVHCKTXCNWGVJTQWIJRTQHKVQTNQUUVJCVTGSWKTGUTGEQIPKVKQPQHGZRGEVGFETGFKVNQUUGUTCVJGTVJCPKPEWTTGFNQUUGUCU
CRRNKGFWPFGTVJGEWTTGPVUVCPFCTF+(45KUGHHGEVKXGHQTCPPWCNRGTKQFUDGIKPPKPIQPQTCHVGT,CPWCT[YKVJGCTN[CFQRVKQP
RGTOKVVGF-KNNCOJCUEQORNGVGFCPCUUGUUOGPVQHVJGKORCEVQH+(45QPKVUEQPUQNKFCVGFHKPCPEKCNUVCVGOGPVUCPFFQGUPQVGZRGEV
COCVGTKCNKORCEVQPKVUEQPUQNKFCVGFHKPCPEKCNUVCVGOGPVWRQPCFQRVKQP-KNNCOKPVGPFUVQCFQRVVJGPGYUVCPFCTFQPVJGTGSWKTGF
GHHGEVKXGFCVG
+(45.GCUGU +(45 
+P,CPWCT[VJG+#5$KUUWGF+(456JGPGYUVCPFCTFDTKPIUOQUVNGCUGUQPDCNCPEGUJGGVHQTNGUUGGUWPFGTCUKPINGOQFGN
GNKOKPCVKPIVJGFKUVKPEVKQPDGVYGGPQRGTCVKPICPFHKPCPEGNGCUGU.GUUQTCEEQWPVKPIJQYGXGTTGOCKPUNCTIGN[WPEJCPIGFCPFVJG
FKUVKPEVKQPDGVYGGPQRGTCVKPICPFHKPCPEGNGCUGUKUTGVCKPGF6JKUUVCPFCTFKUGHHGEVKXGHQT-KNNCOdUCPPWCNRGTKQFUDGIKPPKPICHVGT
,CPWCT[YKVJGCTN[CFQRVKQPRGTOKVVGF6QCUUGUUVJGKORCEVQHVJKUPGYUVCPFCTF-KNNCOJCUHQTOGFCPKPVGTPCNYQTMKPI
ITQWRCPFEQPVKPWGUVQRTQITGUUQPKVUKPFGRVJCUUGUUOGPVQH+(45QPKVUEQPUQNKFCVGFHKPCPEKCNUVCVGOGPVU-KNNCOFQGUPQV
GZRGEVCUKIPKHKECPVKORCEVVQKVUEQPUQNKFCVGFHKPCPEKCNUVCVGOGPVUQPCFQRVKQPQHVJKU+(45UVCPFCTF-KNNCOKPVGPFUVQCFQRVVJG
PGYUVCPFCTFQPVJGTGSWKTGFGHHGEVKXGFCVG
+(455JCTGDCUGF2C[OGPV +(45
+P,WPGVJG+#5$KUUWGFHKPCNCOGPFOGPVUVQ+(455JCTGDCUGF2C[OGPVENCTKH[KPIJQYVQCEEQWPVHQTEGTVCKPV[RGUQH
UJCTGDCUGFRC[OGPVVTCPUCEVKQPU6JGCOGPFOGPVUYJKEJYGTGFGXGNQRGFVJTQWIJVJG+(45+PVGTRTGVCVKQPU%QOOKVVGGRTQXKFG
TGSWKTGOGPVUQPVJGCEEQWPVKPIHQT K VJGGHHGEVUQHXGUVKPICPFPQPXGUVKPIEQPFKVKQPUQPVJGOGCUWTGOGPVQHECUJUGVVNGFUJCTG
DCUGFRC[OGPVU KK UJCTGDCUGFRC[OGPVVTCPUCEVKQPUYKVJCPGVUGVVNGOGPVHGCVWTGHQTYKVJJQNFKPIVCZQDNKICVKQPUCPF KKK C
OQFKHKECVKQPVQVJGVGTOUCPFEQPFKVKQPUQHCUJCTGDCUGFRC[OGPVVJCVEJCPIGUVJGENCUUKHKECVKQPQHVJGVTCPUCEVKQPHTQOECUJ
UGVVNGFVQGSWKV[UGVVNGF-KNNCOKPVGPFUVQCFQRVVJGCOGPFOGPVUVQ+(45KPVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFHKPCPEKCNUVCVGOGPVUHQTVJGCPPWCN
RGTKQFDGIKPPKPIQPQTCHVGT,CPWCT[JQYGXGTUKPEGVJGEWTTGPVRQNKE[CPFRTCEVKEGKUKPNKPGYKVJVJGCOGPFOGPVU-KNNCO
FQGUPQVGZRGEVCP[KORCEVVQKVUEQPUQNKFCVGFHKPCPEKCNUVCVGOGPVU
+#5+PXGUVOGPV2TQRGTV[ +#5
+P&GEGODGTVJG+#5$KUUWGFCPCOGPFOGPVVQ+#5ENCTKH[KPIEGTVCKPGZKUVKPITGSWKTGOGPVU6JGCOGPFOGPVTGSWKTGF
VJCVCPCUUGVDGVTCPUHGTTGFVQQTHTQOKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTV[QPN[YJGPVJGTGKUCEJCPIGKPWUG#EJCPIGKPWUGQEEWTUYJGPVJG
RTQRGTV[OGGVUQTEGCUGUVQOGGVVJGFGHKPKVKQPQHKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTV[CPFVJGTGKUGXKFGPEGQHVJGEJCPIGKPWUG+PKUQNCVKQPC
EJCPIGKPOCPCIGOGPVdUKPVGPVKQPHQTVJGWUGQHCRTQRGTV[FQGUPQVRTQXKFGGXKFGPEGQHCEJCPIGKPWUG6JGUGCOGPFOGPVUCTG
GHHGEVKXGHQTCPPWCNRGTKQFUDGIKPPKPIQPQTCHVGT,CPWCT[YKVJGCTN[CFQRVKQPRGTOKVVGF-KNNCOYKNNCRRN[VJGCOGPFOGPV
YJGPKVDGEQOGUGHHGEVKXGRTQURGEVKXGN[JQYGXGTUKPEGVJGEWTTGPVRQNKE[CPFRTCEVKEGKUKPNKPGYKVJVJGENCTKHKECVKQPKUUWGU-KNNCO
FQGUPQVGZRGEVCP[KORCEVVQKVUEQPUQNKFCVGFHKPCPEKCNUVCVGOGPVU
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0QVGUVQVJG%QPUQNKFCVGF(KPCPEKCN5VCVGOGPVU
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&QNNCTCOQWPVUKPVJQWUCPFUQH%CPCFKCPFQNNCTU
Dollar amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except unit/share amounts, or as noted)

 +PXGUVOGPV2TQRGTVKGU
#UCV&GEGODGT
5GIOGPV
$CNCPEGDGIKPPKPIQH[GCT
(CKTXCNWGCFLWUVOGPVQPKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGU
#ESWKUKVKQPU
&KURQUKVKQPU
6TCPUHGTHTQO+27%
%CRKVCNGZRGPFKVWTGQPKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGU
1VJGT
%CRKVCNGZRGPFKVWTGQP+27%
+PVGTGUVECRKVCNK\GFQP+27%
$CNCPEGGPFQH[GCT
#UCV&GEGODGT
5GIOGPV
$CNCPEGDGIKPPKPIQH[GCT
(CKTXCNWGCFLWUVOGPVQPKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGU
#ESWKUKVKQPU
&KURQUKVKQPU
6TCPUHGTHTQO+27%
%CRKVCNGZRGPFKVWTGQPKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGU
%CRKVCNGZRGPFKVWTGQP+27%
+PVGTGUVECRKVCNK\GFQP+27%
$CNCPEGGPFQH[GCT

#RCTVOGPVU







a
a


/*%U


a
a
a

a
a
a


1VJGT



a
a

a
a
a


#RCTVOGPVU



c


c
c


/*%U


c

c

c
c


1VJGT


c
c
c

c
c


+27%
6QVCN
 
a



a


a
a

a





 
+27%

c
c
c

c




6QVCN




c





&WTKPIVJG[GCTGPFGF&GEGODGT-KNNCOCESWKTGFVJGHQNNQYKPIRTQRGTVKGU

.QECVKQP

#ESWKUKVKQP&CVG

1YPGTUJKR
KPVGTGUV 

;GCT$WKNV

5RTWEG)TQXG

%CNICT[

,CP





5QWVJRQTVEQPFQOKPKWOWPKVU

*CNKHCZ

(GD









-CPCVC.CMGU+88 

1VVCYC

/CT









,WN

2TQRGTV[

7PKVU

2WTEJCUG2TKEG 





#RCTVOGPVU

+PPQXCVKQP&TKXG

*CNKHCZ









9C[DWT[2CTM

'FOQPVQP #WI









6KUDWT[%TQUUKPI

'FOQPVQP &GE









5VQPG[DTQQM#RCTVOGPVU

*CNKHCZ

&GE









(CKTXKGY6GTTCEG

.QPFQP

&GE



U









1VJGT
8CECPV.CPF
*QNNKU5VTGGV



)NQWEGUVGT.CPF 

'FOQPVQP #RT,WP





*CNKHCZ

#RT





1VVCYC

#RT





6QVCN#ESWKUKVKQPU



  2WTEJCUGRTKEGFQGUPQVKPENWFGVTCPUCEVKQPEQUVU
 2WTEJCUGRTKEGTGRTGUGPVUQYPGTUJKRKPVYQDWKNFKPIUYKVJCEWOWNCVKXGVQVCNQHWPKVUKPCFFKVKQPKVKPENWFGUKPVGTGUVKPCUJCTGF
ENWDJQWUG6JKUDWKNFKPIKURCTVQHCHKXGDWKNFKPIEQORNGZYKVJVJKUCESWKUKVKQP-KNNCOCPFKVURCTVPGTPQYQYPVJGGPVKTGEQORNGZ
 +PENWFGFKPVJGCESWKUKVKQPKUOKNNKQPKPNCPFXCNWGTGNCVKPIVQCFLCEGPVFGXGNQROGPVRTQLGEVU
 2WTEJCUGRTKEGTGRTGUGPVUKPVGTGUVKPCOWNVKRJCUGFGXGNQROGPVRTQLGEV
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0QVGUVQVJG%QPUQNKFCVGF(KPCPEKCN5VCVGOGPVU
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&QNNCTCOQWPVUKPVJQWUCPFUQH%CPCFKCPFQNNCTU
Dollar amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except unit/share amounts, or as noted)

+PXGUVOGPV2TQRGTVKGU EQPVKPWGF
&WTKPIVJG[GCTGPFGFGPFGF&GEGODGT-KNNCOECRKVCNK\GFUCNCTKGUQHOKNNKQP &GEGODGTOKNNKQP 
CURCTVQHKVURTQLGEVKORTQXGOGPVUWKVGTGPQXCVKQPCPFFGXGNQROGPVRTQITCOU(QTVJG[GCTGPFGF&GEGODGT
KPVGTGUVEQUVUCUUQEKCVGFYKVJVJGIGPGTCNEQTRQTCVGDQTTQYKPIUWUGFVQHWPFFGXGNQROGPVYGTGECRKVCNK\GFVQVJGTGURGEVKXG
FGXGNQROGPVRTQLGEVUWUKPI-KNNCO UYGKIJVGFCXGTCIGDQTTQYKPITCVGQH &GEGODGT +PVGTGUVEQUVU
CUUQEKCVGFYKVJFGXGNQROGPVURGEKHKENQCPUYGTGECRKVCNK\GFVQVJGTGURGEVKXGFGXGNQROGPVUWUKPIVJGCEVWCNDQTTQYKPITCVG
CUUQEKCVGFYKVJVJGNQCP
+PXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGUYKVJCHCKTXCNWGQHDKNNKQPCUCV&GEGODGT &GEGODGTDKNNKQP JCXGDGGP
RNGFIGFCUEQNNCVGTCNCICKPUV-KNNCO UOQTVICIGUEQPUVTWEVKQPNQCPCPFETGFKVHCEKNKVKGU
8CNWCVKQPOGVJQFQNQI[CPFRTQEGUUGU
+PXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGUECTTKGFCVHCKTXCNWGCTGECVGIQTK\GFD[NGXGNCEEQTFKPIVQVJGUKIPKHKECPEGQHVJGKPRWVUWUGFKPOCMKPIVJG
OGCUWTGOGPVU#UVJGHCKTXCNWGQHKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGUKUFGVGTOKPGFYKVJUKIPKHKECPVWPQDUGTXCDNGKPRWVUCNNKPXGUVOGPV
RTQRGTVKGUCTGENCUUKHKGFCU.GXGNCUUGVU
-KNNCOdURQNKE[KUVQTGEQIPK\GVTCPUHGTUKPVQCPFVTCPUHGTUQWVQHHCKTXCNWGJKGTCTEJ[NGXGNUCUQHVJGFCVGQHVJGGXGPVQTEJCPIGKP
EKTEWOUVCPEGUVJCVECWUGFVJGVTCPUHGT6JGTGYGTGPQVTCPUHGTUKPQTQWVQH.GXGNHCKTXCNWGOGCUWTGOGPVUHQTKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGU
FWTKPIVJG[GCT
-KNNCOdUKPVGTPCNXCNWCVKQPVGCOEQPUKUVUQHKPFKXKFWCNUYJQCTGMPQYNGFIGCDNGCPFJCXGTGEGPVGZRGTKGPEGKPVJGHCKTXCNWG
VGEJPKSWGUHQTKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGU-KNNCOdUKPVGTPCNXCNWCVKQPVGCOKUTGURQPUKDNGHQTFGVGTOKPKPIVJGHCKTXCNWGQHKPXGUVOGPV
RTQRGTVKGUGXGT[SWCTVGT6JGVGCOTGRQTVUFKTGEVN[VQVJG%JKGH(KPCPEKCN1HHKEGT %(1 CPFVJGKPVGTPCNXCNWCVKQPVGCOdU
XCNWCVKQPRTQEGUUGUCPFTGUWNVUCTGTGXKGYGFD[/CPCIGOGPVCVNGCUVQPEGGXGT[SWCTVGTKPNKPGYKVJ-KNNCOdUSWCTVGTN[TGRQTVKPI
FCVGU
-KNNCOJCUCNUQGPICIGFNGCFKPIKPFGRGPFGPVPCVKQPCNTGCNGUVCVGCRRTCKUCNHKTOUYKVJTGRTGUGPVCVKQPCPFGZRGTVKUGCETQUU%CPCFC
VQRTQXKFGCRRTCKUCNUQPCRRTQZKOCVGN[QHKVURQTVHQNKQD[XCNWGCPPWCNN[2TQRGTVKGUCTGTQVCVGFCPPWCNN[VQGPUWTGVJCVGXGT[
RTQRGTV[KUGZVGTPCNN[XCNWGFCVNGCUVQPEGGXGT[HKXG[GCTU6JGUGGZVGTPCNXCNWCVKQPUCTGRTGRCTGFVQEQORN[YKVJVJG
TGSWKTGOGPVUQH+#5+(45(CKT8CNWG/GCUWTGOGPVCPF+PVGTPCVKQPCN8CNWCVKQP5VCPFCTFU1PCSWCTVGTN[DCUKUHQT
RTQRGTVKGUVJCVCTGPQVXCNWGFGZVGTPCNN[CRRTCKUCNUCTGWRFCVGFD[-KNNCOdUKPVGTPCNXCNWCVKQPVGCOHQTEWTTGPVNGCUKPICPF
OCTMGVCUUWORVKQPUWVKNK\KPIOCTMGVECRKVCNK\CVKQPTCVGUFGVGTOKPGFKPEQPUWNVCVKQPYKVJKPFGRGPFGPVXCNWCVKQPHKTOU
#VGCEJGZVGTPCNXCNWCVKQPFCVGVJGKPVGTPCNXCNWCVKQPVGCO
f
8GTKHKGUCNNOCLQTKPRWVUVQVJGKPFGRGPFGPVXCNWCVKQPTGRQTV
f
#UUGUUGURTQRGTV[XCNWCVKQPOQXGOGPVUYJGPEQORCTGFVQVJGRTKQT[GCTXCNWCVKQPTGRQTVCPF
f
*QNFUFKUEWUUKQPUYKVJVJGKPFGRGPFGPVCRRTCKUGTU
%JCPIGUKPHCKTXCNWGUCTGCPCN[\GFCVGCEJTGRQTVKPIFCVGFWTKPIVJGSWCTVGTN[XCNWCVKQPFKUEWUUKQPUDGVYGGPVJG'82CPF%(1CPF
VJGKPVGTPCNXCNWCVKQPVGCO#URCTVQHVJKUFKUEWUUKQPVJGKPVGTPCNXCNWCVKQPVGCORTGUGPVUCTGRQTVVJCVGZRNCKPUVJGTGCUQPUHQT
VJGHCKTXCNWGOQXGOGPVU
8CNWCVKQPVGEJPKSWGUWPFGTN[KPI/CPCIGOGPVbUGUVKOCVKQPQHHCKTXCNWG
6JGKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGUYGTGXCNWGFWUKPIVJGFKTGEVKPEQOGECRKVCNK\CVKQPOGVJQF+PCRRN[KPIVJGFKTGEVKPEQOG
ECRKVCNK\CVKQPOGVJQFVJGUVCDKNK\GFPGVQRGTCVKPIKPEQOG a01+b QHGCEJRTQRGTV[KUFKXKFGFD[CPQXGTCNNECRKVCNK\CVKQPTCVG
6JGUKIPKHKECPVWPQDUGTXCDNGKPRWVUKPENWFG
f
5VCDKNK\GFPGVQRGTCVKPIKPEQOGDCUGFQPVJGNQECVKQPV[RGCPFSWCNKV[QHVJGRTQRGTVKGUCPFUWRRQTVGFD[VJGVGTOUQH
GZKUVKPINGCUGUQVJGTEQPVTCEVUQTGZVGTPCNGXKFGPEGUWEJCUEWTTGPVOCTMGVTGPVUHQTUKOKNCTRTQRGTVKGUCFLWUVGFHQTGUVKOCVGF
XCECPE[TCVGUDCUGFQP%/*%dU[GCTCXGTCIGTGPVUD[TGIKQPCPFGZRGEVGFOCKPVGPCPEGEQUVUCPF
f
%CRKVCNK\CVKQPTCVGDCUGFQPNQECVKQPUK\GCPFSWCNKV[QHVJGRTQRGTVKGUCPFVCMKPIKPVQCEEQWPVOCTMGVFCVCCVVJG
XCNWCVKQPFCVG
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0QVGUVQVJG%QPUQNKFCVGF(KPCPEKCN5VCVGOGPVU
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&QNNCTCOQWPVUKPVJQWUCPFUQH%CPCFKCPFQNNCTU
Dollar amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except unit/share amounts, or as noted)

+PXGUVOGPV2TQRGTVKGU EQPVKPWGF
8CNWCVKQP$CUKU
7UKPIVJGFKTGEVKPEQOGECRKVCNK\CVKQPOGVJQFVJGCRCTVOGPVRTQRGTVKGUYGTGXCNWGFWUKPIECRTCVGUKPVJGTCPIGQHVQ
CRRNKGFVQCUVCDKNK\GF01+QHOKNNKQP &GEGODGTVQCPFOKNNKQP TGUWNVKPIKPCP
QXGTCNNYGKIJVGFCXGTCIGECRTCVGQH &GEGODGT 6JGUVCDKNK\GFQEEWRCPE[TCVGUWUGFKPVJGECNEWNCVKQP
QH01+YGTGKPVJGTCPIGQHVQ &GEGODGTVQ 
7UKPIVJGFKTGEVKPEQOGECRKVCNK\CVKQPOGVJQFVJG/*%RTQRGTVKGUYGTGXCNWGFWUKPIECRTCVGUKPVJGTCPIGQHVQ
CRRNKGFVQCUVCDKNK\GF01+QHOKNNKQP &GEGODGTVQCPFOKNNKQP TGUWNVKPIKPCPQXGTCNN
YGKIJVGFCXGTCIGECRTCVGQH &GEGODGT 6JGUVCDKNK\GFQEEWRCPE[TCVGWUGFKPVJGECNEWNCVKQPQH01+
YCU &GEGODGT 
+PXGUVOGPVRTQRGTV[XCNWCVKQPUCTGOQUVUGPUKVKXGVQEJCPIGUKPVJGECRTCVG6JGECRTCVGCUUWORVKQPUHQTVJGKPXGUVOGPV
RTQRGTVKGUCTGKPENWFGFKPVJGHQNNQYKPIVCDNGD[TGIKQP
&GEGODGT
.QY
#RCTVOGPVU
*CNKHCZ
/QPEVQP
(TGFGTKEVQP
5CKPV,QJP
5V,QJP U
%JCTNQVVGVQYP
1PVCTKQ
#NDGTVC
1VJGT#VNCPVKE
/*%U
1PVCTKQ
0QXC5EQVKC
0GY$TWPUYKEM
0GYHQWPFNCPF

















*KIJ
















&GEGODGT

'HHGEVKXG
9GKIJVGF
#XGTCIG
















.QY
















*KIJ
















'HHGEVKXG
9GKIJVGF
#XGTCIG
















6JGMG[XCNWCVKQPCUUWORVKQPWUGFVQFGVGTOKPGVJGHCKTOCTMGVXCNWGWUKPIVJGFKTGEVECRKVCNK\CVKQPOGVJQFKUVJGECRTCVG#
UWOOCT[QHVJGJKIJNQYCPFYGKIJVGFCXGTCIGECRTCVGUWUGFKPVJGXCNWCVKQPOQFGNCUCV&GEGODGTCPFCU
RTQXKFGFD[-KNNCO UGZVGTPCNXCNWCVQTKUKPENWFGFKPVJGCDQXGVCDNG
6JGSWCPVKVCVKXGUGPUKVKXKV[CPCN[UKUUJQYPDGNQYKNNWUVTCVGUVJGXCNWGKPETGCUGQTFGETGCUGKP-KNNCO URQTVHQNKQQHRTQRGTVKGU
IKXGPVJGEJCPIGKPVJGPQVGFKPRWV
%NCUUQHRTQRGTV[

%CRKVCNK\CVKQPTCVG
DCUKURQKPVU
KPETGCUG

#RCTVOGPVU
/*%U
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FGETGCUG











0QVGUVQVJG%QPUQNKFCVGF(KPCPEKCN5VCVGOGPVU
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&QNNCTCOQWPVUKPVJQWUCPFUQH%CPCFKCPFQNNCTU
Dollar amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except unit/share amounts, or as noted)

,QKPV1RGTCVKQPUCPF+PXGUVOGPVUKP,QKPV8GPVWTG
-KNNCOJCUKPVGTGUVUKPHQWTRTQRGTVKGU GKIJVDWKNFKPIU VJCVCTGUWDLGEVVQLQKPVEQPVTQNCPFCTGLQKPVQRGTCVKQPU#EEQTFKPIN[ VJG
EQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVUQHHKPCPEKCNRQUKVKQPCPFEQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVUQHKPEQOGCPFEQORTGJGPUKXGKPEQOGKPENWFG-KNNCO U
TKIJVUVQCPFQDNKICVKQPUHQTVJGTGNCVGFCUUGVU NKCDKNKVKGU TGXGPWGCPFGZRGPUGU

2TQRGTV[CPF'SWKROGPV

#U#V
.CPF
$WKNFKPI
*GCX[GSWKROGPV
8GJKENGU
(WTPKVWTGHKZVWTGUCPFQHHKEGGSWKROGPV
.GCUGJQNFKORTQXGOGPVU
.GUUCEEWOWNCVGFFGRTGEKCVKQP


&GEGODGT
#EEWOWNCVGF
%QUV
&GRTGEKCVKQP










a







&GEGODGT
#EEWOWNCVGF
%QUV
&GRTGEKCVKQP










c







.CPFCPFDWKNFKPITGRTGUGPV-KNNCOdUQYPGTUJKRQHCKPVGTGUVKPVJGRTQRGTV[VJCVKVUJGCFQHHKEGQEEWRKGU7PFGT+(45
QYPGTQEEWRKGFRTQRGTV[KUTGSWKTGFVQDGCEEQWPVGFHQTCURTQRGTV[CPFGSWKROGPVCPFPQVKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTV[2TQRGTV[YKVJ
CECTT[KPIXCNWGQHOKNNKQPTGRTGUGPVKPI-KNNCO UQYPGTUJKRKPVGTGUV &GEGODGTOKNNKQP KURNGFIGFCU
EQNNCVGTCNCICKPUV-KNNCO UOQTVICIGRC[CDNG
(QTVJG[GCTUGPFGF&GEGODGT
$CNCPEGDGIKPPKPIQHVJG[GCT
%CRKVCNGZRGPFKVWTGU
&GRTGEKCVKQP
$CNCPEGGPFQH[GCT





















1VJGT0QP%WTTGPV#UUGVU
#UCV

&GEGODGT

&GEGODGT

8GPFQTVCMGDCEMNQCP

a



+PVGTGUVTCVGFGTKXCVKXG









6JGXGPFQTVCMGDCEMNQCPHQTOKNNKQPDGCTKPIKPVGTGUVCVCTCVGQHYCUUGVVNGFQP0QXGODGTVJTQWIJ
TGRQUUGUUKQPQHNCPFYKVJCHCKTXCNWGQHOKNNKQPVJCVYCUJGNFCUEQNNCVGTCN
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0QVGUVQVJG%QPUQNKFCVGF(KPCPEKCN5VCVGOGPVU
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&QNNCTCOQWPVUKPVJQWUCPFUQH%CPCFKCPFQNNCTU
Dollar
amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except unit/share amounts, or as noted)

1VJGT%WTTGPV#UUGVU
#UCV

&GEGODGT

&GEGODGT









4GUVTKEVGFECUJ
2TGRCKFGZRGPUGU
+PXGPVQT[









4GUVTKEVGFECUJEQPUKUVUQHUGEWTKV[FGRQUKVU HWPFUJGNFKPVTWUVCPFRTQRGTV[VCZTGUGTXGU+PXGPVQT[TGNCVGUVQOCPWHCEVWTGF
JQOGUHQTYJKEJUCNGUJCXGPQVENQUGFCV[GCTGPF

4GPVCPF1VJGT4GEGKXCDNGU
#UCV

&GEGODGT

&GEGODGT

4GPVTGEGKXCDNG





1VJGTTGEGKXCDNGU









+PENWFGFKPQVJGTTGEGKXCDNGUCTGNCWPFT[TGXGPWGEQOOKUUKQPTGXGPWGCPFQVJGTPQPTGPVCNKPEQOG6JGOCLQTKV[QHVJGUG
TGEGKXCDNGUCTGNGUUVJCPFC[UQNF-KNNCOdURQNKE[KUVQYTKVGQHHVGPCPVTGEGKXCDNGUYJGPVJGVGPCPVXCECVGUVJGWPKVCPFCP[
UWDUGSWGPVTGEGKRVQHHWPFUKUPGVVGFCICKPUVDCFFGDVU-KNNCOdUDCFFGDVGZRGPUGGZRGTKGPEGJCUJKUVQTKECNN[DGGPNGUUVJCP
QHTGXGPWG#UCTGUWNVQHVJGNQYDCFFGDVGZRGTKGPEGPQCNNQYCPEGHQTFQWDVHWNCEEQWPVUKUTGEQTFGFKPVJGCEEQWPVU

/QTVICIGUCPF.QCPU2C[CDNG
#UCV

&GEGODGT
9GKIJVGF
#XGTCIG+PVGTGUV

&GEGODGT

&GDV
9GKIJVGF
$CNCPEG #XGTCIG+PVGTGUV

&GDV
$CNCPEG

/QTVICIGUCPFNQCPURC[CDNG
(KZGFTCVG

 





8CTKCDNGTCVG









8GPFQTHKPCPEKPI









6QVCN
%WTTGPV
0QPEWTTGPV

















/QTVICIGUCTGEQNNCVGTCNK\GFD[CHKTUVEJCTIGQPVJGRTQRGTVKGUQH-KNNCOCPFXGPFQTOQTVICIGUCTGEQNNCVGTCNK\GFD[GKVJGTCUGEQPF
EJCTIGQPVJGRTQRGTV[QTCIGPGTCNEQTRQTCVGIWCTCPVGG
#UCV&GEGODGTWPCOQTVK\GFFGHGTTGFHKPCPEKPIEQUVUQHOKNNKQP &GEGODGTOKNNKQP CPFOCTMVQ
OCTMGVCFLWUVOGPVUQPOQTVICIGUCUUWOGFQPCESWKUKVKQPUQHOKNNKQP &GEGODGTOKNNKQP CTGPGVVGFCICKPUV
OQTVICIGUCPFNQCPURC[CDNG
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0QVGUVQVJG%QPUQNKFCVGF(KPCPEKCN5VCVGOGPVU
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&QNNCTCOQWPVUKPVJQWUCPFUQH%CPCFKCPFQNNCTU
Dollar amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except unit/share amounts, or as noted)

/QTVICIGUCPF.QCPU2C[CDNG EQPVKPWGF
'UVKOCVGFHWVWTGRTKPEKRCNRC[OGPVUCPFOCVWTKVKGUTGSWKTGFVQOGGVOQTVICIGQDNKICVKQPUHQTVJG[GCTUGPFKPI&GEGODGTCTG
CUHQNNQYU
2TKPEKRCN#OQWPV

QH6QVCN2TKPEKRCN































5WDUGSWGPVVQ









7PCOQTVK\GFFGHGTTGFHKPCPEKPIEQUVU



7PCOQTVK\GFOCTMVQOCTMGVCFLWUVOGPVU




%TGFKV(CEKNKVKGU
-KNNCOJCUCEEGUUVQVYQETGFKVHCEKNKVKGUYKVJETGFKVNKOKVUQHOKNNKQPCPFOKNNKQP &GEGODGTOKNNKQPCPF
OKNNKQP VJCVECPDGWUGFHQTCESWKUKVKQPCPFIGPGTCNDWUKPGUURWTRQUGU-KNNCOJQNFUCPCEEQTFKQPQRVKQPVQKPETGCUGVJG
OKNNKQPHCEKNKV[D[CPCOQWPVPQVNGUUVJCPOKNNKQPCPFWRVQCPCIITGICVGCOQWPVQHPQVOQTGVJCPOKNNKQP
6JGOKNNKQPHCEKNKV[DGCTUKPVGTGUVCVRTKOGRNWUDRUQPRTKOGTCVGCFXCPEGUQTDRUQXGTDCPMGTUCEEGRVCPEGU $#U 
-KNNCOJCUVJGTKIJVVQEJQQUGDGVYGGPRTKOGTCVGCFXCPEGUCPF$#UDCUGFQPCXCKNCDNGTCVGUCPFVKOKPI#UCV&GEGODGT
-KNNCOJCUCUUGVUYKVJCECTT[KPIXCNWGQHOKNNKQPRNGFIGFCUHKTUVOQTVICIGTCPMKPICPFOKNNKQPRNGFIGFCUUGEQPF
OQTVICIGTCPMKPIVQVJGNKPGCPFCDCNCPEGQWVUVCPFKPIQHPKN &GEGODGTPKN 6JGCITGGOGPVKPENWFGUEGTVCKP
EQXGPCPVUCPFWPFGTVCMKPIUYKVJYJKEJ-KNNCOKUKPEQORNKCPEGCUCV&GEGODGT
6JGOKNNKQPHCEKNKV[DGCTUKPVGTGUVCVRTKOGRNWUDRUQPCFXCPEGUCPFDRUQPKUUWCPEGQHNGVVGTUQHETGFKVKPCFFKVKQPVQ
DRURGTCPPWO#UCV&GEGODGT-KNNCOJCFCUUGVUYKVJCECTT[KPIXCNWGQHOKNNKQPRNGFIGFCUEQNNCVGTCN
&GEGODGTOKNNKQP CPFNGVVGTUQHETGFKVVQVCNKPIOKNNKQPQWVUVCPFKPICICKPUVVJGHCEKNKV[ &GEGODGT
OKNNKQP 6JGCITGGOGPVKPENWFGUEGTVCKPEQXGPCPVUCPFWPFGTVCMKPIUYKVJYJKEJ-KNNCOKUKPEQORNKCPEGCUCV&GEGODGT

#UCV&GEGODGT
OKNNKQPFGOCPFHCEKNKV[
OKNNKQPFGOCPFHCEKNKV[
6QVCN
#UCV&GEGODGT
OKNNKQPFGOCPFHCEKNKV[
OKNNKQPFGOCPFHCEKNKV[
6QVCN

/CZKOWO.QCP#OQWPV

#OQWPV&TCYP



c

c

#OQWPV
#XCKNCDNG




c







a





/CZKOWO.QCP#OQWPV

#OQWPV&TCYP



c

c





c







c





.GVVGTUQH%TGFKV

.GVVGTUQH%TGFKV #OQWPV#XCKNCDNG

 K I L L A M A PA R T M E N T R E I T | 2 0 1 7

95



0QVGUVQVJG%QPUQNKFCVGF(KPCPEKCN5VCVGOGPVU
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&QNNCTCOQWPVUKPVJQWUCPFUQH%CPCFKCPFQNNCTU
Dollar amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except unit/share amounts, or as noted)

%QPUVTWEVKQP.QCPU
#UCV&GEGODGT-KNNCOJCFCEEGUUVQVYQHNQCVKPITCVGPQPTGXQNXKPIFGOCPFEQPUVTWEVKQPNQCPUHQTVJGRWTRQUGQH
HKPCPEKPIFGXGNQROGPVRTQLGEVUKPENWFKPICOKNNKQPEQPUVTWEVKQPNQCPEQOOKVOGPVTGNCVGFVQ6JG#NGZCPFGTYJGTG
-KNNCOJCUCQYPGTUJKRKPVGTGUVCPFCOKNNKQPEQPUVTWEVKQPNQCPEQOOKVOGPVTGNCVGFVQVJG5CIKPCY2CTM
FGXGNQROGPV2C[OGPVUCTGOCFGOQPVJN[QPCPKPVGTGUVQPN[DCUKU6JGEQPUVTWEVKQPNQCPUJCXGKPVGTGUVTCVGUQHRTKOGRNWU
1PEGEQPUVTWEVKQPKUEQORNGVGCPFTGPVCNVCTIGVUCEJKGXGFVJGEQPUVTWEVKQPNQCPUYKNNDGTGRCKFKPHWNNCPFTGRNCEGF
YKVJEQPXGPVKQPCNOQTVICIGU6JGWPFGTN[KPICUUGVUCTGRNGFIGFCUEQNNCVGTCNCICKPUVVJGUGNQCPU
#UCV&GEGODGTOKNNKQPCPFOKNNKQPTGURGEVKXGN[YGTGFTCYPQP6JG#NGZCPFGTCPF5CIKPCY2CTMNQCPU
&GEGODGT6JG#NGZCPFGTOKNNKQP5QWVJRQTVOKNNKQPCPF5CIKPCY)CTFGPU++PKN 6JGNQCPUDQVJJCXGCP
KPVGTGUVTCVGQH &GEGODGT6JG#NGZCPFGTCPF5QWVJRQTV 

#EEQWPVU2C[CDNGCPF#EETWGF.KCDKNKVKGU
#UCV

&GEGODGT

&GEGODGT





&KUVTKDWVKQPURC[CDNG





/QTVICIGKPVGTGUVRC[CDNG





5GEWTKV[FGRQUKVU









#EEQWPVURC[CDNGCPFQVJGTCEETWGFNKCDKNKVKGU

%QPXGTVKDNG&GDGPVWTGU
(CEG+PVGTGUV4CVG


%QPXGTUKQP
(CEG
2TKEG
#OQWPV




/CVWTKV[&CVG

&GEGODGT &GEGODGT 

,WPG

c



  4GEQTFGFCVHCKTXCNWGDCUGFQPENQUKPIOCTMGVVTCFKPIRTKEGUQHVJGFGDGPVWTGU

-KNNCOTGFGGOGFKVUOKNNKQPEQPXGTVKDNGFGDGPVWTGUQP#RTKN
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0QVGUVQVJG%QPUQNKFCVGF(KPCPEKCN5VCVGOGPVU
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&QNNCTCOQWPVUKPVJQWUCPFUQH%CPCFKCPFQNNCTU
Dollar amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except unit/share amounts, or as noted)

'ZEJCPIGCDNG7PKVU
(QTVJG[GCTUGPFGF&GEGODGT





0WODGTQH
'ZEJCPIGCDNG7PKVU
$CNCPEGDGIKPPKPIQH[GCT

0WODGTQH
8CNWG 'ZEJCPIGCDNG7PKVU

8CNWG





c

c

6TWUVWPKVUGZEJCPIGFHQTGZEJCPIGCDNGWPKVUQPEQPXGTUKQP

c

c





(CKTXCNWGCFLWUVOGPVQPEQPXGTUKQP

c

c

c











c



c











'ZEJCPIGCDNGWPKVUGZEJCPIGF
(CKTXCNWGCFLWUVOGPV
$CNCPEGGPFQH[GCT

6JGGZEJCPIGCDNGWPKVUCTGPQPVTCPUHGTCDNGDWVCTGGZEJCPIGCDNGQPCQPGHQTQPGDCUKUKPVQ-KNNCOVTWUVWPKVUCVCP[VKOGCV
VJGQRVKQPQHVJGJQNFGT2TKQTVQUWEJGZEJCPIGFKUVTKDWVKQPUYKNNDGOCFGQPVJGUGGZEJCPIGCDNGWPKVUKPCPCOQWPVGSWKXCNGPV
VQVJGFKUVTKDWVKQPUVJCVYQWNFJCXGDGGPOCFGJCFVJGWPKVUDGGPGZEJCPIGFHQT-KNNCOVTWUVWPKVU

7PKVJQNFGTU 'SWKV[
$[XKTVWGQH-KNNCODGKPICPQRGPGPFGFOWVWCNHWPFVTWUVWPKVJQNFGTUQHVTWUVWPKVUCTGGPVKVNGFVQTGFGGOVJGKTVTWUVWPKVUCVCP[
VKOGCVRTKEGUFGVGTOKPGFCPFRC[CDNGKPCEEQTFCPEGYKVJVJGEQPFKVKQPUURGEKHKGFKP-KNNCOdU&16#UCTGUWNVWPFGT+(45VTWUV
WPKVUCTGFGHKPGFCUHKPCPEKCNNKCDKNKVKGUJQYGXGTHQTVJGRWTRQUGUQHHKPCPEKCNUVCVGOGPVENCUUKHKECVKQPCPFRTGUGPVCVKQPVJGVTWUV
WPKVUOC[DGRTGUGPVGFCUGSWKV[KPUVTWOGPVUCUVJG[OGGVVJGRWVVCDNGKPUVTWOGPVGZGORVKQPWPFGT+#5
#NNVTWUVWPKVUQWVUVCPFKPICTGHWNN[RCKFJCXGPQRCTXCNWGCPFCTGXQVKPIVTWUVWPKVU6JG&16CWVJQTK\GUVJGKUUWCPEGQHCP
WPNKOKVGFPWODGTQHVTWUVWPKVU6TWUVWPKVUTGRTGUGPVCWPKVJQNFGTdURTQRQTVKQPCVGWPFKXKFGFDGPGHKEKCNKPVGTGUVKP-KNNCO0QVTWUV
WPKVJCUCP[RTGHGTGPEGQTRTKQTKV[QXGTCPQVJGT0QWPKVJQNFGTJCUQTKUFGGOGFVQJCXGCP[TKIJVQHQYPGTUJKRKPCP[QHVJGCUUGVU
QH-KNNCO'CEJWPKVEQPHGTUVJGTKIJVVQQPGXQVGCVCP[OGGVKPIQHWPKVJQNFGTUCPFVQRCTVKEKRCVGRTQTCVCKPCP[FKUVTKDWVKQPUCPF
QPNKSWKFCVKQPVQCRTQTCVCUJCTGQHVJGTGUKFWCNPGVCUUGVUTGOCKPKPICHVGTRTGHGTGPVKCNENCKOUVJGTGQPQHFGDVJQNFGTU
7PKVJQNFGTUJCXGVJGTKIJVVQTGFGGOVJGKTWPKVUCVVJGNGUUGTQH K QHVJGOCTMGVRTKEGQHVJGVTWUVWPKV OCTMGVRTKEGKUFGHKPGF
CUVJGYGKIJVGFCXGTCIGVTCFKPIRTKEGQHVJGRTGXKQWUVTCFKPIFC[U CPF KK VJGOQUVTGEGPVENQUKPIOCTMGVRTKEG ENQUKPIOCTMGV
RTKEGKUFGHKPGFCUVJGYGKIJVGFCXGTCIGVTCFKPIRTKEGQPVJGURGEKHKGFFCVG CVVJGVKOGQHVJGTGFGORVKQP6JGTGFGORVKQPRTKEG
YKNNDGUCVKUHKGFD[ECUJWRVQCNKOKVQHVJQWUCPFHQTCNNTGFGORVKQPUKPCECNGPFCTOQPVJQTCPQVGRC[CDNG(QTVJG[GCT
GPFGF&GEGODGTPQWPKVJQNFGTUTGFGGOGFWPKVU
6JGWPKVUKUUWGFCPFQWVUVCPFKPICTGCUHQNNQYU
0WODGTQH6TWUV7PKVU

0WODGTQH%QOOQP5JCTGU

c



8CNWG








&KUVTKDWVKQPTGKPXGUVOGPVRNCP



c



4GUVTKEVGFVTWUVWPKVUTGFGGOGF



c



,CPWCT[
4'+6EQPXGTUKQP,CPWCT[

7PKVUKUUWGFQPGZEJCPIGQHGZEJCPIGCDNGWPKVU
7PKVUKUUWGFHQTECUJ
7PKVUKUUWGFHQTCESWKUKVKQPU



c





c





c





c



&KUVTKDWVKQPTGKPXGUVOGPVRNCP



c



4GUVTKEVGFVTWUVWPKVUTGFGGOGF



c



&GEGODGT

7PKVUKUUWGFQPGZEJCPIGQHGZEJCPIGCDNGWPKVU



c



7PKVUKUUWGFHQTECUJ



c



&GEGODGT



a
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0QVGUVQVJG%QPUQNKFCVGF(KPCPEKCN5VCVGOGPVU
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&QNNCTCOQWPVUKPVJQWUCPFUQH%CPCFKCPFQNNCTU
Dollar
amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except unit/share amounts, or as noted)

7PKVJQNFGTU 'SWKV[ EQPVKPWGF
0GY7PKVU+UUWGF
0GV2TQEGGFU

7PKVU+UUWGF

$QWIJVFGCN /CTEJ

2TKEGRGT7PKV










1XGTCNNQVOGPV /CTEJ











$QWIJVFGCN 0QXGODGT











1XGTCNNQVOGPV 0QXGODGT



6QVCN

)TQUU2TQEGGFU 6TCPUCEVKQP%QUVU

















&KUVTKDWVKQP4GKPXGUVOGPV2NCP &4+2
-KNNCO U&4+2CNNQYUWPKVJQNFGTUVQCESWKTGCFFKVKQPCNWPKVUQHVJG6TWUVVJTQWIJVJGTGKPXGUVOGPVQHFKUVTKDWVKQPUQPVJGKTWPKVU
7PKVJQNFGTUYJQRCTVKEKRCVGKPVJG&4+2TGEGKXGCFFKVKQPCNWPKVUGSWCNVQQHVJGWPKVUTGKPXGUVGF7PKVUKUUWGFYKVJVJG&4+2CTG
KUUWGFFKTGEVN[HTQOVJG6TWUVCVCRTKEGDCUGFQPVJGFC[XQNWOGYGKIJVGFCXGTCIGENQUKPIRTKEGQHVJG65:RTGEGFKPIVJG
TGNGXCPVFKUVTKDWVKQPFCVGYJKEJV[RKECNN[KUQPQTCDQWVVJGVJFC[QHVJGOQPVJHQNNQYKPIVJGFKUVTKDWVKQPFGENCTCVKQP

&KUVTKDWVKQPU
-KNNCORCKFFKUVTKDWVKQPUVQKVUWPKVJQNFGTUFWTKPIKPCEEQTFCPEGYKVJKVU&16&KUVTKDWVKQPUFGENCTGFD[VJG$QCTFQH
6TWUVGGUYGTGRCKFOQPVJN[QPQTCDQWVVJGVJFC[QHGCEJOQPVJ
(QTVJG[GCTGPFGF&GEGODGTVJGFKUVTKDWVKQPUFGENCTGFTGNCVGFVQVJGVTWUVWPKVUYGTGOKNNKQP [GCTGPFGF
&GEGODGTOKNNKQP TGURGEVKXGN[(QTVJG[GCTGPFGF&GEGODGTFKUVTKDWVKQPUFGENCTGFTGNCVGFVQVJG
GZEJCPIGCDNGWPKVUYGTGOKNNKQP &GEGODGTOKNNKQP 6JGFKUVTKDWVKQPUQPVJGGZEJCPIGCDNGWPKVUCTG
TGEQTFGFKPHKPCPEKPIEQUVU

&GHGTTGF7PKVDCUGF%QORGPUCVKQP
4GUVTKEVGF6TWUV7PKVU 467U CTGCYCTFGFVQOGODGTUQHVJGUGPKQTGZGEWVKXGVGCOCPFFKTGEVQTNGXGNGORNQ[GGUCUC
RGTEGPVCIGQHVJGKTEQORGPUCVKQP6JG6TWUVCNUQITCPVU467UUWDLGEVVQRGTHQTOCPEGEQPFKVKQPUWPFGTVJG4672NCPHQTEGTVCKP
UGPKQTGZGEWVKXGU0QPGZGEWVKXGOGODGTUQHVJG$QCTFQH6TWUVGGUJCXGVJGTKIJVVQTGEGKXGCRGTEGPVCIGQHVJGKTCPPWCN
TGVCKPGTKPVJGHQTOQH467U
6JGPWODGTQH467UCYCTFGFCTGDCUGFQPVJGXQNWOGYGKIJVGFCXGTCIGRTKEGQHCNNVTWUVWPKVUVTCFGFQPVJG65:HQTVJGHKXG
VTCFKPIFC[UKOOGFKCVGN[RTGEGFKPIVJGFCVGQPYJKEJVJGEQORGPUCVKQPKUCYCTFGF6JG467UGCTPFKUVTKDWVKQPUDCUGFQPVJG
UCOGFKUVTKDWVKQPURCKFQPVJGVTWUVWPKVUCPFUWEJFKUVTKDWVKQPUVTCPUNCVGKPVQCFFKVKQPCN467U6JGKPKVKCN467UCPF467U
CESWKTGFVJTQWIJFKUVTKDWVKQPTGKPXGUVOGPVCTGETGFKVGFVQGCEJRGTUQP UCEEQWPVCPFCTGPQVKUUWGFVQVJGGORNQ[GGQT$QCTF
OGODGTWPVKNVJG[TGFGGOUWEJ467U(QTGORNQ[GGUVJG467UYKNNDGTGFGGOGFCPFRCKFQWVKPVTWUVWPKVUD[&GEGODGTQH
VJG[GCTKPYJKEJVJG467UJCXGXGUVGF'HHGEVKXG3467UKUUWGFVQ6TWUVGGUYKNNDGTGFGGOGFCPFRCKFKPVJGKUUWCPEGQH
VTWUVWPKVUWRQPTGVKTGOGPVHTQOVJG$QCTF
6JG467UUWDLGEVVQRGTHQTOCPEGEQPFKVKQPUYKNNDGUWDLGEVVQDQVJKPVGTPCNCPFGZVGTPCNOGCUWTGUEQPUKUVKPIQHDQVJCDUQNWVG
CPFTGNCVKXGRGTHQTOCPEGQXGTCVJTGG[GCTRGTKQF-KNNCOCEEQWPVUHQTVJG467UUWDLGEVVQRGTHQTOCPEGEQPFKVKQPUWPFGTVJG
HCKTXCNWGOGVJQFQHCEEQWPVKPICPFWUGUVJG/QPVG%CTNQUKOWNCVKQPRTKEKPIOQFGNVQFGVGTOKPGVJGHCKTXCNWGYJKEJCNNQYUHQT
VJGKPEQTRQTCVKQPQHVJGOCTMGVDCUGFRGTHQTOCPEGJWTFNGUVJCVOWUVDGOGVDGHQTGVJG467UUWDLGEVVQRGTHQTOCPEG
EQPFKVKQPUXGUV2WTUWCPVVQ+(45EQORGPUCVKQPEQUVUTGNCVGFVQCYCTFUYKVJCOCTMGVDCUGFEQPFKVKQPCTGTGEQIPK\GFTGICTFNGUU
QHYJGVJGTVJGOCTMGVEQPFKVKQPKUUCVKUHKGFRTQXKFGFVJCVVJGTGSWKUKVGUGTXKEGJCUDGGPRTQXKFGFCPFCNNRGTHQTOCPEG
EQPFKVKQPUJCXGDGGPUCVKUHKGF
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0QVGUVQVJG%QPUQNKFCVGF(KPCPEKCN5VCVGOGPVU
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&QNNCTCOQWPVUKPVJQWUCPFUQH%CPCFKCPFQNNCTU
Dollar amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except unit/share amounts, or as noted)

&GHGTTGF7PKVDCUGF%QORGPUCVKQP EQPVKPWGF
6JG467UCTGEQPUKFGTGFCHKPCPEKCNNKCDKNKV[DGECWUGVJGTGKUCEQPVTCEVWCNQDNKICVKQPHQTVJG6TWUVVQFGNKXGTVTWUVWPKVU YJKEJCTG
CEEQWPVGFHQTCUNKCDKNKVKGUDWVRTGUGPVGFCUGSWKV[KPUVTWOGPVUWPFGT+#5 WRQPEQPXGTUKQPQHVJG467U6JG467UCTG
OGCUWTGFCVHCKTXCNWGYKVJEJCPIGUHNQYKPIVJTQWIJVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVUQHKPEQOGCPFEQORTGJGPUKXGKPEQOG6JGHCKT
XCNWGQHVJGXGUVGF467UHQTVJG[GCTGPFGF&GEGODGTKUOKNNKQPYJKEJKPENWFGUOKNNKQPTGNCVGFVQ467U
UWDLGEVVQRGTHQTOCPEGEQPFKVKQPU &GEGODGTOKNNKQP (QTVJG[GCTGPFGF&GEGODGTEQORGPUCVKQP
GZRGPUGQHOKNNKQP &GEGODGTOKNNKQP JCUDGGPTGEQIPK\GFKPTGURGEVQHVJG467U
6JGFGVCKNUQHVJG467UKUUWGFCTGUJQYPDGNQY
(QTVJG[GCTGPFGF&GEGODGT





1WVUVCPFKPIDGIKPPKPIQH[GCT



9GKIJVGF
#XGTCIG+UUWG
2TKEG




9GKIJVGF
#XGTCIG+UUWG
2TKEG


)TCPVGF

















a

a





0WODGTQH
467U

4GFGGOGF
(QTHGKVGF
#FFKVKQPCNTGUVTKEVGFVTWUVWPKVFKUVTKDWVKQPU
1WVUVCPFKPIGPFQH[GCT

0WODGTQH
467U

















(KPCPEKPI%QUVU
/QTVICIGNQCPCPFEQPUVTWEVKQPNQCPKPVGTGUV
+PVGTGUVQPGZEJCPIGCDNGWPKVU
#OQTVK\CVKQPQHHCKTXCNWGCFLWUVOGPVUQPCUUWOGFFGDV
#OQTVK\CVKQPQHNQUUQPKPVGTGUVTCVGJGFIG





















7PTGCNK\GFICKPQPFGTKXCVKXGNKCDKNKV[





%QPXGTVKDNGFGDGPVWTGKPVGTGUV





%CRKVCNK\GFKPVGTGUV
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0QVGUVQVJG%QPUQNKFCVGF(KPCPEKCN5VCVGOGPVU
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&QNNCTCOQWPVUKPVJQWUCPFUQH%CPCFKCPFQNNCTU
Dollar amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except unit/share amounts, or as noted)

&GHGTTGF+PEQOG6CZ
6TWUVUVJCVUCVKUH[VJG4'+6'ZGORVKQPCTGGZENWFGFHTQOVJGURGEKHKGFKPXGUVOGPVHNQYVJTQWIJ 5+(6 FGHKPKVKQPCPFVJGTGHQTGYKNN
PQVDGUWDLGEVVQVCZCVKQPWPFGTVJG5+(64WNGU'HHGEVKXG&GEGODGT-KNNCOSWCNKHKGFHQTVJG4'+6'ZGORVKQPCPFEQPVKPWGU
VQOGGVVJG4'+6'ZGORVKQPCUCV&GEGODGTCPFKUVJGTGHQTGPQVUWDLGEVVQVCZCVKQPVQVJGGZVGPVVJCVKPEQOGKU
FKUVTKDWVGFVQWPKVJQNFGTU*QYGXGTVJKUGZGORVKQPFQGUPQVGZVGPFVQVJGEQTRQTCVGUWDUKFKCTKGUQH-KNNCOVJCVCTGVCZCDNGNGICN
GPVKVKGU(QTVJG[GCTGPFGF&GEGODGTVJGFGHGTTGFVCZGZRGPUGTGNCVGUVQVJGEQTRQTCVGUWDUKFKCT[GPVKV[QHVJG4'+6
6JGUQWTEGQHFGHGTTGFVCZDCNCPEGUCPFOQXGOGPVUYGTGCUHQNNQYU



4GEQIPK\GFKP
UVCVGOGPVQH
KPEQOGCPF
EQORTGJGPUKXG
KPEQOG









#UCV&GEGODGT
&GHGTTGFVCZNKCDKNKVKGU CUUGVU TGNCVGFVQ
4GCNGUVCVGRTQRGTVKGU
.QUUECTT[HQTYCTFU







7PTGCNK\GFECRKVCNICKPU







1VJGT













0GVFGHGTTGFVCZNKCDKNKVKGU



4GEQIPK\GFQP
4'+6
EQPXGTUKQP
,CPWCT[












.QUUECTT[HQTYCTFU











%QPXGTVKDNGFGDGPVWTGU





c

c

c

7PTGCNK\GFECRKVCNICKPU

c

c

c

























#UCV&GEGODGT

4GEQIPK\GFKP
UVCVGOGPVQH
4GXKUGF
KPEQOGCPF
QRGPKPI EQORTGJGPUKXG
DCNCPEG
KPEQOG



&GHGTTGFVCZNKCDKNKVKGU CUUGVU TGNCVGFVQ
4GCNGUVCVGRTQRGTVKGU

1VJGT
0GVFGHGTTGFVCZNKCDKNKVKGU

6JGFGHGTTGFVCZGZRGPUGHQTVJG[GCTECPDGTGEQPEKNGFVQVJGCEEQWPVKPIRTQHKVCUHQNNQYU
(QTVJG[GCTUGPFGF&GEGODGT
0GVKPEQOGDGHQTGVCZGU
5VCVWVQT[VCZTCVG








+PEQOGVCZGZRGPUGCVUVCVWVQT[TCVGU





#OQWPVUPQVUWDLGEVVQVCZ









'HHGEVQHRTQXKPEKCNVCZTCVGEJCPIGU
+PKVKCNFGTGEQIPKVKQPQHFGHGTTGFVCZNKCDKNKV[QP4'+6
EQPXGTUKQP
1VJGT
%JCPIGVQVCZDCUKUKPGZEGUUQHDQQMDCUKU
6QVCNVCZGZRGPUG TGEQXGT[
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0QVGUVQVJG%QPUQNKFCVGF(KPCPEKCN5VCVGOGPVU
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&QNNCTCOQWPVUKPVJQWUCPFUQH%CPCFKCPFQNNCTU
Dollar amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except unit/share amounts, or as noted)

5GIOGPVGF+PHQTOCVKQP
(QTKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGUFKUETGVGHKPCPEKCNKPHQTOCVKQPKURTQXKFGFQPCRTQRGTV[D[RTQRGTV[DCUKUVQOGODGTUQHGZGEWVKXG
OCPCIGOGPVYJKEJEQNNGEVKXGN[EQORTKUGVJGEJKGHQRGTCVKPIFGEKUKQPOCMGT %1&/ 6JGKPFKXKFWCNRTQRGTVKGUCTGCIITGICVGF
KPVQUGIOGPVUYKVJUKOKNCTGEQPQOKEEJCTCEVGTKUVKEUUWEJCUVJGPCVWTGQHVJGRTQRGTV[XCECPE[TCVGUNQPIVGTOITQYVJTCVGUCPF
QVJGTEJCTCEVGTKUVKEU/CPCIGOGPVEQPUKFGTUVJCVVJKUKUDGUVCEJKGXGFD[CIITGICVKPIKPVQCRCTVOGPVU/*%CPFQVJGT
UGIOGPVU%QPUGSWGPVN[-KNNCOKUEQPUKFGTGFVQJCXGVJTGGTGRQTVCDNGUGIOGPVUCUHQNNQYU
f #RCTVOGPVUGIOGPVCESWKTGUQRGTCVGUOCPCIGUCPFFGXGNQRUOWNVKHCOKN[TGUKFGPVKCNRTQRGTVKGUCETQUU%CPCFC
f /*%UGIOGPVCESWKTGUCPFQRGTCVGU/*%EQOOWPKVKGUKP1PVCTKQCPF'CUVGTP%CPCFCCPF
f 1VJGTUGIOGPVKPENWFGUHKXGEQOOGTEKCNRTQRGTVKGU
-KNNCOdUCFOKPKUVTCVKQPEQUVUQVJGTKPEQOGHKPCPEKPIEQUVUFGRTGEKCVKQPCPFCOQTVK\CVKQPHCKTXCNWGCFLWUVOGPVUNQUUQP
FKURQUKVKQPCPFFGHGTTGFVCZGZRGPUGCTGPQVTGRQTVGFVQVJG%1&/QPCUGIOGPVDCUKU
6JGCEEQWPVKPIRQNKEKGUQHVJGUGTGRQTVCDNGUGIOGPVUCTGVJGUCOGCUVJQUGFGUETKDGFKPVJGUWOOCT[QHUKIPKHKECPVCEEQWPVKPI
RQNKEKGUFGUETKDGFKPPQVGQHVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFHKPCPEKCNUVCVGOGPVUHQTVJG[GCTGPFGF&GEGODGT4GRQTVCDNGUGIOGPV
RGTHQTOCPEGKUCPCN[\GFDCUGFQP01+6JGQRGTCVKPITGUWNVUCPFCUUGVUCPFNKCDKNKVKGUQHVJGTGRQTVCDNGUGIOGPVUCTGCUHQNNQYU
(QTVJG[GCTGPFGF&GEGODGT
2TQRGTV[TGXGPWG

#RCTVOGPVU

/*%U

1VJGT

6QVCN

























#RCTVOGPVU

/*%U

1VJGT

6QVCN









2TQRGTV[QRGTCVKPIGZRGPUGU
0GVQRGTCVKPIKPEQOG
(QTVJG[GCTGPFGF&GEGODGT
2TQRGTV[TGXGPWG
2TQRGTV[QRGTCVKPIGZRGPUGU

















#RCTVOGPVU

/*%U

1VJGT

6QVCN

6QVCNCUUGVU









6QVCNNKCDKNKVKGU









#UCV&GEGODGT

#RCTVOGPVU

/*%U

1VJGT

6QVCN

6QVCNCUUGVU

















0GVQRGTCVKPIKPEQOG
#UCV&GEGODGT

6QVCNNKCDKNKVKGU

5WRRNGOGPVCN%CUJ(NQY+PHQTOCVKQP
(QTVJG[GCTUGPFGF&GEGODGT
0GVKPEQOGKVGOUTGNCVGFVQKPXGUVKPICPFHKPCPEKPICEVKXKVKGU
+PVGTGUVRCKFQPOQTVICIGURC[CDNGCPFQVJGT
+PVGTGUVRCKFQPEQPXGTVKDNGFGDGPVWTGU
0GVEJCPIGKPPQPECUJQRGTCVKPICUUGVUCPFNKCDKNKVKGU
4GPVCPFQVJGTTGEGKXCDNGU
1VJGTEWTTGPVCUUGVU
#EEQWPVURC[CDNGCPFQVJGTNKCDKNKVKGU
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0QVGUVQVJG%QPUQNKFCVGF(KPCPEKCN5VCVGOGPVU
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&QNNCTCOQWPVUKPVJQWUCPFUQH%CPCFKCPFQNNCTU
Dollar
amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except unit/share amounts, or as noted)

(KPCPEKCN+PUVTWOGPVUCPF(KPCPEKCN4KUM/CPCIGOGPV1DLGEVKXGUCPF2QNKEKGU
-KNNCOdURTKPEKRCNHKPCPEKCNNKCDKNKVKGUEQPUKUVQHOQTVICIGUETGFKVHCEKNKVKGUEQPUVTWEVKQPNQCPUCPFVTCFGRC[CDNGU6JGOCKPRWTRQUG
QHVJGUGHKPCPEKCNNKCDKNKVKGUKUVQHKPCPEGKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGUCPFQRGTCVKQPU-KNNCOJCUXCTKQWUHKPCPEKCNCUUGVUUWEJCUVTCFG
TGEGKXCDNGUCPFECUJYJKEJCTKUGFKTGEVN[HTQOKVUQRGTCVKQPU
-KNNCOOC[GPVGTKPVQFGTKXCVKXGVTCPUCEVKQPURTKOCTKN[KPVGTGUVTCVGUYCREQPVTCEVUVQOCPCIGKPVGTGUVTCVGTKUMCTKUKPIHTQO
HNWEVWCVKQPUKPDQPF[KGNFUCUYGNNCUPCVWTCNICUCPFQKNUYCREQPVTCEVUVQOCPCIGRTKEGTKUMCTKUKPIHTQOHNWEVWCVKQPUKPVJGUG
EQOOQFKVKGU+VKUCPFJCUDGGP-KNNCOdURQNKE[VJCVPQURGEWNCVKXGVTCFKPIKPFGTKXCVKXGUUJCNNDGWPFGTVCMGP6JGOCKPTKUMUCTKUKPI
HTQO-KNNCOdUHKPCPEKCNKPUVTWOGPVUCTGKPVGTGUVTCVGTKUMETGFKVTKUMCPFNKSWKFKV[TKUM6JGUGTKUMUCTGOCPCIGFCUHQNNQYU
K +PVGTGUV4CVG4KUM
-KNNCOKUGZRQUGFVQKPVGTGUVTCVGTKUMCUCTGUWNVQHKVUOQTVICIGUCPFNQCPURC[CDNGJQYGXGTVJKUTKUMKUOKVKICVGFVJTQWIJ
/CPCIGOGPV UUVTCVGI[VQUVTWEVWTGVJGOCLQTKV[QHKVUOQTVICIGUKPHKZGFVGTOCTTCPIGOGPVUCUYGNNCUCVVKOGUGPVGTKPIKPVQ
ECUJHNQYJGFIGU-KNNCOCNUQUVTWEVWTGUKVUHKPCPEKPIUUQCUVQUVCIIGTVJGOCVWTKVKGUQHKVUFGDVOKPKOK\KPIVJGGZRQUWTGVQKPVGTGUV
TCVGXQNCVKNKV[KPCP[QPG[GCT
#UCV&GEGODGTOKNNKQPQH-KNNCO UFGDVJCFXCTKCDNGKPVGTGUVTCVGUKPENWFKPIVYQEQPUVTWEVKQPNQCPUHQT
OKNNKQPCPFUKZFGOCPFNQCPUVQVCNKPIOKNNKQP6JGUGNQCPUCPFHCEKNKVKGUJCXGKPVGTGUVTCVGUQHRTKOGRNWU
&GEGODGTRTKOGRNWU CPFEQPUGSWGPVN[-KNNCOKUGZRQUGFVQUJQTVVGTOKPVGTGUVTCVGTKUMQPVJGUGNQCPU
-KNNCOdUHKZGFOQTVICIGCPFXGPFQTFGDVYJKEJOCVWTGUKPVJGPGZVOQPVJUVQVCNUOKNNKQP#UUWOKPIVJGUGOQTVICIGUCTG
TGHKPCPEGFCVUKOKNCTVGTOUGZEGRVCVCDRUKPETGCUGKPKPVGTGUVTCVGUHKPCPEKPIEQUVUYQWNFKPETGCUGD[OKNNKQPRGT[GCT
K %TGFKV4KUM
%TGFKVTKUMCTKUGUHTQOVJGRQUUKDKNKV[VJCVVGPCPVUOC[GZRGTKGPEGHKPCPEKCNFKHHKEWNV[CPFDGWPCDNGVQHWNHKNNVJGKTNGCUGVGTO
EQOOKVOGPVU-KNNCOOKVKICVGUVJGTKUMQHETGFKVNQUUVJTQWIJVJGFKXGTUKHKECVKQPQHKVUGZKUVKPIRQTVHQNKQCPFNKOKVKPIKVUGZRQUWTGVQ
CP[QPGVGPCPV
%TGFKVCUUGUUOGPVUCTGEQPFWEVGFHQTCNNRTQURGEVKXGVGPCPVUCPF-KNNCOCNUQQDVCKPUCUGEWTKV[FGRQUKVVQCUUKUVKPRQVGPVKCN
TGEQXGTKGU+PCFFKVKQPTGEGKXCDNGUDCNCPEGUCTGOQPKVQTGFQPCPQPIQKPIDCUKU-KNNCO UDCFFGDVGZRGPUGGZRGTKGPEGJCU
JKUVQTKECNN[DGGPNGUUVJCPQHTGXGPWG0QPGQH-KNNCOdUVGPCPVUCEEQWPVHQTOQTGVJCPQHVJGVGPCPVTGEGKXCDNGUCUCV
&GEGODGTQT6JGOCZKOWOGZRQUWTGVQETGFKVTKUMKUVJGECTT[KPICOQWPVQHGCEJENCUUQHHKPCPEKCNCUUGVUCU
FKUENQUGFKPVJKUPQVG
KK .KSWKFKV[4KUM
/CPCIGOGPVOCPCIGU-KNNCOdUECUJTGUQWTEGUDCUGFQPHKPCPEKCNHQTGECUVUCPFCPVKEKRCVGFECUJHNQYU-KNNCOUVTWEVWTGUKVU
HKPCPEKPIUQCUVQUVCIIGTVJGOCVWTKVKGUQHKVUFGDVVJGTGD[OKPKOK\KPI-KNNCOdUGZRQUWTGVQNKSWKFKV[TKUMKPCP[QPG[GCT+P
CFFKVKQP-KNNCO UCRCTVOGPVUSWCNKH[HQT%/*%KPUWTGFFGDVTGFWEKPIVJGTGHKPCPEKPITKUMWRQPOQTVICIGOCVWTKVKGU
-KNNCOdU/*%UFQPQVSWCNKH[HQT%/*%KPUWTGFFGDVJQYGXGT/*%UJCXGCEEGUUVQEQPXGPVKQPCNOQTVICIGFGDV/CPCIGOGPV
FQGUPQVCPVKEKRCVGNKSWKFKV[EQPEGTPUQPVJGOCVWTKV[QHKVUOQTVICIGUCUHWPFUEQPVKPWGVQDGCEEGUUKDNGKPVJGOWNVKTGUKFGPVKCN
UGEVQT
&WTKPIVJG[GCTGPFGF&GEGODGT-KNNCOTGHKPCPEGFOKNNKQPQHOCVWTKPICRCTVOGPVOQTVICIGUYKVJPGYOQTVICIGU
VQVCNKPIOKNNKQPIGPGTCVKPIPGVRTQEGGFUQHOKNNKQP#UYGNN-KNNCOTGHKPCPEGFOKNNKQPQHOCVWTKPI/*%
OQTVICIGUYKVJPGYOQTVICIGUVQVCNKPIOKNNKQPHQTPGVRTQEGGFUQHOKNNKQP6JGHQNNQYKPIVCDNGRTGUGPVUVJGRTKPEKRCN
RC[OGPVU GZENWFKPIKPVGTGUV CPFOCVWTKVKGUQH-KNNCOdUNKCDKNKVKGUHQTVJGPGZVHKXG[GCTUCPFVJGTGCHVGT
(QTVJGVYGNXGOQPVJU
GPFKPI&GEGODGT





6JGTGCHVGT
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/QTVICIGCPFNQCPU
RC[CDNG

%QPUVTWEVKQP
NQCPU

6QVCN











c
c
c
c












0QVGUVQVJG%QPUQNKFCVGF(KPCPEKCN5VCVGOGPVU
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&QNNCTCOQWPVUKPVJQWUCPFUQH%CPCFKCPFQNNCTU
Dollar
amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except unit/share amounts, or as noted)

(KPCPEKCN+PUVTWOGPVUCPF(KPCPEKCN4KUM/CPCIGOGPV1DLGEVKXGUCPF2QNKEKGU EQPVKPWGF 
%CRKVCN/CPCIGOGPV
6JGRTKOCT[QDLGEVKXGQH-KNNCOdUECRKVCNOCPCIGOGPVKUVQGPUWTGCJGCNVJ[ECRKVCNUVTWEVWTGVQUWRRQTVVJGDWUKPGUUCPFOCZKOK\G
WPKVJQNFGTXCNWG-KNNCOOCPCIGUKVUECRKVCNUVTWEVWTGCPFOCMGUCFLWUVOGPVUVQKVKPNKIJVQHEJCPIGUKPGEQPQOKEEQPFKVKQPU6Q
OCKPVCKPQTCFLWUVVJGECRKVCNUVTWEVWTG-KNNCOOC[CFLWUVVJGFKUVTKDWVKQPRC[OGPVVQWPKVJQNFGTUKUUWGCFFKVKQPCNWPKVUKUUWGFGDV
UGEWTKVKGUQTCFLWUVOQTVICIGHKPCPEKPIQPRTQRGTVKGU
-KNNCO URTKOCT[OGCUWTGQHECRKVCNOCPCIGOGPVKUVJGVQVCNFGDVVQVQVCNCUUGVUTCVKQ-KNNCOdUUVTCVGI[CUQWVNKPGFKPVJGQRGTCVKPI
RQNKEKGUQHKVU&16KUHQTKVUQXGTCNNKPFGDVGFPGUUPQVVQGZEGGFQHVQVCNCUUGVU*QYGXGT-KNNCO UNQPIVGTOVCTIGVKUVQOCPCIG
QXGTCNNKPFGDVGFPGUUVQDGDGNQY6JGECNEWNCVKQPQHVJGVQVCNFGDVVQVQVCNCUUGVUKUUWOOCTK\GFCUHQNNQYU
#UCV
/QTVICIGUNQCPURC[CDNGUETGFKVHCEKNKVKGUCPFEQPUVTWEVKQPNQCPU 
%QPXGTVKDNGFGDGPVWTGU

&GEGODGT

&GEGODGT





a



6QVCNFGDV





6QVCNCUUGVU 





6QVCNFGDVCUCRGTEGPVCIGQHCUUGVU





 6QVCNCUUGVUCFLWUVGFHQT-KNNCO UKPVGTGUVKP6JG#NGZCPFGTFGXGNQROGPVOKNNKQP &GEGODGTOKNNKQP 6QVCNOQTVICIGUNQCPURC[CDNGUCPF
EQPUVTWEVKQPNQCPUCFLWUVGFHQT-KNNCO UPQPEQPVTQNNKPIKPVGTGUVTGNCVGFVQ6JG#NGZCPFGTOKNNKQP &GEGODGTOKNNKQP 

6JGCDQXGECNEWNCVKQPKUUGPUKVKXGVQEJCPIGUKPVJGHCKTXCNWGQHKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGUKPRCTVKEWNCTECRTCVGEJCPIGU#DRU
KPETGCUGKPVJGYGKIJVGFCXGTCIGECRTCVGCUCV&GEGODGTYQWNFKPETGCUGVJGFGDVCUCRGTEGPVCIGQHCUUGVUD[DRU

(CKT8CNWGQH(KPCPEKCN+PUVTWOGPVU
(CKTXCNWGKUVJGCOQWPVVJCVYQWNFDGTGEGKXGFKPVJGUCNGQHCPCUUGVQTYQWNFDGRCKFVQVTCPUHGTCNKCDKNKV[KPCPQTFGTN[
VTCPUCEVKQPDGVYGGPOCTMGVRCTVKEKRCPVUCVVJGOGCUWTGOGPVFCVG6JGHCKTXCNWGQHKPVGTGUVDGCTKPIHKPCPEKCNCUUGVUCPF
NKCDKNKVKGUKUFGVGTOKPGFD[FKUEQWPVKPIVJGEQPVTCEVWCNRTKPEKRCNCPFKPVGTGUVRC[OGPVUCVGUVKOCVGFEWTTGPVOCTMGVKPVGTGUVTCVGU
HQTVJGKPUVTWOGPV%WTTGPVOCTMGVTCVGUCTGFGVGTOKPGFD[TGHGTGPEGVQEWTTGPVDGPEJOCTMTCVGUHQTUKOKNCTVGTOCPFEWTTGPV
ETGFKVURTGCFUHQTFGDVYKVJUKOKNCTVGTOUCPFTKUMU6JGHCKTXCNWGUQHVJG6TWUVdUHKPCPEKCNKPUVTWOGPVUYGTGFGVGTOKPGFCU
HQNNQYU
K VJGHCKTXCNWGUQHVJGNQCPUTGEGKXCDNGCTGDCUGFWRQPFKUEQWPVGFHWVWTGECUJHNQYUWUKPIFKUEQWPVTCVGUVJCVTGHNGEVEWTTGPV
OCTMGVEQPFKVKQPUHQTKPUVTWOGPVUYKVJUKOKNCTVGTOUCPFTKUMU5WEJHCKTXCNWGGUVKOCVGUCTGPQVPGEGUUCTKN[KPFKECVKXGQHVJG
COQWPVU-KNNCOOKIJVTGEGKXGQTRC[KPCEVWCNOCTMGVVTCPUCEVKQPU
KK VJGHCKTXCNWGUQHVJGOQTVICIGURC[CDNGCTGGUVKOCVGFDCUGFWRQPFKUEQWPVGFHWVWTGECUJHNQYUWUKPIFKUEQWPVTCVGUVJCV
TGHNGEVEWTTGPVOCTMGVEQPFKVKQPUHQTKPUVTWOGPVUYKVJUKOKNCTVGTOUCPFTKUMU5WEJHCKTXCNWGGUVKOCVGUCTGPQVPGEGUUCTKN[
KPFKECVKXGQHVJGCOQWPVU-KNNCOOKIJVRC[QTTGEGKXGKPCEVWCNOCTMGVVTCPUCEVKQPU
KKK VJGHCKTXCNWGQHVJGEQPXGTVKDNGFGDGPVWTGUKUDCUGFQPCSWQVGFOCTMGVRTKEGCUCVVJGTGRQTVKPIFCVG
KX VJGHCKTXCNWGQHVJGFGHGTTGFWPKVDCUGFEQORGPUCVKQPCPFVJGGZEJCPIGCDNGWPKVUKUGUVKOCVGFCVVJGTGRQTVKPIFCVGDCUGF
QPVJGENQUKPIOCTMGVRTKEGQHVJGVTWUVWPKVUNKUVGFQPVJG65:6JGRGTHQTOCPEGDCUGF467UCTGFGVGTOKPGFWUKPICRTKEKPI
OQFGN6JGUGGUVKOCVGUCTGUWDLGEVKXGKPPCVWTGCPFKPXQNXGWPEGTVCKPVKGUCPFOCVVGTUQHUKIPKHKECPVLWFIOGPVCPFVJGTGHQTG
ECPPQVDGFGVGTOKPGFYKVJRTGEKUKQP%JCPIGUKPGUVKOCVGUEQWNFUKIPKHKECPVN[CHHGEVHCKTXCNWGU
X VJGHCKTXCNWGQHVJGFGTKXCVKXGNKCDKNKV[KUECNEWNCVGFDCUGFQPCPGUVKOCVGQHVJGOKFOCTMGVCTDKVTCIGHTGGRTKEGQHVJGUYCR
6JGCTDKVTCIGHTGGRTKEGEQORTKUGUVJGRTGUGPVXCNWGQHVJGHWVWTGTKIJVUCPFQDNKICVKQPUDGVYGGPVYQRCTVKGUVQTGEGKXGQT
FGNKXGTHWVWTGECUJHNQYUQTGZEJCPIGQVJGTCUUGVUQTNKCDKNKVKGU(WVWTGQDNKICVKQPUCTGXCNWGFCUVJGUWOQHVJGRTGUGPVXCNWGUCU
QHVJGXCNWCVKQPFCVGQHEQPVTCEVWCNN[HKZGFHWVWTGCOQWPVUCPFGZRGEVGFXCTKCDNGHWVWTGCOQWPVUVJGGZRGEVGFUK\GQHYJKEJKU
ECNEWNCVGFHTQOVJGRTQLGEVGFNGXGNUQHWPFGTN[KPIXCTKCDNGU(WVWTGTKIJVUCTGXCNWGFCUVJGUWOQHVJGRTGUGPVXCNWGUQHVJG
GZRGEVGFXCNWGUQHEQPVKPIGPVHWVWTGCOQWPVUVJGGZKUVGPEGCPFUK\GQHYJKEJCTGECNEWNCVGFHTQOVJGRTQLGEVGFNGXGNUQH
WPFGTN[KPIXCTKCDNGU
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0QVGUVQVJG%QPUQNKFCVGF(KPCPEKCN5VCVGOGPVU
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&QNNCTCOQWPVUKPVJQWUCPFUQH%CPCFKCPFQNNCTU
Dollar amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except unit/share amounts, or as noted)

(KPCPEKCN+PUVTWOGPVUCPF(KPCPEKCN4KUM/CPCIGOGPV1DLGEVKXGUCPF2QNKEKGU EQPVKPWGF 
6JGUKIPKHKECPVHKPCPEKCNKPUVTWOGPVUCPFVJGKTECTT[KPIXCNWGUCUCV&GEGODGTCPF&GEGODGTCTGCUHQNNQYU
#UCV

&GEGODGT
%CTT[KPI
8CNWG

(CKT8CNWG

%CTT[KPI
8CNWG

(CKT8CNWG

a

a














a


a


c


c


a



a










%NCUUKHKECVKQP
(KPCPEKCNCUUGVUECTTKGFCVCOQTVK\GFEQUV
.QCPU 
(KPCPEKCNCUUGVUECTTKGFCV(862.
&GTKXCVKXGCUUGV 
(KPCPEKCNNKCDKNKVKGUECTTKGFCVCOQTVK\GFEQUV
/QTVICIGURC[CDNG
%TGFKVHCEKNKVKGU
(KPCPEKCNNKCDKNKVKGUECTTKGFCV(862.
'ZEJCPIGCDNGWPKVU
%QPXGTVKDNGFGDGPVWTGU
&GHGTTGFWPKVDCUGFEQORGPUCVKQP

&GEGODGT

 6JGOKNNKQPNQCPTGEGKXCDNGKUKPENWFGFKPVJGQVJGTPQPEWTTGPVCUUGVUYKVJKPVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFHKPCPEKCNUVCVGOGPVQH
HKPCPEKCNRQUKVKQPCUCV&GEGODGT
 6JGOKNNKQPFGTKXCVKXGCUUGVKUKPENWFGFKPQVJGTPQPEWTTGPVCUUGVUYKVJKPVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVUQHHKPCPEKCNRQUKVKQP

6JGKPVGTGUVTCVGUWUGFVQFKUEQWPVVJGGUVKOCVGFECUJHNQYUYJGPCRRNKECDNGCTGDCUGFQPVJGHKXG[GCTIQXGTPOGPV[KGNFEWTXG
CVVJGTGRQTVKPIFCVGRNWUCPCFGSWCVGETGFKVURTGCFCPFYGTGCUHQNNQYU

#UCV

&GEGODGT

&GEGODGT

/QTVICIGU#RCTVOGPVU





/QTVICIGU/*%U





#UUGVUCPF.KCDKNKVKGU/GCUWTGFCV(CKT8CNWG
(CKTXCNWGOGCUWTGOGPVUTGEQIPK\GFKPVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVUQHHKPCPEKCNRQUKVKQPCTGECVGIQTK\GFWUKPICHCKTXCNWGJKGTCTEJ[
VJCVTGHNGEVUVJGUKIPKHKECPEGQHKPRWVUWUGFKPFGVGTOKPKPIVJGHCKTXCNWGU
.GXGN3WQVGFRTKEGUKPCEVKXGOCTMGVUHQTKFGPVKECNCUUGVUQTNKCDKNKVKGU
.GXGN3WQVGFRTKEGUKPCEVKXGOCTMGVUHQTUKOKNCTCUUGVUQTNKCDKNKVKGUQTXCNWCVKQPVGEJPKSWGUYJGTGUKIPKHKECPVKPRWVUCTG
DCUGFQPQDUGTXCDNGOCTMGVFCVC
.GXGN8CNWCVKQPVGEJPKSWGUHQTYJKEJCP[UKIPKHKECPVKPRWVKUPQVDCUGFQPQDUGTXCDNGOCTMGVFCVC
6JGHCKTXCNWGJKGTCTEJ[QHCUUGVUCPFNKCDKNKVKGUOGCUWTGFCVHCKTXCNWGQPCTGEWTTKPIDCUKUKPVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVUQH
HKPCPEKCNRQUKVKQPKUCUHQNNQYU
#UCV

&GEGODGT
.GXGN

.GXGN

&GEGODGT
.GXGN

.GXGN

.GXGN

.GXGN

#UUGVU
+PXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGU

a

a



c

c

&GTKXCVKXGCUUGV

a



a

c



'ZEJCPIGCDNGWPKVU

a



a

c

%QPXGTVKDNGFGDGPVWTGU

a

a

&GHGTTGFWPKVDCUGFEQORGPUCVKQP

a




c

.KCDKNKVKGU
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c
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0QVGUVQVJG%QPUQNKFCVGF(KPCPEKCN5VCVGOGPVU
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&QNNCTCOQWPVUKPVJQWUCPFUQH%CPCFKCPFQNNCTU
Dollar amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except unit/share amounts, or as noted)

(KPCPEKCN+PUVTWOGPVUCPF(KPCPEKCN4KUM/CPCIGOGPV1DLGEVKXGUCPF2QNKEKGU EQPVKPWGF 
6TCPUHGTUDGVYGGPNGXGNUKPVJGHCKTXCNWGJKGTCTEJ[CTGTGEQIPK\GFQPVJGFCVGQHVJGGXGPVQTEJCPIGKPEKTEWOUVCPEGUVJCVECWUGF
VJGVTCPUHGT6JGTGYGTGPQVTCPUHGTUQHCUUGVUQTNKCDKNKVKGUDGVYGGP.GXGN.GXGNCPF.GXGNFWTKPIVJG[GCTGPFGF&GEGODGT


%QOOKVOGPVUCPF%QPVKPIGPEKGU
-KNNCOJCUGPVGTGFKPVQEQOOKVOGPVUHQTFGXGNQROGPVEQUVUQHOKNNKQPCUCV&GEGODGT &GEGODGT
OKNNKQP 
-KNNCOKUUWDLGEVVQXCTKQWUNGICNRTQEGGFKPIUCPFENCKOUVJCVCTKUGKPVJGQTFKPCT[EQWTUGQHDWUKPGUU6JGUGOCVVGTUCTGIGPGTCNN[
EQXGTGFD[KPUWTCPEG/CPCIGOGPVDGNKGXGUVJCVVJGHKPCNQWVEQOGQHUWEJOCVVGTUYKNNPQVJCXGCOCVGTKCNCFXGTUGGHHGEVQPVJG
HKPCPEKCNRQUKVKQPTGUWNVUQHQRGTCVKQPUQTNKSWKFKV[QH-KNNCO*QYGXGTCEVWCNQWVEQOGUOC[FKHHGTHTQO/CPCIGOGPV U
GZRGEVCVKQPU
-KNNCOCPFKVURCTVPGTDGICPEQPUVTWEVKQPKPFQYPVQYP*CNKHCZQPCWPKVDWKNFKPI6JG#NGZCPFGTKPNCVG6JKU
RTQLGEVKUUEJGFWNGFVQDGEQORNGVGFKPOKF6JGEQUVVQFGXGNQRKUCRRTQZKOCVGN[OKNNKQP#VVJGEQORNGVKQPQH
EQPUVTWEVKQPCPFHQNNQYKPIVJGCEJKGXGOGPVQHEGTVCKPNGCUKPIEQPFKVKQPU-KNNCOJCUCEQOOKVOGPVKPRNCEGVQRWTEJCUGVJGQVJGT
KPVGTGUVKPVJKUFGXGNQROGPV
-KNNCOGPVGTGFKPVQCRJ[UKECNUWRRN[EQPVTCEVHQTPCVWTCNICUVQJGFIGKVUQYPWUCIGYJKEJKUUWOOCTK\GFDGNQY
#TGC

7UCIG%QXGTCIG

6GTO

%QUV

1PVCTKQ



0QXGODGT1EVQDGT

O

1PVCTKQ



&GEGODGT0QXGODGT

O

1PVCTKQ



&GEGODGT0QXGODGT

O

(KPCPEKCN)WCTCPVGGU
-KNNCOKUVJGIWCTCPVQTQPCLQKPVCPFUGXGTCNDCUKUHQTOQTVICIGFGDVJGNFVJTQWIJKVULQKPVQRGTCVKQPU#UCV&GEGODGT
VJGOCZKOWORQVGPVKCNQDNKICVKQPTGUWNVKPIHTQOVJGUGIWCTCPVGGUKUOKNNKQPTGNCVGFVQNQPIVGTOOQTVICIGHKPCPEKPI
&GEGODGTOKNNKQP 6JGUGNQCPUCTGUGEWTGFD[CHKTUVTCPMKPIOQTVICIGQXGTVJGCUUQEKCVGFKPXGUVOGPVRTQRGTVKGU
*CNHQHVJGVQVCNOQTVICIGUHQTVJGUGRTQRGTVKGUCTGTGEQTFGFCUCOQTVICIGNKCDKNKV[QPVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFHKPCPEKCNUVCVGOGPVUQH
HKPCPEKCNRQUKVKQP-KNNCOKUCNUQVJGIWCTCPVQTQPCLQKPVCPFUGXGTCNDCUKUHQTVJGEQPUVTWEVKQPNQCPTGNCVGFVQ6JG#NGZCPFGT
FGXGNQROGPVRTQLGEV#UCV&GEGODGTVJGOCZKOWORQVGPVKCNQDNKICVKQPTGUWNVKPIHTQOVJKUIWCTCPVGGKUOKNNKQP
&GEGODGTOKNNKQP 
/CPCIGOGPVJCUTGXKGYGFVJGEQPVKPIGPVNKCDKNKV[CUUQEKCVGFYKVJKVUHKPCPEKCNIWCTCPVGGEQPVTCEVUCPFCUCV&GEGODGT
FGVGTOKPGFVJCVCRTQXKUKQPKUPQVTGSWKTGFVQDGTGEQIPK\GFKPVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVUQHHKPCPEKCNRQUKVKQP &GEGODGT
PKN 

%QORCTCVKXG(KIWTGU
%GTVCKPEQORCTCVKXGHKIWTGUJCXGDGGPTGENCUUKHKGFVQEQPHQTOYKVJVJGHKPCPEKCNUVCVGOGPVRTGUGPVCVKQPCFQRVGFHQTVJGEWTTGPV
[GCT-KNNCOTGENCUUKHKGFQPVJGEQPUQNKFCVGFUVCVGOGPVQHHKPCPEKCNRQUKVKQPCFGTKXCVKXGCUUGVHTQOQVJGTNKCDKNKVKGUVQQVJGTPQP
EWTTGPVCUUGVUCUVJKUFGTKXCVKXGKUKPCPCUUGVRQUKVKQPCUCV&GEGODGTCPF-KNNCOTGENCUUKHKGFQPVJGEQPUQNKFCVGF
UVCVGOGPVUQHECUJHNQYUCRQTVKQPQHECUJTGNCVGFVQKPVGTGUVGZRGPUGQPGZEJCPIGCDNGWPKVUHTQOPGVEJCPIGKPPQPECUJ
QRGTCVKPICEVKXKVKGUVQKPVGTGUVGZRGPUGQPGZEJCPIGCDNGWPKVUCUVJKUKPVGTGUVKUPQVTGNCVGFVQPGVYQTMKPIECRKVCN
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0QVGUVQVJG%QPUQNKFCVGF(KPCPEKCN5VCVGOGPVU
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&QNNCTCOQWPVUKPVJQWUCPFUQH%CPCFKCPFQNNCTU
Dollar amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars (except unit/share amounts, or as noted)

4GNCVGF2CTV[6TCPUCEVKQPU
(QTVJG[GCTGPFGF&GEGODGT-KNNCORCKFVJQWUCPFKPEQOOGTEKCNNGCUKPIHGGUVQCRTQRGTV[OCPCIGOGPVEQORCP[
EQPVTQNNGFD[CPGZGEWVKXGCPF6TWUVGGQH-KNNCO &GEGODGTPKN 
&WTKPIVJG[GCTGPFGF&GEGODGT-KNNCORCKFCUCNGUEQOOKUUKQPVQVCNKPIOKNNKQPVQCRTQRGTV[OCPCIGOGPV
EQORCP[VJCVKUQYPGFD[CPGZGEWVKXGCPF6TWUVGGQH-KNNCO &GEGODGTPKN 
*CNMKTM2TQRGTVKGU.KOKVGF *CNMKTM KUCEQORCP[VJCVKURCTVKCNN[QYPGFD[C6TWUVGGQH-KNNCO&WTKPICPF-KNNCOCPF
*CNMKTMJCXGDGGPFGXGNQRKPICWPKVDWKNFKPICFLCEGPVVQVJG$TGYGT[/CTMGVKP*CNKHCZ0QXC5EQVKC%QPUVTWEVKQPQHVJG
FGXGNQROGPVKUOCPCIGFD[-KNNCOCPFVJGEQUVQHEQPUVTWEVKQPKUHWPFGFD[GCEJRCTVPGT
6JGTGOWPGTCVKQPQHFKTGEVQTUCPFQVJGTMG[OCPCIGOGPVRGTUQPPGNYJKEJKPENWFGVJG$QCTFQH6TWUVGGU2TGUKFGPV%JKGH
'ZGEWVKXG1HHKEGT'82%(1CPF8KEG2TGUKFGPVUQH-KNNCOKUCUHQNNQYU
(QTVJG[GCTUGPFGF&GEGODGT
5CNCTKGUDQCTFEQORGPUCVKQPCPFKPEGPVKXGU
&GHGTTGFWPKVDCUGFEQORGPUCVKQP
6QVCN

















5WDUGSWGPV'XGPVU
1P,CPWCT[-KNNCOCPPQWPEGFCFKUVTKDWVKQPQHRGTWPKVRC[CDNGQP(GDTWCT[VQWPKVJQNFGTUQH
TGEQTFQP,CPWCT[
1P(GDTWCT[-+NNCOCITGGFVQCESWKTGCCETGFGXGNQROGPVUKVGNQECVGFKP-KVEJGPGT1PVCTKQYJKEJKPENWFGUCUOCNN
EQOOGTEKCNDWKNFKPICPFCJGTKVCIGTGUKFGPEGHQTOKNNKQP6JKURTQRGTV[KU\QPGFHQTCWPKVFGXGNQROGPVCPFKU
UEJGFWNGFVQENQUGKPOKF/CTEJ

1P(GDTWCT[-KNNCOCITGGFVQCESWKTGCTGEGPVN[EQORNGVGFVYGNXGUVQTG[WPKVCRCTVOGPVDWKNFKPINQECVGFKP
&CTVOQWVJ0QXC5EQVKCHQTOKNNKQPYJKEJKUGZRGEVGFVQENQUGD[VJGGPFQH(GDTWCT[
1P(GDTWCT[VJG$QCTFQH6TWUVGGUCRRTQXGFCKPETGCUGVQ-KNNCO UCPPWCNFKUVTKDWVKQPVQRGTWPKVHTQO
RGTWPKV6JGOQPVJN[FKUVTKDWVKQPYKNNDGRGTWPKVWRHTQORGTWPKV6JGKPETGCUGYKNNDGEQOGGHHGEVKXG
HQTVJG/CTEJFKUVTKDWVKQPVQDGRCKFKP#RTKN
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Five Year Summary
In thousands (except per unit and share data)

Statement of Income Information

2017

2016

2015

2014

2013

$115,220

$105,424

$98,390

$84,601

$83,040

$847

$1,227

$1,495

$2,065

$2,365

Financing costs

($33,126)

($36,193)

($37,044)

($34,609)

($35,231)

Administration

($12,958)

($12,733)

($11,898)

($8,525)

($7,878)

Depreciation and amortization

($2,507)

($2,389)

($2,715)

($2,355)

($2,232)

Fair value adjustments

$56,202

($11,231)

($6,103)

$4,768

$13,070

($259)

($264)

($109)

($1,257)

($1,401)

$-

$-

$-

$1,451

($1,451)

Deferred tax recovery (expense)

($18,659)

$27,598

($6,216)

($13,472)

($9,350)

Net income

$104,760

$71,439

$35,800

$32,667

$40,932

Net income attributable to
unitholders/common shareholders

$104,732

$67,982

$34,557

$29,772

$39,779

$69,873

$58,886

$49,016

$40,162

$38,770

$0.90

$0.86

$0.79

$0.72

$0.71

Total assets

$2,311,210

$1,987,929

$1,876,826

$1,775,234

$1,532,431

Total liabilities

$1,343,488

$1,237,463

$1,190,948

$1,112,551

$928,371

$967,722

$750,466

$685,328

$662,683

$604,060

Cash provided by operating activities

$82,916

$64,011

$50,947

$51,524

$39,080

Cash provided by financing activities

$154,460

$52,356

$21,954

$142,603

$49,238

($250,028)

($106,013)

($79,378)

($202,958)

($117,366)

Weighted average number of units/shares (1)

77,575

67,912

62,097

55,394

54,143

Units/shares outstanding at December 31

84,428

71,736

62,863

60,476

54,459

$14.22

$11.94

$10.51

$10.26

$10.48

Net operating income
Other income

Loss on disposition
Current tax recovery (expense)

Funds From Operations (FFO)
FFO
FFO per unit/share (diluted)
Statement of Financial Position Information

Total equity
Statement of Cash Flow Information

Cash used in investing activities
Unit/Share Information

Unit/share price at December 31

(1)

(1) Units outstanding include Trust Units and Exchangeable Units.
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Philip Fraser
President & Chief Executive Officer

Robert Richardson, FCPA, FCA
Executive Vice President

Dale Noseworthy, CPA, CA, CFA
Chief Financial Officer

Ruth Buckle
Vice President, Property Management

Erin Cleveland, CPA, CA
Vice President, Finance

Pamela Crowell
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Jeremy Jackson
Vice President, Marketing

Colleen McCarville
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Michael McLean
Vice President, Development

Board of Trustees
Timothy Banks(3)
President & CEO,
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President & CEO,
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Robert Kay(1)
Chairman of the Board,
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Aldéa Landry(2)
President, Landel Inc.
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General Manager, Scotia Fuels Ltd.
Halifax, Nova Scotia
Arthur Lloyd(2)
Chief Development Officer,
Office, North America,
and Vice Chairman
Ivanhoé Cambridge
Calgary, Alberta
Karine MacIndoe (1)(3)
Trustee,
Toronto, Ontario

Robert Richardson, FCPA, FCA
Executive Vice President,
Killam Apartment REIT
Halifax, Nova Scotia
Manfred Walt, CPA, CA(2)
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Walt & Co. Inc.
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Wayne Watson, CPA, CA(1)(3)
Trustee,
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Trust Information
Auditors
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Stewart McKelvey
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Head Office
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Suite 100
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Annual Meeting
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